Seminar Schedule and Abstracts Book 9 Beminar on Reliablity Theory and its applications



Isfahan University of Technology May 24-25 2023

Reliab9@iut.ac.ir wodrdce.um.ac.ir In the Name of Allah





Abstracts of

The 9th Seminar on

Reliability Theory and its Applications

Department of Mathematical Sciences, Isfahan University of Technologgy, Isfahan, Iran

and

Ordered Data, Reliability and Dependency Center of Excellence Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

May 24-25, 2023

Disclaimer

This book contains the abstracts booklet of the 9th Seminar on "Reliability Theory and its Applications". Authors are responsible for the contents and accuracy. Opinions expressed may not necessarily reflect the position of the scientific and organizing committees.

Preface

Continuing the series of workshops on "Reliability Theory" in the Ferdowsi University of Mashhad and Eight Seminars at the University of Isfahan (2015), University of Tehran (2016), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad (2017), Shiraz University (2018), Yazd University (2019), University of Mazandaran (2020), University of Birjand (2021), and Ferdowsi University of Mashhad (2022) we are pleased to organize virtually (online) the 9th Seminar on Reliability Theory and its Applications" during 24-25 May 2023 at the Department of Mathematical Sciences, Isfahan University of Technology. On behalf of the organizing and scientific committees, we would like to extend a very warm welcome to all participants in this event. We hope that this seminar provides an environment of useful discussions and will also exchange scientific ideas through opinions. We wish to express our gratitude to the numerous individuals and organizations that have contributed to the success of this seminar, in which around 100 colleagues, researchers, and postgraduate students have participated. Finally, we would like to extend our sincere gratitude to the administration of the Isfahan University of Technology, the Department of Mathematical Sciences, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, the "Ordered Data, Reliability, and Dependency" Center of Excellence, the Iranian Statistical Society, the Mathematic House, Islamic World Science Citation Database (ISC), Snowa Tech Company, the Scientific Committee, the Executive Committee, and the students of the Department of Statistics at the Isfahan University of Technology, for their kind cooperation.

The Organizing Committee May, 2023

Topics

The aim of the seminar is to provide a forum for presentation and discussion of scientific works covering theories and methods in the field of reliability theory and its applications in a wide range of areas:

- Lifetime distributions theory
- Accelerated life testing
- Maintenance modeling and analysis
- Reliability of systems
- Stochastic orderings in reliability
- Networks reliability
- Survival analysis
- Bayesian methods in reliability
- Case studies in reliability analysis
- Stress-strength modeling
- Shock models in reliability

- Optimization methods in reliability
- Lifetime data analysis
- Stochastic processes in reliability
- Data mining in reliability
- Computational algorithms in reliability
- Stochastic dependency in reliability
- Safety and risk assessment
- Degradation models
- Software reliability
- Stochastic aging
- Warranty models

Scientific Committee

- 1. Amini Seresht, E., Bu Ali Sina University
- 2. Asgharzadeh, A., Mazandarn University
- 3. Ashrafi, S., University of Isfahan
- 4. Chahkandi, M., University of Birjand
- 5. Doostparast, M., Ferdowsi University of Mashhad
- 6. Goli, S., Isfahan University of Technology
- 7. Haghighi, F., University of Tehran
- 8. Kelkinnama, M., Isfahan University of Technology
- 9. Lorvand, H., Isfahan University of Technology
- 10. Mahmoudi, E., Yazd University
- 11. Mahmoudi, S., Isfahan University of Technology
- 12. Parvardeh, A., University of Isfahan
- 13. Razmkhah, M., Ferdowsi University of Mashhad
- 14. Rikhtegaran, R., Isfahan University of Technology
- 15. Saberi, Z., Isfahan University of Technology
- 16. Salehi, E., Birjand University of Technology
- 17. Sharafi, M., Razi University
- 18. Tavangar, M., University of Isfahan
- 19. Zarezadeh, S., Shiraz University

Honorary Scientific Advisory Committee

- 1. Ahmadi, J., Ferdowsi University of Mashhad
- 2. Asadi, M., University of Isfahan
- 3. Farsi, M.A., Aerospace Research Institute
- 4. Khaledi, B., Razi University
- 5. Khanjari Sadegh, M., University of birjand
- 6. Khodadadi, A., Shahid Beheshti University
- 7. Khoram, E., Amirkabir University of Technology
- 8. Mohtashami Borzadaran, G. R., Ferdowsi University of Mashhad
- 9. Rejali, A., Isfahan University of Technology
- 10. Rezaei Roknabadi, A. H. Ferdowsi University of Mashhad
- 11. Tata, M., Shahid Bahonar University of Kerman
- 12. Zeinal Hamadani, A., Isfahan University of Technology

Organizing Committee

- 1. Ahmadi, J., Ferdowsi University of Mashhad
- 2. Asadi, M., University of Isfahan
- 3. Goli, S., Isfahan University of Technology
- 4. Jabbari Noghabi H., Ferdowsi University of Mashhad
- 5. Kelkinnama, M., Isfahan University of Technology
- 6. Lorvand, H., Isfahan University of Technology
- 7. Mahmoudi, S., Isfahan University of Technology
- 8. Rejali, A., Isfahan University of Technology
- 9. Rikhtegaran, R., Isfahan University of Technology
- 10. Saberi, Z., Isfahan University of Technology

Contents

Estimation of parameters of Kumaraswamy distribution from progressively Type-I interval censored data using EM algorithm	
Ahmadi, M. V	10
Testing stochastically increasing by non-parametric kernel method Amini-Seresht, E	19
Machine learning methods to predict the deaths of people experiencing shocks Arabbeik, A., Haghighi, F., Safari, A.	25
Factors affecting the growth disorder of children under two years of age using multilevel models Azarbar, A.	34
Maintenance planning for a continuous monitoring system using deep re- inforcement learning Azizi, F., Rasay, H., Safari, A.	44
Confidence regions for the parameters of an inverted exponentiated Pareto distribution based on progressively Type-II censored samples Bagheri, S.F., Asgharzadeh, A.	51
On the reliability of phased mission systems with non-identical components subject to external shocks Bidarmaghz, H.R., Zarezadeh, S.	60
A new discrete-time mixed δ -shock model Entezari, M., Roozegar, R	67
System survival probability based on mission abort policy Karimi, A., Tavangar, M.	72

Emprical estimators for multi-component conditional stress-strength pa- rameter
Khorshidian, K., Taheri Saif Abad, M
Survival analysis in the presence of competing risks: a Lunn–McNeil ap- proach
Norouzi, S., Hajizadeh, E., Asghari-Jafarabadi, M., Farzipoor, F
A brief study on series systems consisting of used components based on copulas
Salem, E
The optimal age replacement strategy under epistemic uncertainty Shahraki Dehsoukhteh, S., Razmkhah, M.
Usual stochastic order of α -mixtures with proportional odds model as a baseline
Shojaee, O
An upper bound for the reliability of engineering systems
100maj, n
Quantile based dynamic cumulative extropy Yousefzadeh, F., Pakgohar, A
An optimal selection problem in a k -out-of- n system with dependent components
Zare, Z., Zarezadeh, S., Kharati-Kopaei, M.



Estimation of parameters of Kumaraswamy distribution from progressively Type-I interval censored data using EM algorithm

Ahmadi, M. V.¹

¹ Department of Statistics, University of Bojnord, Bojnord, Iran

Abstract

EM algorithm is used to derive the maximum likelihood estimates of unknown parameters when the gathered data are progressively Type-I interval censored. It is assumed that the lifetimes follow a Kumaraswamy distribution. Finally, a simulated data set is analyzed for demonstrative purposes.

Keywords: EM algorithm, Kumaraswamy distribution, Maximum likelihood estimate, Progressive Type-I interval censoring scheme.

1 Introduction

In reliability and life testing experiments, the failure times of all of units on the test due to the time limitation or other restrictions may not be observed exactly. Also, in industrial life testing and medical survival analysis, it is very often that the object is lost or withdrawn before failure. Hence, the problem of occuring censored observations is quite commonly when observing lifetime data. There are various types of censoring schemes. Among them, Type-I and Type-II censoring schemes are the most common for considerations; see, for example, David and Nagaraja [1]. Uner Type-I censoring, the test ceases at a pre-fixed time and under

¹mv.ahmadi@ub.ac.ir

Type-II censoring, the test terminates a pre-fixed number of failures. But, these two censoring schemes do not allow for units to be removed from the test at points other than the final termination point. When such an allowance is desirable, progressive censoring is suggested. For a comprehensive review of progressive censoring, we refer the readers to Balakrishnan and Aggarwala [2].

In practice, it is often impossible to inspect the lifetime testing process continuously, even with censoring. But, the periodic inspection of the units on the test is feasible. That is, the experimenter can only count the number of failures in a time interval instead of measuring failure times exactly. Such a life test is called interval censoring. Combining progressive censoring and interval censoring, a new censoring introduced by Aggarwala [3] and called progressive Type-I interval censoring is obtained which is described briefly as follows. Suppose that n units are placed on a test at time zero. Let $t_1 < \cdots < t_m$ be the pre-scheduled inspection times, where t_m is the termination time for the test. At the *i*-th inspection time t_i , the number X_i of units failed in the interval $(t_{i-1}, t_i]$ is recorded and then R_i of surviving units are randomly removed from the remaining units $n - \sum_{j=1}^{i} X_j - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} R_j$ for i = 1, ..., m. Since the number of surviving units at inspection time t_i , say Y_i , is a random variable and the number of units removed from the test should not be greater than Y_i , R_i can be a pre-determined percentage, say p_i , of the remaining surviving units at time t_i . For example, under the pre-determined percentage values p_1, \ldots, p_k $(p_k = 1)$, the number of units removed at time t_i can be considered as $R_i = \lfloor p_i Y_i \rfloor$, where $\lfloor w \rfloor$ is the largest integer which is smaller than or equal to w. Alternatively, assuming R_1, \ldots, R_m to be pre-determined non-negative integers, the number of surviving units removed from the test can be considered as $R_i^* = \min(R_i, \text{number of remaining units at time } t_i)$ for $i = 1, \ldots, m-1$ and R_m^* = number of surviving units at time t_m . When $R_1 = \cdots = R_{m-1} = 0$ and so $R_m = n - \sum_{i=1}^m X_i$, this censoring scheme is called the Type-I interval censoring.

The progressively Type-I interval censored data have been considered by many authors for the parametric inferences on different distributions. For example, Ashour and Afify [4], Arabi Belaghi et al. [5], Lin et al. [6], Chen et al. [7], Ng and Wang [8], Teimouri and Gupta [9], Singh and Tripathi [11], Du et al. [11] and Teimouri [12] compared different estimation methods when the available data are progressively Type-II censored data coming from the distributions such as exponentiated Weibull, Burr XII, log-normal, generalized exponential, Weibull, Gompertz-Makeham, inverse Weibull, log-logistic and Chen, respectively.

Although progressive Type-I interval censored sampling is very applicable in lifetime experiments, not much attention has been paid to due to the complicated calculations of the corresponding likelihood function. The expectation-maximization (EM) algorithm is one of the standard methods to obtain a stationary point of the likelihood function. This algorithm is a very powerful tool in determining the maximum likelihood (ML) estimates of the unknown parameters on the basis of the incomplete data such as progressively Type-I interval censored data. Unlike the more traditional methods of computing the ML estimates such as the Newton-Raphson method which are very sensitive to their initial parameter estimation values, the EM algorithm is relatively robust against these values. Also, with the EM algorithm, it is not required to calculate the first and second derivatives of the log-likelihood function. Usually the calculations of the derivatives on the basis of the progressively censored data are complicated. For more details on the EM algorithm, the readers may refer to Dempster et al. [13] and McLachlan and Krishnan [14].

In this paper, we assume that the lifetimes follow the Kumaraswamy distribution proposed

by Kumaraswamy [15]. This distribution is suitable for many natural phenomena whose outcomes has lower and upper bound, for example, the heights and weights of individuals, scores obtained on a test, atmospheric temperatures. The probability density function (PDF) and cumulative distribution function (CDF) of the Kumaraswamy distribution with the first and second shape parameters α and λ , respectively, are as follows

$$f(x) = \alpha \lambda x^{\lambda - 1} \left(1 - x^{\lambda} \right)^{\alpha - 1}, \quad 0 < x < 1, \ \alpha, \lambda > 0, \tag{1}$$

$$\begin{aligned} f(x) &= \alpha \lambda x^{\alpha - 1} (1 - x^{\alpha}) , & 0 < x < 1, \ \alpha, \lambda > 0, \\ F(x) &= 1 - (1 - x^{\lambda})^{\alpha}, & 0 < x < 1, \ \alpha, \lambda > 0, \end{aligned} \tag{1}$$

respectively. It can be shown that the failure rate function of the Kumaraswamy distribution is an increasing function. Also, the Kumaraswamy distribution as a lambda-type distribution is supported on the interval (0, 1). Jones [16] discussed the similarities and differences between the lambda and Kumaraswamy distributions. Some of the advantages of the Kumaraswamy distribution are that the CDF of this distribution has a closed form, quantiles of this distribution are easily attainable and one can easily generate random variables from this distribution. The Kumaraswamy distribution attracted much attention in recent years. Seifi et al. [17] proposed a method for maximizing the manufacturing yield, when the component values follow a Kumaraswamy distribution. Reyad and Ahmed [18] obtained Bayes estimates for the shape parameter α with known λ under the symmetric and asymmetric loss functions. Sindhu et al. [19] investigated the Bayesian and non-Bayesian statistical inferences on the basis of the Type-II censored samples from Kumaraswamy distribution. Moreover, the Bayesian and non-Bayesian statistical inferences based on record values from the Kumaraswamy distribution has been studied by Nadar et al. [20]. Recently, Kohansal and Nadarajah [21] derived the Bayesian and non-Bayesian estimates of the stress-strength parameter under the Type-II hybrid progressive censored samples coming from Kumaraswamy distributions. Also, see Mitnik [22], Wang [23] and Kohansal [24].

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, the ML estimates for the parameters α and β , based on progressively Type-I interval censored data are derived. Section 3 explains how the EM algorithm is used to obtain the ML estimates for the parameters. Ultimately, a simulated censored data set is discussed for illustrative aims in Section 4.

$\mathbf{2}$ Maximum likelihood estimates

Suppose that the progressively Type-I interval censored sample X_1, \ldots, X_m comes from a distribution with CDF F. Then, the likelihood function based on the observed sample is

$$L_p(\boldsymbol{\theta}) \propto \prod_{i=1}^{m} \left[F(t_i) - F(t_{i-1}) \right]^{X_i} \left[1 - F(t_i) \right]^{R_i}.$$
 (3)

Under the Kumaraswamy distribution with CDF(2), the likelihood function (3) is reduced to

$$L_p(\boldsymbol{\theta}) \propto \prod_{i=1}^m \left[\left(1 - t_{i-1}^{\lambda} \right)^{\alpha} - \left(1 - t_i^{\lambda} \right)^{\alpha} \right]^{X_i} \left[\left(1 - t_i^{\lambda} \right)^{\alpha} \right]^{R_i}$$

where $\boldsymbol{\theta} = (\alpha, \lambda)$. The corresponding log-likelihood function is

$$\ln L_p(\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \text{constant} + \sum_{i=1}^m X_i \ln \left[\left(1 - t_{i-1}^{\lambda} \right)^{\alpha} - \left(1 - t_i^{\lambda} \right)^{\alpha} \right] + \alpha \sum_{i=1}^m R_i \ln \left(1 - t_i^{\lambda} \right).$$

Taking derivative with respect to parameters α and λ and equating to zero, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha} \ln L_p(\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \sum_{i=1}^m X_i \frac{\left(1 - t_{i-1}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha} \ln \left(1 - t_{i-1}^{\lambda}\right) - \left(1 - t_i^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha} \ln \left(1 - t_i^{\lambda}\right)}{\left(1 - t_{i-1}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha} - \left(1 - t_i^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha}} + \sum_{i=1}^m R_i \ln \left(1 - t_i^{\lambda}\right) = 0,$$
(4)

and

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda}\ln L_p(\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \alpha \sum_{i=1}^m X_i \frac{t_i^{\lambda} \left(1 - t_i^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha - 1} \ln t_i - t_{i-1}^{\lambda} \left(1 - t_{i-1}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha - 1} \ln t_{i-1}}{\left(1 - t_{i-1}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha} - \left(1 - t_i^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha}} - \alpha \sum_{i=1}^m R_i \frac{t_i^{\lambda} \ln t_i}{\left(1 - t_{i-1}^{\lambda}\right)} = 0.$$
(5)

The ML estimates of α and λ are derived by solving (4) and (5) numerically. In next section, we compute the ML estimates of these parameters using the EM algorithm.

3 EM algorithm

Let τ_{ij} with $j = 1, ..., X_i$ be the lifetimes of the units failed in the interval $(t_{i-1}, t_i]$ and $\eta_{ij'}$ with $j' = 1, ..., R_i$ be the lifetimes of the units censored at the time t_i for i = 1, ..., m. Then, the likelihood function for the complete sample under the Kumaraswamy distribution with PDF (1) is given by

$$L_{c}(\theta) \propto \prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{X_{i}} f(\tau_{ij}) \prod_{j'=1}^{R_{i}} f(\eta_{ij'}) \right) = (\alpha \lambda)^{n} \prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{X_{i}} \tau_{ij} \prod_{j'=1}^{R_{i}} \eta_{ij'} \right)^{\lambda-1}$$
$$\times \prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{X_{i}} \left(1 - \tau_{ij}^{\lambda}\right) \prod_{j'=1}^{R_{i}} \left(1 - \eta_{ij'}^{\lambda}\right) \right)^{\alpha-1}.$$

Then, the associated log-likelihood function is obtained as

$$\ln L_{c}(\theta) = \text{constant} + n \ln \alpha + n \ln \lambda + (\lambda - 1) \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{X_{i}} \ln \tau_{ij} + \sum_{j'=1}^{R_{i}} \ln \eta_{ij'} \right] + (\alpha - 1) \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{X_{i}} \ln \left(1 - \tau_{ij}^{\lambda}\right) + \sum_{j'=1}^{R_{i}} \ln \left(1 - \eta_{ij'}^{\lambda}\right) \right].$$
(6)

On the basis of the complete sample, the ML estimates of α and λ are obtained by deriving the log-likelihood function in (6) with respect to α and λ and equating to zero. Then, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha} \ln L_c(\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \frac{n}{\alpha} + \sum_{i=1}^m \sum_{j=1}^{X_i} \ln\left(1 - \tau_{ij}^\lambda\right) + \sum_{i=1}^m \sum_{j'=1}^{R_i} \ln\left(1 - \eta_{ij'}^\lambda\right) = 0,\tag{7}$$

and

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda} \ln L_c(\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \frac{n}{\lambda} + \sum_{i=1}^m \sum_{j=1}^{X_i} \ln \tau_{ij} - (\alpha - 1) \sum_{i=1}^m \sum_{j=1}^{X_i} \left[\frac{\tau_{ij}^{\lambda} \ln \tau_{ij}}{1 - \tau_{ij}^{\lambda}} \right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^m \sum_{j'=1}^{R_i} \ln \eta_{ij'} - (\alpha - 1) \sum_{i=1}^m \sum_{j'=1}^{R_i} \left[\frac{\eta_{ij'}^{\lambda} \ln \eta_{ij'}}{1 - \eta_{ij'}^{\lambda}} \right] = 0.$$
(8)

For computing the ML estimates of parameters α and λ using the EM algorithm, one requires to perform two steps: expectation step (E-step) and maximization step (M-step). In order to perform E-step, it is required to compute the conditional expectations which are

$$A_{i}(\alpha,\lambda) = E\left[\ln\left(1-\tau_{ij}^{\lambda}\right)\left|t_{i-1}<\tau_{ij}\leq t_{i}\right] = \frac{1}{F\left(t_{i}\right)-F\left(t_{i-1}\right)}\int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}}\ln\left(1-x^{\lambda}\right)f(x)\,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \frac{\alpha}{\left(1-t_{i-1}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha}-\left(1-t_{i}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha}}\int_{1-t_{i}^{\lambda}}^{1-t_{i-1}^{\lambda}}u^{\alpha-1}\ln u\,\mathrm{d}u,$$
(9)

$$B_{i}(\alpha,\lambda) = E\left[\ln\tau_{ij} \left| t_{i-1} < \tau_{ij} \le t_{i} \right] = \frac{1}{F(t_{i}) - F(t_{i-1})} \int_{t_{i-1}}^{t_{i}} \ln x f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \frac{\alpha\lambda^{-1}}{\left(1 - t_{i-1}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha} - \left(1 - t_{i}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha}} \int_{1 - t_{i}^{\lambda}}^{1 - t_{i-1}^{\lambda}} u^{\alpha - 1} \ln(1 - u) \, \mathrm{d}u, \tag{10}$$
$$C_{i}(\alpha,\lambda) = E\left[\frac{\tau_{ij}^{\lambda} \ln\tau_{ij}}{1 - t_{i}^{\lambda}} \left| t_{i-1} < \tau_{ij} \le t_{i} \right] = \frac{1}{\Gamma(t_{i-1})} \int_{0}^{t_{i}} \frac{x^{\lambda} \ln x}{1 - t_{i}^{\lambda}} f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$F_{i}(\alpha,\lambda) = E\left[\frac{\tau_{ij} \, \mathrm{II} \, \tau_{ij}}{1 - \tau_{ij}^{\lambda}} \left| t_{i-1} < \tau_{ij} \le t_{i} \right] = \frac{1}{F(t_{i}) - F(t_{i-1})} \int_{t_{i-1}}^{1 - t_{i}^{\lambda}} \frac{x \, \mathrm{II} \, x}{1 - x^{\lambda}} f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \frac{\alpha \lambda^{-1}}{\left(1 - t_{i-1}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha} - \left(1 - t_{i}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha}} \int_{1 - t_{i}^{\lambda}}^{1 - t_{i-1}^{\lambda}} u^{\alpha - 2} (1 - u) \ln(1 - u) \, \mathrm{d}u, \tag{11}$$

$$A_{i}^{*}(\alpha,\lambda) = E\left[\ln\left(1-\eta_{ij'}^{\lambda}\right)\left|\eta_{ij'} \ge t_{i}\right] = \frac{1}{1-F\left(t_{i}\right)}\int_{t_{i}}^{1}\ln\left(1-x^{\lambda}\right)f(x)\,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \frac{\alpha}{\left(1-t_{i}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha}}\int_{0}^{1-t_{i}^{\lambda}}u^{\alpha-1}\ln u\,\,\mathrm{d}u,$$
(12)

$$B_{i}^{*}(\alpha,\lambda) = E\left[\ln\eta_{ij'} \middle| \eta_{ij'} \ge t_{i}\right] = \frac{1}{1 - F(t_{i})} \int_{t_{i}}^{1} \ln x f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \frac{\alpha\lambda^{-1}}{\left(1 - t_{i}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha}} \int_{0}^{1 - t_{i}^{\lambda}} u^{\alpha - 1} \ln(1 - u) \, \mathrm{d}u,$$
(13)

and

$$C_{i}^{*}(\alpha,\lambda) = E\left[\frac{\eta_{ij'}^{\lambda}\ln\eta_{ij'}}{1-\eta_{ij'}^{\lambda}}\Big|\eta_{ij'} \ge t_{i}\right] = \frac{1}{1-F(t_{i})}\int_{t_{i}}^{1}\frac{x^{\lambda}\ln x}{1-x^{\lambda}}f(x)\,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \frac{\alpha\lambda^{-1}}{\left(1-t_{i}^{\lambda}\right)^{\alpha}}\int_{0}^{1-t_{i}^{\lambda}}u^{\alpha-2}(1-u)\ln(1-u)\,\mathrm{d}u.$$
(14)

Using (1) to (14) and taking expectations of both sides of (7) and (8), we have

$$\frac{n}{\alpha} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[X_i A_i(\alpha, \lambda) + R_i A_i^*(\alpha, \lambda) \right] = 0,$$
(15)

and

$$\frac{n}{\lambda} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[X_i B_i(\alpha, \lambda) + R_i B_i^*(\alpha, \lambda) \right] - (\alpha - 1) \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[X_i C_i(\alpha, \lambda) + R_i C_i^*(\alpha, \lambda) \right] = 0.$$
(16)

The M-step deals with maximizing (15) and (16) with respect to the parameters α and λ . Hence, if the estimates of α and λ at the k-th stage of the iteration are $\hat{\alpha}_{(k)}$ and $\hat{\lambda}_{(k)}$, the updated estimates of α and λ at the (k + 1)-th stage are computed by the formulas

$$\hat{\alpha}_{(k+1)} = -n\left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[X_i A_i(\hat{\alpha}_{(k)}, \hat{\lambda}_{(k)}) + R_i A_i^*(\hat{\alpha}_{(k)}, \hat{\lambda}_{(k)})\right]\right)^{-1}$$

and

$$\hat{\lambda}_{(k+1)} = n \left(\left(\hat{\alpha}_{(k+1)} - 1 \right) \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[X_i C_i \left(\hat{\alpha}_{(k+1)}, \hat{\lambda}_{(k)} \right) + R_i C_i^* \left(\hat{\alpha}_{(k+1)}, \hat{\lambda}_{(k)} \right) \right] - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[X_i B_i \left(\hat{\alpha}_{(k+1)}, \hat{\lambda}_{(k)} \right) + R_i B_i^* \left(\hat{\alpha}_{(k+1)}, \hat{\lambda}_{(k)} \right) \right] \right)^{-1}.$$

The EM algorithm is repeated until the desired convergence is satisfied. The desired convergence is difined as $|\hat{\alpha}_{(k+1)} - \hat{\alpha}_{(k)}| + |\hat{\lambda}_{(k+1)} - \hat{\lambda}_{(k)}| < \epsilon$ for a small value of $\epsilon > 0$. It is guaranteed that the EM algorithm will always converge to a local maximum of the likelihood function. For more details, see, for example, Rud [25], Jordan [26] and Wu [27]. The reasonable initial values for $\hat{\alpha}_{(0)}$ and $\hat{\lambda}_{(0)}$ are the ML estimates of these parameters based on the pseudo-complet sample by replacing the observations τ_{ij} $(j = 1, \ldots, X_i)$ and $\eta_{ij'}$ $(j' = 1, \ldots, R_i)$ by t_i for $i = 1, \ldots, m$.

4 Illustrative example

The objective of this section is to analyse a simulated data set. We use the following algorithm to simulate the numbers of failures observed X_i in intervals $(t_{i-1}, t_i]$ for $i = 1, \ldots, m$, from an initial sample of size n placed on a life test at time $t_0 = 0$.

Assuming $X_0 = 0$ and $R_0 = 0$, we have

$$X_i | (X_{i-1}, R_{i-1}, \dots, X_i, R_i) \sim \text{Binomial} \left(n - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} (X_j + R_j), q_i \right),$$

for $i = 1, \ldots, m$, where

$$q_i = \frac{F(t_i) - F(t_{i-1})}{1 - F(t_{i-1})}.$$

Then, a progressively Type-I interval censored sample is generated using the following algorithm:

- Let Let N = 0 and R = 0.
- For i from 1 to m do
 - 1. generate X_i from the binomial distribution with parameters n N R and q_i ,
 - 2. compute $R_i^* = \lfloor p_i (n N R X_i) \rfloor$ or $R_i^* = \min(R_i, n N R X_i),$
 - 3. let $N = N + X_i$ an $R = R + R_i^*$,
 - 4. if i < m and $n N R \neq 0$, go to Step (1); otherwise, stop.

For simulating a progressively Type-I interval cencored sample, we considered n = 30 and m = 5 with inspection times $t_1 = 0.1$, $t_2 = 0.2$, $t_3 = 0.4$, $t_4 = 0.6$ and $t_5 = 0.8$, and censoring scheme $(p_1, \ldots, p_m) = (0.25, 0.25, 0.5, 0.5, 1)$. Also, we supposed $\alpha = 3$ and $\lambda = 2$. Then, the simulated values are $(X_1, \ldots, X_m) = (2, 2, 4, 5, 0)$ and $(R_1^*, \ldots, R_m^*) = (7, 4, 5, 0, 1)$. Using this censored sample and letting $\epsilon = 0.001$, the ML estimates for α and λ via the EM algorithm need 42 iterations to converge to 2.1814 and 1.5755, respectively.

References

- [1] David, H. A. and Nagaraja, H. N. (2003), Order statistics, John Wiley, New York.
- [2] Balakrishnan, N. and Aggarwala, R. (2000), *Progressive Censoring: Theory, Methods and Applications*, Birkhäuser, Boston.
- [3] Aggarwala, R. (2001), Progressive interval censoring: some mathematical results with applications to inference. *Communications in Statistics-Theory and Methods*, **30**, 1921-1935.
- [4] Ashour, S. and Afify, W. (2007), Statistical analysis of exponentiated Weibull family under Type I progressive interval censoring with random removals. *Journal of Applied Sciences Research*, 3, 1851-1863.
- [5] Arabi Belaghi, R., Noori Asl, M. and Singh, S. (2017), On estimating the parameters of the Burr XII model under progressive Type-I interval censoring. *Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation*, 87, 3132-3151.

- [6] Lin, C. T., Wu, S. J. and Balakrishnan, N. (2009), Planning life tests with progressively Type-I interval censored data from the lognormal distribution. *Journal of Statistical Plan*ning and Inference, **139**, 54-61.
- [7] Chen, D. G., Lio, Y. and Jiang, N. (2013), Lower confidence limits on the generalized exponential distribution percentiles under progressive Type-I interval censoring. *Communi*cations in Statistics-Simulation and Computation, 42, 2106-2117.
- [8] Ng, H. K. T. and Wang, Z. (2009), Statistical estimation for the parameters of Weibull distribution based on progressively Type-I interval censored sample. *Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation*, 79, 145-159.
- [9] Teimouri, M. and Gupta, A. K. (2012), Estimation methods for the Gompertz-Makeham distribution under progressively Type-I interval censoring scheme. *National Academy Sci*ence Letters, 35, 227-235.
- [10] Singh, S. and Tripathi, Y. M. (2018), Estimating the parameters of an inverse Weibull distribution under progressive Type-I interval censoring. *Statistical Papers*, **59**, 21-56.
- [11] Du, Y., Guo, Y. and Gui, W. (2018), Statistical inference for the information entropy of the log-logistic distribution under progressive Type-I interval censoring schemes. *Symmetry*, 10, 445.
- [12] Teimouri, M. (2020), Bias corrected maximum likelihood estimators under progressive Type-I interval censoring scheme. *Communications in Statistics-Simulation and Computation*, **51**, 6854-6865.
- [13] Dempster, A. P., Laird, N. M. and Rubin, D. B. (1977), Maximum likelihood from incomplete data via the EM algorithm. *Royal Statistical Society, Series B*, **39**, 1-38.
- [14] McLachlan, G. J. and Krishnan, T. (1997), The EM Algorithm and Extensions, John Wiley, New York.
- [15] Kumaraswamy, P. (1980), A generalized probability density function for double-bounded random processes. Journal of Hydrology. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 46, 79-88.
- [16] Jones M. C. (2009), Kumaraswamy's distribution: a beta-type distribution with some tractability advantages. *Statistical Methodology*, 6, 70-81.
- [17] Seifi, A., Ponnambalam, K. and Vlach, J. (2000), Maximization of manufacturing yield of systems with arbitrary distributions of component values. *Annals of Operations Research*, 99, 373-383.
- [18] Reyad, H. M. and Ahmed, S. O. (2016), Bayesian and E-Bayesian estimation for the Kumaraswamy distribution based on type-II censoring. *International Journal of Advanced Mathematical Sciences*, 4, 10-17.

- [19] Sindhu, T. N., Feroze, N. and Aslam, M. (2013), Bayesian analysis of the Kumaraswamy distribution under failure censoring sampling scheme. *International Journal of Advanced Science and Technology*, **51**, 39-58.
- [20] Nadar, M., Papadopoulos, A. and Kızılaslan, F. (2013), Statistical analysis for Kumaraswamy's distribution based on record data. *Statistical Papers*, 54, 355-369.
- [21] Kohansal, A. and Nadarajah, S. (2019), Stress-strength parameter estimation based on Type-II hybrid progressive censored samples for a Kumaraswamy distribution. *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, 68, 1296-1310.
- [22] Mitnik, P. A. (2013), New properties of the Kumaraswamy distribution. Communications in Statistics-Theory and Methods, 42, 741-755.
- [23] Wang, L. (2018), Inference of progressively censored competing risks data from Kumaraswamy distributions. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 343, 719-736.
- [24] Kohansal, A. (2019), On estimation of reliability in a multicomponent stress-strength model for a Kumaraswamy distribution based on progressively censored sample. *Statistical Papers*, **60**, 2185-2224.
- [25] Rud, P. A. (1991), Extensions of estimation methods using the EM algorithm. Journal of Economics, 49, 305-341.
- [26] Jordan, M. and Xu, L. (1996), Convergence results for the EM approach to mixtures of experts architectures. *Neural Networks*, 8, 1409-1431.
- [27] Wu, C. (1983), On convergence properties of the EM algorithm. Annals of Statistics, 11, 95-103.



9th Seminar on Reliability Theory and its Applications



24-25 May 2023

Testing stochastically increasing by non-parametric kernel method

Amini-Seresht, E.¹

¹ Department of Statistics, Bu-Ali Sina University, Hamedan, Iran

Abstract

This paper, investigates the problem of testing that non-negative random variables X and Y are independent against the alternative that Y stochastically increasing (SI) in X. Two new statistical tests, based on the kernel density estimator, are proposed. Their limiting distributions are derived. The finite-sample performance of the proposed tests in comparison with various alternative tests, is studied.

Keywords: Stochastically increasing, Kernel estimation, Empirical processes, Wiener process, Brownian bridge process, Copula function.

1 Introduction

Establishing dependence relations between random variables is one of the most widely studied subjects in probability and statistics and have shown to be very useful tool in insurance, actuarial science and various aspects of reliability. Many studies in statistics are designed to explore the relationship between random variables X and Y, say, and specially to determine whether X and Y are independent or dependent. The simplest way to obtain the dependence structure between two random variables may be calculating the value of their covariance. However, the measure of covariance is usually used to obtain the linear dependency relationship between

 $^{^{1}}$ e.amini@basu.ac.ir

them. Therefore, it has been defined many notions of positive dependences. We may have seen abbreviations like these totally positive of order 2 (TP_2) , stochastically increasing (SI), right tail increasing (RTI), and so on. For discussions and applications on the various notions of dependence, we refer to Lehmann (1966), Esary and Proschan (1972), Harris (1970) and Block and Ting (1981) and for a comprehensive review of concept of dependence the reader is referred to Lai and Xie (2006).

In the reliability literature, the components of a system are assumed to be statistically independent. However, in practices, the components of a system might be dependent because of the environmental factors or the shared load, and hence the failure of one affects the performance of the other components. Therefore, an engineer may be interested in the dependence relationship between components of the system reliability and the environment factor. Therefore, the concept of stochastic dependence between two or more random variables play an important part in statistics. Various notions of dependence are motivated from application in statistical reliability (cf, Barlow and Proschan (1981)).

Let (X, Y) be an absolutely continuous bivariate random vector with marginal distribution functions F and G respectively, and joint distribution function H(x, y), $(x, y) \in \mathcal{R}^+ \times \mathcal{R}^+$, where $\mathcal{R}^+ = (0, \infty)$. The notion of SI dependence between random variables X and Y is denoted by SI(Y|X), which is introduced as follows.

Definition 1.1. Random variable Y is said to be stochastically increasing in x, x > 0 for all $y \in \mathcal{R}^+$, if, for every $y \in \mathcal{R}^+$, P(Y > y | X = x) is increasing in x.

2 The test statistics

Let H(x, y) be the joint probability distribution function of an absolutely continuous random vector (X, Y) defined on some probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{R}^2, \mathcal{P})$ where (X, Y) takes values on $\mathcal{R}^+ \times \mathcal{R}^+$, and F(x) and G(y) be corresponding marginal distribution functions. If SI(Y|X) hold then

$$\mathbb{P}(Y > y | X = s) \ge \mathbb{P}(Y > y | X = t); \text{ whenever } s \ge t > 0.$$

For any fixed y > 0, $\delta(s, t; y)$ is defined by

$$\delta(s,t;y) = \mathbb{P}(Y > y | X = s) - \mathbb{P}(Y > y | X = t); \text{ whenever } s \ge t > 0.$$
(1)

Based on it, we define the measure of deviation from H_0 (hypothesis that X and Y are independent) to H_1 (hypothesis that SI(Y|X) hold) by

$$\Delta_{(F,G)}(y) = \mathsf{E}[\delta(X_2, X_1; y) | X_2 \ge X_1].$$

We have that, for any y > 0,

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_{(F,G)}(y) &= \int \int_{s \ge t} \delta(s,t) dF(t) dF(s) \\ &= \int \int_{s \ge t} \overline{G}(y|s) dF(s) dF(t) - \int \int_{s \ge t} \overline{G}(y|t) dF(t) dF(s) \\ &= \int \overline{G}(y|s) F(s) dF(s) - \int \overline{G}(y|t) \overline{F}(t) dF(t) \\ &= \int \overline{G}(y|x) F(x) dF(x) - \int \overline{G}(y|x) \overline{F}(x) dF(x) \\ &= \int \overline{G}(y|x) (2F(x) - 1) dF(x), \end{aligned}$$
(2)

Notice that $\Delta_{(F,G)}(y) = 0$ under H_0 , and $\Delta_{(F,G)}(y) > 0$ under H_1 . Hence, we propose tests based on the following two measures

$$\Delta^*(F,G) = \sup_{y \in \mathcal{R}^+} \Delta_{(F,G)}(y).$$
(3)

and

$$\Delta^{**}(F,G) = \int \Delta_{(F,G)}(y) dG(y).$$
(4)

Now, based on a sample of independent identically distributed random vectors (X_1, Y_1) , (X_2, Y_2) , ..., (X_n, Y_n) with distribution function H(x, y), we construct the test statistics for testing H_0 against H_1 . To estimate the conditional survival distribution function, we use the Nadaraya-Watson approach proposed by Nadaraya (1964) and Watson (1964). More details about it can be found in Simonoff (1996), Li and Racine (2007), Hall et al. (1999) and Cai (2002). It is given by

$$\overline{G}_{n}(y|x) = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} k(\frac{x-X_{j}}{a_{n}})I(Y_{j} > y)}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} k(\frac{x-X_{j}}{a_{n}})},$$
(5)

where a_n is a sequence of positive real numbers, which are often referred to as bandwidth in the literature (see Silverman (1986) for more details), and k is so called kernel function. Silverman (1986) for more details). The kernel density estimator of f(x), $f_n(x) = \frac{1}{na_n} \sum_{j=1}^n k(\frac{x-X_j}{a_n})$, appeared in the denominator (5).

A natural estimator of $\Delta_{(F,G)}(y)$ is now given by

$$\Delta_{(F_n,G_n)}(y) = \int \overline{G}_n(y|x)(2F_n(x)-1)dF_n(x),$$

where $F_n(x) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n I(X_i \le x)$ is empirical distribution function. Now we have all ingredients to construct test statistics based on the measures of departure (3) and (4), We propose the supremum-type statistic

$$\Delta^*_{(F_n,G_n)} = \sup_{y \in \mathcal{R}^+} \Delta_{(F_n,G_n)}(y),$$

and the integral-type statistic

$$\Delta^{**}_{(F_n,G_n)} = \int \Delta_{(F_n,G_n)}(y) dG_n(y).$$
(6)

From (5) and (2), we have

$$\Delta_{(F_n,G_n)}(y) = \frac{1}{n^2} \sum_{i,j,l} \frac{k(\frac{X_i - X_j}{a_n})I(Y_j > y)(2I(X_i \ge X_l) - 1)}{\sum_{j=1}^n k(\frac{X_i - X_j}{a_n})}.$$
(7)

Hence, the statistic (6) can be expressed in following form, much more suitable for computation.

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{(F_n,G_n)}^{**} &= \int \frac{1}{n^2} \sum_{i,j,l} \frac{k(\frac{X_i - X_j}{a_n}) I(Y_j > y) (2I(X_i \ge X_l) - 1)}{\sum_{j=1}^n k(\frac{X_i - X_j}{a_n})} dG_n(y) \\ &= \frac{1}{n^3} \sum_{i,j,l} \frac{k(\frac{X_i - X_j}{a_n}) \sum_{k=1}^n I(Y_j > Y_k) (2I(X_i \ge X_l) - 1)}{\sum_{j=1}^n k(\frac{X_i - X_j}{a_n})} \\ &= \frac{1}{n^3} \sum_{i,j,l} \frac{k(\frac{X_i - X_j}{a_n}) [\sum_{k=1}^n I(Y_j \ge Y_k) - 1] (2I(X_i \ge X_l) - 1)}{\sum_{j=1}^n k(\frac{X_i - X_j}{a_n})} \\ &= \frac{1}{n^3} \sum_{i,j} \frac{k(\frac{X_i - X_j}{a_n}) (S_j - 1) (2R_i - n)}{\sum_{j=1}^n k(\frac{X_i - X_j}{a_n})} \end{split}$$

where $R_i = \operatorname{Rank}(X_i) = \sum_{l=1}^n I(X_i \ge X_l)$ and $S_j = \operatorname{Rank}(Y_j) = \sum_{k=1}^n I(Y_j \ge Y_k)$.

Naturally, we take large values of test statistics to we significant. As a consequence, both tests are consistent against considered class of alternatives.

3 Asymptotic distribution of the test statistics

In this section, we examine asymptotic properties of our test statistics. We use the notation " \Rightarrow " to indicate convergence in distribution. Before we state main result, we introduce some assumptions.

Assumption A:

- Let h(x, y) be the density function corresponding to H(x, y). Suppose that h(x, y) has the bounded first and the second partial derivative with respect to x, which are denoted by $h^{(1)}(x, y)$ and $h^{(2)}(x, y)$, respectively.
- Let the conditional survival function of Y given X = x be $\overline{G}(y|x)$, and g(y|x) be the corresponding conditional density function of Y given X = x.
- Let $m(x,y) = \int I(u \le y)h(x,u)du$, be uniformly bounded up until the second derivative.
- Let the marginal density functions of X and Y, denoted by f(x) and g(y), respectively are uniformly continuous and bounded up to the second derivative.

Assumption B:

Suppose, we have a symmetric and bounded kernel density function $k : \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{S} \subset \mathcal{R}$ that satisfies:

- $\int k(s)ds = 0$ and $\int k(^2s)ds < \infty;$
- sup $|k(s)| < \infty$, and $\int |k(s)| ds < \infty$, and $\int [k(s)]^{2+\delta} ds < \infty$, for some $\delta > 0$;
- $\int |k'(s)| ds < \infty.$

Assumption C:

Suppose that a_n be a sequence of positive real numbers that satisfy the following conditions:

- $a_n \to 0$, as, $n \to \infty$.
- $na_n^2 \to \infty$, as, $n \to \infty$.
- $na_n^5 \to 0$, as, $n \to \infty$.

The following theorem gives us the asymptotic behavior of the empirical process $\{\Delta_{(F_n,G_n)}(y), y > 0\}$.

Theorem 3.1. Under assumptions A, B and C, it holds that

$$\sqrt{na_n} \left(\Delta_{(F_n, G_n)}(y) - \Delta_{(F, G)}(y) \right) \Rightarrow \mathcal{Q}(y); \text{ whenever } y \in \mathcal{R}^+,$$
(8)

in $D(0,\infty)$, where, $\mathcal{Q}(y) = k_0^{\frac{1}{2}} \int [f(x)]^{-\frac{1}{2}} (2F(x) - 1)\mathcal{B}(G(y|x))dF(x)$, $k_0 = \int k^2(s)ds$ and \mathcal{B} is a standard Brownian Bridge process on the unit interval [0,1].

As a corollary, we get the asymptotic distributions of test statistics.

Theorem 3.2. Under assumptions A, B and C, it holds that

$$\sqrt{na_n}\left(\Delta^*_{(F_n,G_n)}-\Delta^*_{(F,G)}\right) \Rightarrow \sup_{y\in\mathcal{R}^+} \mathcal{Q}(y),$$

where,

$$\sup_{y \in \mathcal{R}^+} \mathcal{Q}(y) = k_0^{\frac{1}{2}} \sup_{y \in \mathcal{R}^+} \int [f(x)]^{-\frac{1}{2}} (2F(x) - 1) \mathcal{B}(G(y|x)) dF(x)$$

Notice that, under the null hypothesis i.e. X and Y are independent, $\sup_{y \in \mathcal{R}^+} \mathcal{Q}(y)$ can be rewritten as follows

$$\sup_{y \in \mathcal{R}^+} \mathcal{Q}(y) = k_0^{\frac{1}{2}} \sup_{y \in \mathcal{R}^+} \int [f(x)]^{-\frac{1}{2}} (2F(x) - 1) \mathcal{B}(G(y)) dF(x)$$
$$= k_0^{\frac{1}{2}} \sup_{y \in \mathcal{R}^+} \mathcal{B}(G(y)) \int [f(x)]^{-\frac{1}{2}} (2F(x) - 1) dF(x).$$

Next, we establish the asymptotic distribution of statistic $\Delta_{(F_n,G_n)}^{**}$ under the null hypothesis.

Theorem 3.3. Under assumptions A, B, C and the null hypothesis, it holds that

$$k_0^{-\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma^{-1} \sqrt{na_n} \left(\Delta_{(F_n, G_n)}^{**} - \Delta_{(F, G)}^{**} \right) \Rightarrow N(0, \frac{1}{12}), \quad as, \ n \to 0$$

where $\Gamma = \int [f(x)]^{-\frac{1}{2}} (2F(x) - 1) dF(x).$

Proof. From Theorem 3.1 we have

$$\sqrt{na_n} \left(\Delta_{(F_n,G_n)}^{**} - \Delta_{(F,G)}^{**} \right) \Rightarrow \int \mathcal{Q}(y) dG(y)$$
$$= k_0^{\frac{1}{2}} \int [f(x)]^{-\frac{1}{2}} (2F(x) - 1) dF(x) \int \mathcal{B}(G(y)) dG(y)$$
$$= k_0^{\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma \int_0^1 \mathcal{B}(u) du.$$

It can be easily shown that $\int_0^1 \mathcal{B}(u) du$ is centred normal random variable with variance $\frac{1}{12}$. \Box

References

- Barlow, R. E. and Proschan, F. (1981). Statistical Theory of Reliability and Life Testing. To Begin With, Silver Spring, Md.
- Block, H.W., and Ting, M.L. (1981). Some concepts of multivariate dependence. Commun. Statist. Theor. Meth. 10, 749-762.
- [3] Esary, J.D., and Proschan, F. (1972). Relationships among some notions of bivariate dependence. Annals of Mathematical Statistics 43, 651-655.
- [4] Harris, R. (1970). A multivariate definition of increasing hazard rate distribution functions. Ann Math Stat. 41, 713-717.
- [5] Lai, CD., and Xie. M. (2006). Stochastic Ageing and Dependence for Reliability. Springer, New York.
- [6] Lehmann, E.L. (1966). Some concepts of dependence. Annals of Mathematical Statistics 37, 1137-1153.





Machine learning methods to predict the deaths of people experiencing shocks

Arabbeik, A.¹ Haghighi, F.² and Safari, A.³

^{1,2,3} Department of Mathematics, Statistics and Computer Science, University of Tehran, Iran

Abstract

One of the factors that is influential in mortality rates and can change this rate, is shock which people can experience in their lives. With consideration of a stochastic process, non-homogeneous poisson process, some of these mortality rates with shocks have defined and we aim to use these processes and their information and reliability to predict the number of people who are influenced by this process with a specific rate, at a special age; So we use some of machine learning methods for our purpose and find the best one of them.

Keywords: Mortality rate, Shock, Stochastic process, Reliability, Machine learning.

1 Introduction

There are various stochastic modeling of aging of organisms in the literature. For example, in vitality models (Li and Anderson 2009), deterioration is modeled by a stochastic process (e.g., by a Wiener process with negative drift), describing the non-monotone decrease in vitality of organisms. However in another consideration, we employ a different reasoning and instead of

 $^{^{1}}$ atieh.arabbeik@ut.ac.ir,

 $^{^{2}}$ fhaghighi@ut.ac.ir

³a.safari@ut.ac.ir

dealing with direct deterioration of vital parameters, we consider mortality rate as an increasing stochastic process and describe stochastic aging of organisms. We will consider a specific mortality rate process governed by the non-homogeneous Poisson process of point events (shocks) and will show that, although the sample paths of the unconditional mortality rate process are monotonically increasing, the population mortality rate can decrease with age. There are some real examples of these decreasing mortality rates such as Carey et al. (1992) for the population of medflies and recent analysis of human populations at advanced ages exhibit deceleration and leveling off the Gompertz mortality curve at advanced ages (Kannisto et al. 1994; Missov and Finkelstein 2011). Thus this introduced model enables to analyze and interpret the shape of the resulting population mortality rate and its deceleration with age.

For the first time the idea of using shocks modeling for describing patterns of mortality rates from the famous paper by Strehler and Mildvan (1960) was introduced where the organism is exposed to the Poisson process of shocks that are interpreted as demands for energy, during illnesses or disorders, whereas death occurs when the magnitude of this demand exceeds the current vitality of an organism. So with using this model, the rate of mortality in Gompertz model that was always with this increased pattern, could be modified.

To consider heterogeneity in mortality rates rather than just increasing models for all of the organisms, some models have introduced with papers by Beard (1959) and Vaupel et al. (1979), and they used a multiplicative gamma-Gompertz model was defined as the following mortality rate process

$$\mu_t = Zae^{bt} \tag{1}$$

The random variable Z is often called frailty and it describes the fixed heterogeneity of population assigned at t = 0 and not changing in time. However for having a modified model we consider the model which will introduce in the next section that is known as a evolving heterogeneity and it is not only different for one person to another one but also various during every person life for their different experiences.

We use the information and reliability function of these models and consider some simulations for time of deaths based on these models; then based on various machine learning methods we will predict death for a new person in a specific age, while we know they have a special rate of this stochastic processes and shocks.

2 Introduction of the model

While there are multiplicative and additive types for hazard rates, with considering an additive model, a specific mortality rate is introduced as the following

$$\mu_t = \mu_0(t) + \eta N(t) \tag{2}$$

and with conditioning on survivors, another model can describe that is useful for deceleration mortality rates with age

$$\{\mu_t | T > t\} = \mu_0(t) + \eta\{N(t) | T > t\}$$
(3)

Where $\mu_0(t)$ is a background mortality rate that models the common environment for organisms. Therefore, crucial term will be stochastic $\eta N(t)$. η is a deterministic jump on each event from the point process. Thus the damage incurred by organism from a shock is translated into a jump in the corresponding mortality rate. In other words, when each shock happens, we have η unit increasing on the mortality rate.

 $\{N(t), t \ge 0\}$ is a point stochastic process. We will assume that it is the nonhomogeneous Poisson process (NHPP) with rate $\lambda(t)$. For convenience, and in line with some existing models and based on some papers (Strehler and Mildvan 1960; Finkelstein 2008; Cha and Mi 2007), we will use the term shocks for events from this process.

With expectation of the (2), we will have

$$E(\mu_t) = \mu_0(t) + \eta E(N(t))$$

and as we know, the N(t) is a non-homogeneous Poisson process so

$$E(N(t)) = \int_0^t \lambda(x) dx$$

and therefore

$$E(\mu_t) = \mu_0(t) + \eta \int_0^t \lambda(x) dx.$$
(4)

Applying the operation of mathematical expectation with respect to both sides of (2) results in the above expression for the population mortality rate.

In the next section we will use the information of this model to simulate the times and considering machine learning methods on them.

3 Simulation and using machine learning methods

To simulate the time of deaths for some people who are influenced by shocks based on the (2) model, with knowing the laws and relationships between Cumulative distribution function, Reliability function and Hazard rate, we have (u is the random sample from the Uniform distribution)

$$F(t) = 1 - R(t) = 1 - exp(-\int_0^t h(x)dx) = u$$
(5)

In this general equation h(x) is the hazard rate and in our work this rate is mortality rate and in other words, it is $E(\mu_t)$. So based on (2) and (5) we have

$$exp(-\int_{0}^{t} (\mu_{0}(t) + \eta \int_{0}^{t} \lambda(u)du)dx) = 1 - u = U$$
(6)

Now with considering different $\lambda(x)$ that is the rate of our stochastic process, we will reach the time of deaths for people based on that process. (Who are expriencing shocks based on that specific process) **Example 3.1.** With having the homogeneous Poisson process and $\lambda(x) = \lambda$, $\mu_0(t) = 0$ and $\eta = 1$, based on the (6) we have

$$exp(-\int_0^t \lambda x dx) = U \tag{7}$$

And then with $\lambda(x) = \lambda = 1$ and solving the above equation

$$exp(-\frac{t^2}{2}) = U \tag{8}$$

Now based on the above equation and solving it we have the time of death for 100 sample of individuals. At the first step we have the plot of number of these people in every age, in other words how many people have died in a special age. (For each age, 10 times repetition has done and the mean of them has calculated).



Figure 1: Frequency of people under shocks based on NHPP with $\lambda(x) = \lambda = 1$

To predict the number of deaths in a new age, we use various machine learning methods to predict it. We consider some main methods for this aim

Smoothing splines. In fitting a smooth curve to a set of data, what we really want to do is find some function, say g(x), that fits the observed data well: that is, we want $RSS = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - g(x_i))^2$ to be small. However, there is a problem with this approach. If we dont put any constraints on $g(x_i)$, then we can always make RSS zero simply by choosing g such that it interpolates all of the y_i . Such a function would woefully overfit the datait would be far too flexible. What we really want is a function g that makes RSS small, but that is also smooth.

How might we ensure that g is smooth? There are a number of ways to do this. A natural approach is to find the function g that minimizes

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - g(x_i))^2 + \lambda \int g''(t)^2 dt$$
(9)

where λ is a non-negative tuning parameter. The function g that minimizes (9) is known as a smoothing spline.

Optimal spline. In this method we use optimum smoothing splines with using N-fold cross-validation(that is a resampling method that uses different portions of the data to test and train a model on different iterations) and in another way with generalized cross-validation.

Local Regression(LOESS). This method is a different approach for fitting flexible nonlinear functions, which involves computing the fit at a target point x_0 using only the nearby training observations. There is an algorithm for this method

Algorithm. Local Regression At $X = x_0$

1. Gather the fraction s = k/n of training points whose x_i are closest to x_0 .

2. Assign a weight $K_{i0} = K(x_i, x_0)$ to each point in this neighborhood, so that the point furthest from x_0 has weight zero, and the closest has the highest weight. All but these k nearest neighbors get weight zero.

3. Fit a weighted least squares regression of the y_i on the x_i using the aforementioned weights, by finding $\hat{\beta}_0$ and $\hat{\beta}_1$ that minimize

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} K_{i0} (y_i - \beta_0 - \beta_1 x_i)^2$$
(10)

4. The fitted value at x_0 is given by $\hat{f}(x_0) = \hat{\beta}_0 + \hat{\beta}_1 x_0$.

In order to perform local regression, there are a number of choices to be made, such as how to define the weighting function K, and whether to fit a linear, constant, or quadratic regression in Step 3. While all of these choices make some difference, the most important choice is the span s, which is the proportion of points used to compute the local regression at x_0 , as defined in Step 1 above. The span plays a role like that of the tuning parameter λ in smoothing splines: it controls the flexibility of the non-linear fit.

Now we use these methods on results and plot of Example 3.1.



Figure 2: Machine learning methods when $\lambda(x) = \lambda = 1$



Figure 3: Optimal splines when $\lambda(x) = \lambda = 1$

Example 3.2. Suppose $\lambda(t) = \lambda t$ and then we have a non-homogeneous Poisson process. with $\mu_0(t) = 0, \eta = 1$ and $\lambda = 1$, so based on the (6) we have

$$exp(-\int_0^t \frac{1}{2}\lambda t^2 dx) = exp(-\frac{t^3}{6}) = U$$
(11)

And based on solving this equation and using machine learning methods we have these plots. (figure (4))



Figure 4: Comparing machine learning methods when the rate of NHPP is $\lambda(t) = \lambda t$

Example 3.3. In the paper of Cha and Finkelstein (2016) we can consider our introduced mortality rate equal to the general Gompertz model and based on this equation we will reach the suitable λ . In other words, we have

$$\mu_0(t) + \eta E[N(t)] = a \exp\{bt\} = a + a(\exp\{bt\} - 1)$$
(12)

And then the rate of our process will be

$$E(N(t)) = a \eta^{-1}(exp\{bt\} - 1) \quad \rightarrow \quad \lambda(t) = ab\eta^{-1}exp\{bt\}$$

With considering a = 0.1, b = 2 and $\eta = 1$ we must solve the following equation and then the frequency of people who are died based on this specific process is based on the figure (1) and

we can see our various machine learning methods on them.

$$exp(-0.1((exp(\frac{2t}{2})) - (\frac{1}{2}))) = U$$
(13)



Figure 5: Comparing machine learning methods with considering Gompertz model when the rate of process is $\lambda(t) = ab\eta^{-1}exp\{bt\}$

4 Main results

In this paper, we consider a model for mortality rate that solves some of problems in the classic Gompertz model; with considering shocks that people expreincing and non-homogeneous

poisson process to show these shocks we have an evolving heterogenity on the population rather than just increasing model for all of the people in the Gompertz model. The usefulness of this model is in this model every person has a mortality rate of their own and it may be completely different from others.

After introducing this additive model, based on some of equations and with simulation we simulated the time of deaths for people in three processes based on our introduced model and used different machine learning methods to predict the number of people who will die in a specific age. However, in some of these examples the optimal splines have a good results, but consideration of just Local regression method can be enough for us and even the $\lambda = 0.1$ is suitable rather than rates smaller than it and having a more flexible method. Therefore, with having this method when we want predict the number of people died in an age that we have not it, we can use this method to predict it.

References

- [1] Beard RE (1959) Note on some mathematical mortality models. In: Wolstenholme CEW, Connor MO (eds) The lifespan of animals. Little, Brown, Boston, pp 302311
- [2] Carey JR, Liedo P, Orozco D, Vaupel JW (1992) Slowing of mortality rates at older ages in large medfy cohorts. *Science*, 258:457461
- [3] Cha, J.H., Finkelstein, M. (2016) On some mortality rate processes and mortality deceleration with age. J. Math. Biol, 72, 331342.
- [4] Gareth James, Daniela Witten, Trevor Hastie, Robert Tibshirani. (2013). An introduction to statistical learning : with applications in R. New York :Springer
- [5] Kannisto V, Lauritsen J, Thatcher AR, Vaupel JW (1994) Reduction in mortality at advanced ages: several decades of evidence from 27 countries. *Popul Dev Rev*, 20:793810
- [6] Li T, Anderson JJ (2009) The vitality model: a way to understand population survival and demographic heterogeneity. *Theor Popul Biol*, 76:118131
- [7] Missov TI, Finkelstein M (2011) Admissible mixing distributions for general class of mixture survival models with known asymptotics. *Theor Popul Biol*, 80:6470
- [8] Strehler L, Mildvan AS (1960) General theory of mortality and aging. Science, 132:1421
- [9] Vaupel JW, Manton KG, Stallard E (1979) The impact of heterogeneity in individual frailty on the dynamics of mortality. *Demography*, 16:439454



Factors affecting the growth disorder of children under two years of age using multilevel models

Azarbar, A.¹

¹ Department of Mathematics, Urmia University, Urmia, Iran

Abstract

Delay or stop in children's growth is referred to as failure to thrive (abbreviated as FTT) which leads to adverse effects such as increased mortality, reduced learning, cognitive, physical, and emotional disability, and other related illnesses. To date, different studies have been carried out in this field and factors affecting growth failure have been identified. Stopping breast feeding, teething, urinary and respiratory tract infection, fever, diarrhea, and malnutrition are identified as the most important factors affecting failure to thrive. Most of these studies apply common regression models; however, multilevel regression models involve the random effects model which allows taking genetic and individual factors into account. In the present study, given that the data were longitudinal and multilevel regression models were used for data analysis, the individual characteristics of children were identified as being among the factors affecting failure to thrive. Accordingly, it can be argued that, in identical conditions, children develop different levels of growth disorder.

Keywords: Multilevel Model, Regression Model, Longitudinal Data, Growth Disorder.

¹a.azarbar@urmia.ac.ir

1 Introduction

Delay or stop in children's growth, dubbed failure to thrive (abbreviated as FTT), is sometimes observed among children under five years of age and leads to adverse effects such as increased mortality, reduced learning, cognitive, physical, and emotional disability, and other related illnesses [1]. To put it differently, FTT can be defined as slower-than-expected physical growth [2]. However, it is worth mentioning that all underweight children are not necessarily afflicted with FTT [3]. Reasons leading to the development of growth failure can be subsumed under two major categories, namely organic and nonorganic reasons. Organic reasons include factors such as suffering from acute or chronic disease (such as infection) interfering with the absorption, metabolism, nutrient intake or increasing energy requirements (such as asthma). The nonorganic reasons, on the other hand, are mostly concerned with environmental, mental, and social factors such as not receiving enough food. In 80% of cases, children are afflicted with growth failure due to nonorganic factors such as impoverishment, decreased appetite, being born in large and extended families, insufficient mother milk (due to undernourishment, psychological stress, etc.), mother's insufficient and poor knowledge regarding correct feeding techniques, and parental employment status [4,5]. Nonorganic FTT mostly occurs in infants under one year of age. In some cases, FTT is identified to be multifactorial or mixed, that is organic and nonorganic reasons occur in tandem. Most of the researches conducted in this connection reveal that factors such as not receiving sufficient nutrients, inappropriate diet, and infectious diseases, especially fever and diarrhea, which are common among children, are among the most common factors in growth failure development. As the findings of most studies indicate, diarrhea is more effective than other factors on the weight faltering of children [6-8]. Three kinds of FTT can be distinguished. In the first type, height and head diameter is normal but weight is below normal which can be due to undernutrition or an acute disorder. Weight is the most sensitive indicators in identifying FTT. If child's body does not receive enough nutrients, it uses fat or even muscle mass to provide the required nutrients. Decreased weight is often indicative of malnutrition. However, it should be noted that children lose weight within the first 10-15 days after their birth which can be attributed to losing body water; thus, it is a normal condition. In the second type of FTT, head diameter is normal but weight and height are below normal which might be due to endocrine disorders, genetically short stature or bone dystrophy. Finally, in the third type of FTT, weight, height, and head diameter are below normal. This type of FTT results from intrauterine growth retardation, nervous system defects, intrauterine infections, etc. If both parents have short stature, child is very likely to have genetically small stature and it cannot be attributed to malnutrition. However, in some studies, malnutrition is introduced as the leading cause of FTT which primarily affects children's weight and then, their head diameter [9]. Nutritionists can also be considered to be effective in that they can provide parents with constructive advice regarding children's nutrition and feeding techniques and their appropriate feeding time [10]. In the present study, in line with the bulk of research conducted in this regard, weight disorder is considered as the growth failure indicator. However, investigating other factors such as parent educational level, parental employment status, number of children, frequent attendance and care, and mother's general knowledge regarding childcare is also of paramount importance [1]. Growth failure is a global problem and, according to the World Health Organization statistics, more than 30% of children younger than two years of age are afflicted with growth failure, and, from among these children, 80% have decreased height growth and 20% are underweight [11]. According to the conducted researched in this field, FTT is more common among children in developing countries and, in most of these countries, children and infants' physical growth is below the international standards. To the researchers' best knowledge, the last piece of research carried out in this area in Iran dates back to 1998. The findings of this study revealed that 12.8% of children under five years of age are stunted for their age, 13.7% are severely or moderately underweight, and 4.8% are underweight. From birth, as age increases, the level of being underweight increases such that, at the age of two, it reaches its peak. Given the prevalence of growth failure and the adverse effect it might have on children's future, more research needs to be carried out in this connection [6]. Most of the data in the fields of economics, humanities, and biology are clustered or hierarchical. Hereditary studies, for example, deal with hierarchical data in that children are grouped into families. Children of the same family are similar to each other in terms of physical and mental characteristics, compared to members of other populations. One of the important factors in hierarchical data is the correlation between observations and, accordingly, the assumption of independence of observations is not satisfied [12-14]. Longitudinal studies which are extensively used in the field of medicine, economy, psychology, and behavioral science are developing and can be subsumed under the rubric of this type; thus, the independence of observations assumption is not satisfied for longitudinal and repeated measures data. One of the distinctive characteristics of longitudinal studies is repeated measurement of various subjects during different time points and the time effects and variations for each subject can be separated from group effects [15-18]. Given that there is a correlation between repeated measures, using common regression models whose major premise is independence of observations, leads to biased estimates with low precision. Accordingly, to analyze the data, models, taking the hierarchal structure and correlation between data into consideration, should be deployed [19-24]. Multilevel methods are generalizations of the generalized linear models in which, besides the response variable, regression coefficients are modeled. This method is an effective method in modeling nested and longitudinal data and aims at modeling the response variable as a function of independent variable in more than one level [25-29].

In the present study, the collected data were longitudinal and they were characterized by lack of independence of observations and correlation between a child's measures during different time points. This characteristics prohibits using common statistical methods such as the linear regression model. On the other hand, although factors affecting growth failure are identified, it cannot be predicted precisely in that children's resistance to disease, and genetic, family and environmental factors have proven to play a crucial role in having growth failure. With the above remarks in mind, the present study attempts at investigating growth failure in children under five years of age. Accordingly, to analyze the longitudinal data, multilevel regression model is used.

2 Data

The data of the present study were collected from children under five years of age who had referred to health centers in Isfahan. 1500 children were selected using random cluster sampling. In this connection, five centers were selected according to visit volume of each cluster of samples.
3 Multilevel regression model

In longitudinal studies, data structure is hierarchical with two levels such that different measures of participants constitute the first and second level. In this type of data, the assumption regarding independence of observations is not satisfied; accordingly, appropriate models, in which correlation between observations is taken into consideration, should be used. Multilevel regression model, which is also known as hierarchical linear model, is one of the most effective models for the analysis of longitudinal data and has recently received unprecedented attention [21-25]. In the multilevel regression model, it is assumed that participants are measured during different time points (t) for n_i times and $t = 1, \ldots, n_i$. The response variable y_{it} indicates the measured value for the ith participant at t time point. This model can be considered as the following:

$$y_{it} = (\beta_{00} + \beta_{01}x_i + \beta_{10}z_{it} + \beta_{20}t_i + \beta_{11}x_iz_{it} + \beta_{21}x_it_i) + (u_{i0} + u_{i1}z_{it} + u_{i2}t_i + \epsilon_{it})$$

where β_{00} , β_{01} , β_{10} , β_{20} , β_{11} and β_{21} are the regression coefficients and u_{i0} , u_{i1} and u_{i2} refer to the random effects model. As it can be observed, the above-mentioned mixed method involves two parts, namely the fixed effects and random effects model [24, 25]. To describe the data, the multilevel modeling was deployed. As for scrutinizing growth failure, the SAS software was used.

4 Results and Findings

In the present study, 57.6% of the population (864 participants) were female and 42.4% (636 children) were male. Mothers' mean age at birth was 26.4 ± 6.3 . In addition, 59.2% of mothers (888 mothers) were housewives and 46.8% (702 mothers) of mothers had not high school diploma. According the findings of chi square test, there is a significant relationship between mothers' education level and failure to thrive (p=0.225). Mean (\pm standard deviation) of children's birth weight was 3107.13 \pm 396.12 gram suggesting that 26.13% of them were underweight (had less than 2500 grams). The results also showed that almost 70% (1050 of them) of children had growth disorders during some time period until two years old. Growth failure condition of these children to two years of age is provided in Table 1. Frequency distribution of children for different diseases is depicted in Table 2 and Figure 1.

ore	1. Frequency distribution of the number of	growth fai	
	Number of growth failure occurrences	Number	Percent
	Infant	450	30
	One time	629	42
	Two times	317	21
	Three times	89	6
	Four times or more	15	1

Table 1. Frequency distribution of the number of growth failure occurrences.

Suffering from disease	having growth failure	not having arouth failure
Suffering from uiscuse	Number (Bensent)	Number (Democrit)
	Number (Fercent)	Number (Fercent)
with infection	11(0.7)	6(0.4)
$without \ if ection$	1489(99.3)	1494(99.6)
with diarrhea	182(12.1)	29(1.9)
without diarrhea	1318(87.9)	1471(98.1)
$suffering\ from\ other\ diseases$	93(6.2)	17(1.1)
not suffering from other diseases	1407(93.8)	1483(98.9)

Table 2. Frequency distribution of children with growth failure categorized based on suffering from



Figure 1: Frequency chart of children with growth failure categorized on suffering from fifferent diseases.

According to the multilevel regression model results, there is a significant relationship between growth failure and factors affecting growth failure such as individual differences and genetic factors (the random effects model), cold factors, nutrition, teething, infection, diarrhea, stopping breast feeding, and suffering from other related diseases (p_i0.001). However, fever does not have a significant relationship with failure to thrive. To investigate the unexamined and random effect of individual factors which are characteristics of each child and the effect of time on growth failure development, random components of model are scrutinized. Final results of multilevel regression model along with odds ratio estimates are presented in Table 3.

Table 3.	Estimates of the	parameters (of multilevel	model	considered	in investig	ating the	effect c)f
		different fact	ors on child	ren's gr	owth failur	Э.			

Variable	Estimation	Standard Deviation	Odds Ratio
diarrhea	0.801	0.110	2.21
teething	0.402	0.017	1.60
nutrition	0.509	0.016	1.75
stopping breast feeding	0.441	0.027	1.56
having cold	0.459	0.013	1.65
infection	0.352	0.042	1.46
$other \ diseases$	0.716	0.033	1.86
$time\ random\ effect$	0.011	0.004	-
$intercept \ random \ effect$	0.014	0.009	-
$model's \ error$	0.261	0.001	-

According to this table, variance components (the random effects model) of both the intercept and time are obtained to be significant. The significance of the random part of intercept indicates that the children under investigation in the present study had different primary value; hence, individual differences and genetic factors can be conceived of as effective factors in developing growth disorders. To put it differently, two child who are identical in terms of nutritional conditions and suffering from diseases, behave differently regarding being underweight. The random component of time or the slope of the model, on the other hand, suggests that the probability of developing growth disorder is different during different time points. According to odds ratio estimates, compared to other factors, diarrhea, suffering from illnesses, and the nutrition factor are more effective and have the lion's share in developing growth disorders.

5 Discussion and Conclusion

The present study made an attempt to shed some light on the relationship between effective factors leading to growth failure using multilevel regression model. The results demonstrate that stopping breast feeding, teething, and urinary and respiratory tract infection, are the most effective factors in developing growth disorders. In most of previously-conducted studies, it is argued that infectious diseases are the initiating factor in impairing children's weight gain [30-32]. In this connection, Rawland and Timothy demonstrated that diarrhea, urinary and respiratory tract infection, and fever are the most effective factors in increasing the risk of being underweight. The authors further illustrated that, from among these factors, diarrhea is the most important factor [31]. However, in the same line of research, Smith and Kolseren demonstrated that urinary and respiratory tract infection exerts a more adverse effect on being underweight and developing growth disorders [33,34]. Furthermore, Khodali et. al concluded that stopping breast feeding and diarrhea are the most crucial factors leading to growth failure. In the present study, teething is proved to be an effective factor with big odds ratio, however, in Khodali et. al's study, this factor is concluded to play a less crucial role [4]. In classifying malnutrition reasons, UNICEF identifies and reports receiving inadequate nutrition and suffering from diseases as effective factors having rapid and decisive effect on children nutrition condition. Furthermore, this finding is corroborated by UNICEF reports declaring that, according to epidemiologic evidences, children's primary response to nutritional problems and infections is losing weight [35,36]. However, quite contrary to UNICEF reports, De Villiers showed that nutritional problems and diseases do not have direct effect on weight loss or growth failure disorders [37]. The results of Ehsanipour's study, likewise, confirmed that diarrhea is one the major and principal reasons leading to weight loss. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that as mothers become more educated and their educational level increases, children's weight loss decreases [38]. In the present study, no statistical relationship was observed between mothers' level of education and being afflicted with growth disorders; however, in some other studies conducted in the same line of research, a significant relationship is identified between mothers' level of education and growth disorders; such that as mothers' level of education increases. children's weight loss decreases [39]. In this connection, Bachner et. al contend that, in developing countries, organic factors such as suffering from acute or chronic diseases play a more crucial role in having growth disorders; while, in developed countries such as the united states of America, nonorganic factors such as environmental and mental factors are more important in growth failure development [40]. As it was corroborated in the present study, after diarrhea, stopping breast feeding is the most important factor affecting growth failure. After stopping breast feeding, children should be provided with complementary foods, thus, if complementary

foods are inappropriate or are not provided at the right time, they can affect growth failure decisively. In other related studies, the significant relationship between stopping breast feeding and growth failure is confirmed and attested [22, 42-44]. In the present research, it was also revealed that urinary and respiratory tract infection have a significant effect of developing growth disorders. This finding is corroborated by the results of previously-conducted studies [20,43]. Besides the above-mentioned factors, we can take the effect of individual differences and genetic factors into account in that the multilevel regression model involves a random component. Since the results of the random effects model are significant, we can maintain that, besides all organic and nonorganic factors, individual characteristics of each child plays a determining role in developing growth failure. Accordingly, in one child, diarrhea might lead to weight loss and growth failure; while, in another child with different individual characteristics, it might not lead to losing weight. Taking this issue, which has not received the attention it deserves, into account and investigating it might have a far-reaching effect on the conclusions in this field. To put it in a nutshell, according to the findings of the present study, it can be concluded that suffering from diseases such as diarrhea, infection, and cold, along with nutritional factors such as stopping breast feeding are effective in developing growth disorders. In addition, increasing mothers' knowledge regarding childcare can be effective in reducing growth failure. Furthermore, unidentified factors and some of genetic and environmental factors are effective in developing growth disorders; accordingly, this leads to the conclusion that, in identical conditions, children develop different levels of growth disorder.

References

- Bachner, H. Children with special health need. In: Behram R, Kliegman R, Yenson H.Nelson Text Book of Pediatrics. 16thed. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders. 117-21, 2015.
- Bazmamoon, H. Weight gain in 0-24 months old children attending to Kaboodrahang health centers 1998, Scientific Journal of Hamadan University of Medical Sciences, 9(4), 61-4, 2020. (In Persian)
- [3] Becker, S. and Black, RE. and Brown, KH. Relative effects of diarrhea, fever, and dietary intake on weight gain in rural Bangladeshi children, Am J Clin Nutr, 53, 1499-503, 1991.
- [4] Berak, M. and Azari Namin, L. and Nemati, A. and Abbasgholizadeh, N. and Mirzarahimi, M. Sedigh, A. Risk factor of failure to thrive in less than 2 years old children Namin, Research Scientific Journal of Ardabil University of Medical Sciences and Health Services 3(10), 13-7, 2014. (In Persian)
- [5] Bloss, E. and Wainaina, F. and Bailey, RC. Prevalence and predictors of underweight, stunting, and wasting among children aged 5 and under in western Kenya, J Trop Pediatr, 50(5), 260-69, 2004.
- [6] Brown, KH. and Black, RE. and Becker, S. and Hoque, W. Patterns of physical growth in a longitudinal study of young children in rural Bangladesh, AM J Clin Nutr, 36, 294-302, 1982.

- [7] Burton, NW. and Haynes, M. and Wilson, LA. and et al. A longitudinal multilevel study of physical activity change in mid-aged adults, BMC Public Health, **9**, 76, 2009.
- [8] Chopra, M. Risk factors for undernutrition of young children in a rural area of South Africa, Public Health Nutr, 6(7), 645-52, 2003.
- [9] de Villiers, A. and Senskal, M. Determinants of growth failure in 12-24-month-old children in a high-density urban slum community in East London, South Africa, Eur J Clin Nutr, 56, 1232-41, 2002.
- [10] Diggle, PJ. and Liang, KY. and Zeger, SL. Analysis of Longitudinal Data, Oxford University Press, London. 2000.
- [11] Dwyer, JH. and Fienleib, M. and Lippert, P. Statistical models for longitudinal studies of health, New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 1992.
- [12] Ehsanpour, S. and Bashardoust, N. and Moshref, S. Important factor on weight gain in less than 2 years old children under median (of weight), Isfahan, Research on Medical Sciences, 2, 134-9, 1994.(In Persian)
- [13] Fitzmaurice, GM. and Laird, NM. and Ware, JH. Applied Longitudinal Analysis, John Wiley & Sons, New York. 2000.
- [14] Fitzmaurice, GM. and Davidian, M. and Erbeke, GV. and Molenberghs, G. Longitudinal Data Analysis, Chapman & Hall/CRC, London . 2009.
- [15] Gelman, A. and Hill, J. Data Analysis Using Regression and Multilevel/Hierarchical Models, Cambridge University Press, New York.2006.
- [16] Goldstein, H. Multilevel statistical models, Thousand Oaks, CA. 2003.
- [17] Health, Treatmentand and Medical Education Ministry with coordination of UNICEF in nutrition of child. ANIS. Plan in Tehran, 28-45, 1997.
- [18] Hedeker, D. and Gibbons, RD. longitudinal data analysis, New York: Wiley 2016.
- [19] Hox, JJ. Multilevel analysis: Techniques and applications, Erlbaum. Mahwah. 2002.
- [20] International classification of disease (ICD) ICD-10 Diagnosis Code R62.51: Failure to thrive (child) [online] [Accessed March 28 2016]. Available at: http://icdlist.com/icd-10/R62.51. Accessed 28 Mar 2021.
- [21] Jaeger, TF. Categorical data analysis: Away from ANOVAs (transformation or not) and towards Logit Mixed Models, Journal of Memory and Language, 59, 43446, 2018.
- [22] Kholdi, N. and Ramezankhani, A. and Zaeri, F. and Jafari, F. and Davati, A. Risk factor of underweight in less than 2 years old children in Tehran, Research Scientific Journal of Shahid Beheshti University, 75, 104-10, 2010. (In Persian)

- [23] Kirkland, RT. and Motil, KJ. and Duryea, TK. Failure to thrive (undernutrition) in children younger than two years: Etiology and evaluation [online] [Accessed March 23 2016], Available at: http://www.uptodate.com/contents/failure-to-thrive-undernutritionin-children-younger-than-two-years-etiology-and-evaluation.
- [24] Kolsteren, PW. and Kusin, JA. and Karadjati, S. Morbidity and growth performance of infants in Madura, Indonesia, Ann Trop Paediatr, 17(3), 201-8, 1997.
- [25] Levine, DA. Normal Growth. In: Marcdante KJ, Kliegman RM, editors. Nelson Essentials of Pediatrics. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; pp. 102, 2015.
- [26] Liang, KY. and Zeger, SL. Longitudinal data analysis using generalized linear models, Biometrika, 73, 13-22, 1986.
- [27] Lindsey, JK. Models for repeated measurements, 2nd edition, New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 1999.
- [28] Molenberghs, G. and Verbeke, G. Models for Discrete Longitudinal Data, 2nd edition, New York: Springer, 2005.
- [29] Ong, C. and Phuah, KY. and Salazar, E. and How, CH. Managing the picky eaterdilemma, Singapore Med J, 55, 1849, 2014.
- [30] Palta, M. and Lin, CY. Latent variables, measurement error and methods for analyzing longitudinal binary and ordinal data, 18, 385-96, Stat Med 1999.
- [31] Qu, Y. and Piedmonte, MR. and Medendorp, SV. Latent variable models for clustered ordinal data, Biometrics, 51, 268-75, 1995.
- [32] Raudenbush, SW. and Bryk, AS. *Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data anal-ysis methods*, Thousand Oaks, CA. 2002.
- [33] Rawland, MGM. and Rawland, SGJ. and Timothy, JC. Impact of infection on the growth of children from 0 to 2 years in an urban West African community, Am J Clin Nutr, 47, 134-38, 1988.
- [34] Sheikholeslam, R. and Kimiagar, M. and Siasi, F. and Abdollahi, Z. and Jazayeri, A. and Keyghobadi, K. et al. *Multidisciplinary intervention for reducing malnutrition among children in the Islamic republic of Iran*, Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal, 10(6), 844-52, 2004.
- [35] Smith, TA. and Lehmann, D. and Coakley, C. and Spooner, V. and Alpers, MP. Relationships between growth and acute lower-respiratory infections in children aged less than 5 y in a highland population of Papua New Guinea, Am J Clin Nutr, 53(4), 963-70, 1991.
- [36] Steele, F. Multilevel Models for Longitudinal Data, Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series A, 171, 5-19, 2008.
- [37] Ulijaszek, SJ. Nutrition, infection and child growth in Papua New GUINEA, Coll Anthropol, 24(2), 423-29, 2000.

- [38] UNICEF. The state of the world's children 1998 focus on nutrition, New York: Oxford University Press, 1998.
- [39] UNICEF. The state of the world's children 2019 maternal and newborn health, New York: Oxford University Press, 2020.
- [40] Vahidi, AS. and Daee Parizi, MH. and Kazemian, M. Nutritional status and associated factors in children aged 4/5-9 months in Kerman, Iran, Journal of Kerman University of Medical, 8, 164-70, 1993.(In Persian)
- [41] Verbeke, G. and Molenberghs, G. Linear Mixed Models for Longitudinal Data, Springer, 2000.
- [42] Wamani, H. and Astrom, AN. and Peterson, S. and Tumwine, JK. and Tylleskar, T. Predictors of poor anthropometric status among children under 2 years of age in rural Uganda, Public Health Nutr, 9(3), 320-26, 2006.
- [43] Wright, C. and Laughridge, J. and Moor, G. Failure to thrive in a population context: Two contrasting studies of feeding and nutritional status, 16(4), 640-62, 2000.



Maintenance planning for a continuous monitoring system using deep reinforcement learning

Azizi, F.¹ Rasay, H.² and Safari, A.³

¹ Department of Statistics, Faculty of Mathematical Sciences, Alzahra University, Tehran, Iran
² Kermanshah University of Technology, Kermanshah, Iran

³ Department of Mathematics, Statistics and Computer Sciences, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Abstract

This paper proposes a maintenance decision-making framework for multi-unit systems using Machine Learning (ML). Specifically, we propose to use Deep Reinforcement Learning (RL) for a dynamic maintenance model of a multi-unit parallel system that is subject to stochastic degradation and random failures. As each unit deteriorates independently in a three-state homogeneous Markov process, we consider each unit to be in one of three states: healthy, unhealthy, or a failed state. We model the interaction among system states based on the Birth/Birth-Death process. By combining individual component states, we define the overall system state. To minimize costs, we use the Markov Decision Process (MDP) framework to solve the optimal maintenance policy. We apply the Double Deep Q Networks (DDQN) algorithm to solve the problem, making the proposed RL solution more practical and effective in terms of time and cost savings than traditional MDP approaches. A numerical example is provided which demonstrates how the RL can be used to find the optimal maintenance policy for the system under study.

Keywords: Dynamic Maintenance, Manufacturing Systems, Deep Reinforcement Learning

¹Fa.azizi@alzahra.ac.ir,

²H.rasay@kut.ac.ir

³a.safari@ut.ac.ir

1 Introduction

The main difficulty in today's manufacturing systems, which are ever more complicated, is handling unforeseen breakdowns. The use of maintenance scheduling can increase productivity, improve product quality, and boost customer satisfaction by reducing costly repairs and replacements, minimizing downtime, and preventing unexpected breakdowns. Proper maintenance scheduling is a crucial component of modern manufacturing practices since it is a strategic method that maximizes resource use and minimizes production interruptions. There are several drawbacks to the traditional maintenance scheduling methods. Traditional maintenance planning may be performed either too regularly, which would result in excessive costs and downtime, or insufficiently frequently, which would increase the chance of unexpected breakdowns. On the other hand, modern maintenance methods such as condition-based monitoring can offer more accurate and cost-effective maintenance strategies [1].

Condition-based maintenance (CBM) is a state-of-the-art maintenance strategy that recommends maintenance action based on the information collected through condition monitoring. CBM program consists of three main steps: (i) Data acquisition, (ii) Data processing, and (iii) Decision making [6]. Two important aspects of a CBM program are diagnostics and prognostics. Intuitively speaking, there are two different maintenance methodologies for fault diagnosis and prognosis, namely (i) Process-Driven Models, and (ii) Data-Driven Models. Process-driven models rely on the statistical information which is extracted from the process. In other words, these processes can be explained by a series of mathematical (set of algebraic or differential equations) or physical equations. On the other hand, data-driven models use machine learning approaches to establish correlations between input and output data [4]. Researchers have been using statistical models for decades as a promising solution methodology for maintenance management.

Several research has investigated model-based maintenance in many sectors. Model-based maintenance has been used in the energy sector to monitor wind turbines and predict component breakdowns. It is used to forecast gearbox failures in wind turbines, which lowers maintenance costs and downtime, according to the research in [5]. There are various restrictions with model-based maintenance, one of which is that it requires accurate models of the system under observation. It may be time-consuming and costly to develop these models. Moreover, systems with unpredictable behavior or operating conditions that change quickly may not perform well with model-based maintenance. Since, statistical models may not be able to accurately predict future failures or maintenance needs, particularly in complex systems with many interacting components, the main focus of researchers is on creating cutting-edge Machine Learning (ML) and Artificial Intelligence (AI)-based solutions for maintenance management problems.

For instance, [2] studied a serial production line with intermediate buffers. If just one machine failed, the whole line will be stopped, so finding the optimal preventive maintenance policy is so crucial. A double deep Q-network algorithm is used to learn the PM policy. [8] proposed a deep RL-based CBM to overcome high-dimensional problems as well as low-dimensional ones. Both stochastic and economic dependencies are taken into consideration. They mapped the system degradation directly to the maintenance decision without the necessity of having a maintenance threshold. [3] proposed a novel RL approach that can handle various maintenance strategies without any prior knowledge while taking spare component storage costs into account. It's noteworthy that they created sufficient training data for an RL-driven

strategy by simulating various maintenance scenarios. Using a deep reinforcement learning methodology, [7] introduced a new dynamic maintenance model for a deteriorating repairable system exposed to deterioration. Instead of discretizing the state space, they take into account the precise degree of system deterioration to represent their issue.

In this paper, we propose an RL-based model for CBM for a multi-unit parallel system to find the optimal policy for maintenance actions. Unlike the previous research in this context which focus on the degradation level of the system, the number of failed and unhealthy units is taken into consideration. The remaining sections of the paper are organized as follows: In Section 2, we first describe a general view of the problem and then we go through the details during this section. In section 3 we discuss the details of the numerical experiment.

2 problem formulation

2.1 System Description

Consider a production system consisting of M identical, parallel units. Deterioration of each unit occurs independently according to a three-state homogenous Markov process such that each unit has three states: healthy, unhealthy, and failure denoted as states 0, 1, and 2, respectively. Healthy and unhealthy states are operational states and the failure state is not operational. Each unit of the system monitors continuously so that updated information about the deterioration of each unit is available. At the start of the planning horizon, all units are in a healthy state and gradually deteriorate. The system state is defined using two interacting populations: (i) The number of units in the unhealthy state, and (ii) The number of units in the failure state. More specifically, at a specific time as t, the state of the system is defined as $s_t = (i, j)$. So that i is the number of units in the failure state, and j is the number of units in the unhealthy state and $0 \le i + j \le M$, $i, j \ge 0$. It means that the number of units in the healthy state is M - i - j. Accordingly, the total number of system states is equal to (M + 2)(M + 1)/2. The Birth/Birth-Death stochastic process is employed to describe the interaction among the system states, for more details see [1].

2.2 Markov Decision Process

Generally speaking, ML models can be classified into three major categories: (i) Supervised learning, (ii) Unsupervised learning, and (iii) Reinforcement learning. In an RL model, an agent interacts with its environment to discover the best action to take in a given state from a set of possible states. After getting an action, the agent will get feedback from the environment. The feedback can be good (reward) or bad (penalty). This whole process is known as the Markov Decision Process (MDP), which includes a set of actions A, a set of states S, a transition matrix P, and a reward function, denoted by R. Agent and environment are two main components of RL. At every time step t, the agent is in state $s_t \in S$ and will take an action $a_t \in A$. Then, based on transition probabilities it will go to state $s_{t+1} \in S$ with a reward of $r_t = R(s_t, a_t)$. This process continues until the agent reaches the terminal state. Ultimate goal of an MDP is determining the optimal policy in order to maximize (minimize) the expected returns (costs) while the stages can be finite or infinite. Hence, policy is a fundamental concept in MDP and consequently in RL and DRL. Given a specific state of MDP, a policy prescribes which action should be selected among the eligible actions of that state. A policy fully describes the behavior of the agent in MDP. Given that the system is in state s, under the policy π , the probability of taking action a is $P(A_t = a | S_t = s)$. Hence, a policy is a map from the states of the system to the action set: $\pi : S \to A$.

The optimal policy denoted as π^* is the one that results in the maximum accumulation of rewards through interactions. In other words, the main goal of RL agent is reward maximization. The output of every RL problem is the optimal policy, denoted by π^* , which leads to achieving the maximum accumulated rewards during interactions, expressed as:

$$\pi^* = \arg\max_{\pi} E_{\pi} \Big\{ \sum_{t=0}^{H-1} \gamma^t r_{t+1} | s_0 = s \Big\},\$$

where $\gamma \in [0, 1]$ and H represent the discount factor and the number of finite episodes in MDP. While the low value of γ maximizes the short-term rewards, a higher one leads to increasing the long-term rewards.

2.3 Deep Reinforcement Learning

Action-value function is the expected return given that the system is in state s, action a is taken, and hereafter policy π is employed. It is denoted by $Q_{\pi}(s, a)$. In DRL, action-value function can be parametrized in order to approximate/estimate the true value of action-value function. Given the parameter θ , the action-value function under policy π is approximated as follows:

$$Q(s, a, \theta) \approx Q_{\pi}(s, a).$$

Hence, $Q(s, a, \theta)$ is approximated action-value function parametrized with trainable parameter θ . There exists different function approximators such as linear combination of features, neural networks, and decision trees. Deep Q networks (DQN) is a prevalent method to train parameter θ and consequently finds a suitable approximation for true action value function. As its name indicates, it employs deep neural networks to find optimal values for θ . It is stated by some researchers that standard DQN algorithms suffer from overestimation for action-value function. Hence, to address the problems of standard DQNs, DDQN is proposed.

Parameters of online network and target network are denoted as θ and θ' , respectively. Target network is used for policy evaluation, while online network is used for selecting actions given the current state. The parameter of online network is updated in each training step, but θ' of the target network is frozen and only after specified number of iterations, parameter of online network is copied into the target network. The goal of this point is stabilizing the learning process. It is used batch training to train the neural network. Previous transition steps are recorded in a reply memory. A minibatch of transitions from the reply memory is randomly selected to train the online network. Training of the online network means that an optimization algorithm is conducted to minimize the squared loss, i.e., $[Q_{target} - Q(s, a, \theta)]^2$, with respect to parameter θ . In each training step, according to the gradient descent method, the parameter is updated using the following equation:

$$\theta \leftarrow \theta + \alpha [Q(s, a; \theta) - Q_{target}] \nabla_{\theta} Q(s, a; \theta),$$

where α is learning rate.

2.4 Deep Reinforcement Learning for Maintenance Policy

We provide a DDQN approach for the CBM policy optimization of the system described in the previous section. Let define each component of RL in detail:

- Agent: The management system, as the intelligent component of the system, acts as the agent and interacts with the environment based on a set of maintenance decisions.
- State-space: In the proposed problem, a component could be in three different states: (i) Healthy state, (ii) Unhealthy state, and (iii) Failed state. Therefore, the state of the system is in the form of (N_2, N_1) which N_2 represents the number of failed units and N_1 represents the number of unhealthy units.
- Action-space: At each decision epoch, four actions are available. a_0 : do nothing, a_1 : conducting reactive maintenance (RM) on the failed units, a_2 : conducting preventive maintenance (PM) on the unhealthy units, and a_3 : conducting PM on the unhealthy units and RM on the failure units.
- Reward: Consider the following cost components in the model:
 - $-C_0, C_1$: Operating cost rates of each unit in states 0 and 1, respectively.
 - $-C_F$: Failure replacement cost of each unit.
 - $-C_P$: Preventive maintenance cost of each unit.
 - C_D : Cost rate of lost production for unsatisfied demands. There is lost production if the total production rate of the system $PR = N_0 \times p_0 + N_1 \times p_1$ drops below the demand rate (D) at time t.
 - $-C_E$: Profit rate obtained from excess production.
 - $C_K:$ Fixed set-up cost including the cost of sending maintenance crew to perform maintenance.

The reward function in the proposed model is a function of the cost components given by:

Reward =
$$R_1 + R_2$$
,

where

$$R_1 = (C_K + C_F \times N_2) \times B_1 - (C_K + C_P \times N_1) \times B_2$$
$$-(C_K + C_F \times N_2 + C_P \times N_1) \times B_3,$$

in which B_1 , B_2 , and B_3 are indicator variables, and

$$R_{2} = -(M - N'_{1} - N'_{2}) \times C_{0} - N'_{1} \times C_{1} -C_{D} \times \max(0, D - ((M - N'_{1} - N'_{2}) \times p_{0} + N'_{1} \times p_{1})) +C_{E} \times \max(0, ((M - N'_{1} - N'_{2}) \times p_{0} + N'_{1} \times p_{1}) - D),$$

where N'_2 is equal to zero if a_1 is selected, N'_1 is equal to zero if a_2 is selected, and N'_1 and N'_2 are equal to zero if a_3 is selected.

3 Numerical Study

Consider a system with M=30 units. The agent will start from state (0, 0) and choose an action. Every single action changes the state of the system. The agent moves among states based on the Birth/Birth-Death process. The input parameters in Table 1 are considered in our model. Assuming $\gamma = 0.5$, $\alpha = 0.01$, the initial value for $\varepsilon = 0.9$ and using 64 neurons in the hidden layers of the networks in 2000 thousand episodes, the results of the DDQN implementation are shown in Figure 1, which indicates the convergence of the algorithm.

Table 2 shows some examples of agent performance in different states. For example, in States (1, 2) and (2, 3) when the number of healthy units is more, the agent has decided to choose action a_0 , and in States (6, 9) and (9, 3), when the number of healthy units has decreased, the agent has decided to choose action a_3 which seems that it is cost-effective, in addition to the corrective repair of failed units, preventively replace unhealthy units because of high setup cost.

Table 1. The value of Cost Components.											
Parameter	D	p_0	p_1	C_0	C_1	C_D	C_E	C_K	C_F	C_P	Μ
Value	9000	450	230	5	10	0.8	0.04	500	5	1	30

m 1 1 m

			Table	2. The	Value o	f Cost (Compon	ents.			
States	(1, 1)	(2, 1)	(1,5)	(3,7)	(2,5)	(6, 9)	(7,8)	(9,3)	(9,4)	(8, 5)	(7,7)
Action	a_0	a_0	a_0	a_0	a_0	a_3	a_3	a_3	a_3	a_3	a_3

Table 2 The Value of Cost Components

4 Conclusion

In conclusion, we proposed a deep RL-based framework for maintenance decision making with the goal of cost minimization. We considered a large parallel multi-unit system. Units are subject to random failures and are independent from each other. Each unit could be in three different states, namely, healthy, unhealthy and failed. Since, the number of units is very large which leads to a large state-space, we used a DDQN algorithm to obtain the optimal maintenance policy for the system. At the end, we provided a numerical example to evaluate the effectiveness of the proposed model compared to the traditional methods.

References

- Azizi, F., & Salari, N. (2023). A novel condition-based maintenance framework for parallel manufacturing systems based on bivariate birth/birthdeath processes. Reliability Engineering & System Safety, 229, 108798.
- [2] Huang, J., Chang, Q., & Arinez, J. (2020). Deep reinforcement learning based preventive maintenance policy for serial production lines. Expert Systems with Applications, 160, 113701.
- [3] Hu, Y., Miao, X., Zhang, J., Liu, J., & Pan, E. (2021). Reinforcement learning-driven maintenance strategy: A novel solution for long-term aircraft maintenance decision optimization. Computers & Industrial Engineering, 153, 107056.



Figure 1: Reward Function

- [4] Shin, J. H., & Jun, H. B. (2015). On condition based maintenance policy. Journal of Computational Design and Engineering, 2(2), 119-127.
- [5] Song, Z., Zhang, Z., Jiang, Y., & Zhu, J. (2018). Wind turbine health state monitoring based on a Bayesian data-driven approach. Renewable energy, 125, 172-181.
- [6] Salmani, M., Azizi, F., Rasay, H., & Naderkhani, F. (2023). Dynamic Maintenance for a Large Scale Identical Parallel Manufacturing Systems Using Reinforcement Learning. In 2023 Annual Reliability and Maintainability Symposium (RAMS) (pp. 1-8). IEEE.
- [7] Yousefi, N., Tsianikas, S., & Coit, D. W. (2022). Dynamic maintenance model for a repairable multi-component system using deep reinforcement learning. Quality Engineering, 34(1), 16-35.
- [8] Zhang, N., & Si, W. (2020). Deep reinforcement learning for condition-based maintenance planning of multi-component systems under dependent competing risks. Reliability Engineering & System Safety, 203, 107094.



Confidence regions for the parameters of an inverted exponentiated Pareto distribution based on progressively Type-II censored samples

Bagheri, S.F.¹ and Asgharzadeh, A.²

 1,2 Department of Statistics, Faculty of Mathematical Sciences, University of Mazandaran, Babolsar, Iran

Abstract

In this article, based on progressively type-II censored order statistics, we create balanced confidence regions (BCR) and optimal confidence regions (OCR) for the parameters of an inverted exponentiated Pareto (IEP) distribution. Constraint optimization problem and nonlinear programmings methods are used in order to construct OCRs. Monte Carlo simulation studies are used to evaluate the performance of the methods proposed in this paper. Finally, a numerical example is presented to illustrate the proposed regions.

Keywords: Confidence region, Inverted exponentiated Pareto distribution, Progressively Type-II censored, Optimization, Monte Carlo.

1 Introduction

The two-parameter exponentiated Pareto distribution is a lifetime distribution and is widely used in many fields. This distribution is widely used in reliability and life-testing studies. In many life-testing and reliability studies, lifetime experiments are usually terminated prior to

¹bagheri_s.fazel@yahoo.com

²a.asgharzadeh@umz.ac.ir

the failure of all experimental units in the sample. Under conventional censoring schemes, the experimenter can not remove (or censored) units from a life-testing at various stages during the experiments. Progressive Type-II censoring scheme is a more general censoring scheme in which surviving units can be removed from the study at any time of failures (see, e.g., Balakrishnan and Aggarwala [2], Balakrishnan and Cramer [3]).

Suppose that lifetime X of items follow an IEP distribution with cumulative density function (CDF) given as

$$F(x;\alpha,\lambda) = 1 - \left[1 - \left(\frac{x}{1+x}\right)^{\lambda}\right]^{\alpha}, \quad x,\lambda,\alpha > 0,$$
(1)

and the probability density function (PDF) is given by

$$f(x;\alpha,\lambda) = \alpha \lambda \frac{x^{\lambda-1}}{(1+x)^{\lambda+1}} \left[1 - \left(\frac{x}{1+x}\right)^{\lambda} \right]^{\alpha-1}, \quad x,\alpha,\lambda > 0,$$
(2)

where λ and α are both shape parameters.

In the issue of confidence intervals, Dey and Dey [4] provided the approximate confidence interval of the generalized inverted exponential (GIE) distribution based on a progressively censored sample. We know that when the sample size is small, the importance of calculating the exact confidence intervals is more understandable. Recently, Kinaci et al. [6] introduced the exact confidence intervals and regions for GIE parameters and studied based on progressively type-II censored sample and recorded values. Also, Wang et al. [8] obtained the confidence set for the GIE parameters based on k-record values.

Confidence regions can be used to find confidence bands for a bivariate function of the scale and shape parameters in IEP distribution, such as the reliability and cumulative distribution functions. Further, these regions are useful for testing hypotheses related to the parameters of a general class of inverse exponentiated distributions.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: In Section 2 and 3, based on the progressive type-II censoring, we obtain balanced and optimal confidence regions for the parameters of IEP distribution. In Section 4, a simulation study is performed to compare the areas of optimal and balanced confidence regions and it is shown that the reduction in areas of the optimal joint confidence regions with respect to the balanced confidence regions is substantial. a numerical example is given in Section 5 for illustrative and comparative purposes. Finally, some concluding remarks are presented in Section 6.

2 The balanced confidence region

Let $X_{1:m:n} < X_{2:m:n} < \cdots < X_{m:n:n}$ denote a progressively Type-II censored sample from IEP distribution with a pdf in Equation (2) with censoring scheme (R_1, \ldots, R_m) .

Let

$$Y_{i:m:n} = -\alpha \log \left[1 - \left(\frac{X_{i:m:n}}{1 + X_{i:m:n}} \right)^{\lambda} \right], \ i = 1, 2, \dots, m.$$

For notation simplicity, we will write X_i for $X_{i:m:n}$. It can be seen that $Y_{1:m:n} < Y_{2:m:n} < \cdots < Y_{m:m:n}$ are progressively type-II right censored order statistics from a standard exponential distribution. For notation simplicity, we will write Y_i for $Y_{i:m:n}$. Let

$$\eta_i = n_i(Y_i - Y_{i-1}), i = 2, \dots, m$$

where $n_i = n - \sum_{s=1}^{i-1} (1+R_s)$, i = 2, ..., m and $\eta_1 = nY_1$. It is well known that, from Thomas and Wilson [9], $\eta_1, \eta_2, ..., \eta_m$ are independent and identically distributed as a standard exponential distribution.

For j = 1, 2, ..., m - 1, define

$$U_{(j)}(\lambda) = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{j} \eta_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \eta_i} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{j} (1+R_i) \log\left(1 - \left(\frac{X_i}{1+X_i}\right)^{\lambda}\right) + n_{j+1} \log\left(1 - \left(\frac{X_i}{1+X_j}\right)^{\lambda}\right)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} (1+R_i) \log\left(1 - \left(\frac{X_i}{1+X_i}\right)^{\lambda}\right)}.$$
 (3)

It can easily be shown that function $U_{(j)}$ is strictly descending from λ . Moreover, $\lim_{\lambda\to 0} U_{(j)}(\lambda) = \infty$ and $\lim_{\lambda\to\infty} U_{(j)}(\lambda) = 0$. Thus, if $u > 0, U_{(j)}(\lambda) = u$ has a unique solution for any $\lambda > 0$. Hence $U_{(j)}^{-1}(.)$ are strictly decreasing. It is observed that $U_{(1)}, U_{(2)}, \ldots, U_{(m-1)}$ are order statistics from the uniform (0,1) distribution with sample size m-1.

To obtain a balanced joint confidence region under a progressive Type II censoring scheme for the parameters α and λ , define

$$T(\lambda) = -2\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} \log \left(U_{(j)} \right),$$

Furthermore,

$$T(\lambda) = -2\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} \log \left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{j} (1+R_i) \log \left(1 - \left(\frac{X_i}{1+X_i}\right)^{\lambda}\right) + n_{j+1} \log \left(1 - \left(\frac{X_i}{1+X_j}\right)^{\lambda}\right)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} (1+R_i) \log \left(1 - \left(\frac{X_i}{1+X_i}\right)^{\lambda}\right)} \right),$$
(4)

According to Viveros and Balakrishnan (1994) [7], T has a chi-square distribution with 2(m-1) degrees of freedom. Based on above results, $T(\lambda)$ increases in λ .

The second pivotal quantity Z can be defined as

$$Z(\alpha, \lambda) = 2\sum_{i=1}^{m} \eta_i = \alpha W(\lambda),$$

where

$$W(\lambda) = -2\sum_{i=1}^{m} (R_i + 1) \log\left(1 - \left(\frac{X_i}{1 + X_i}\right)^{\lambda}\right).$$
(5)

Z has a chi-square distribution with 2m degrees of freedom. Moreover, $U_{(j)}$ and Z are stochastically independent. Also, T and Z are stochastically independent.

In order to obtain the BCR for the parameters of IEP distribution, a useful theorem is given first as follows.

Theorem 2.1. Suppose that $X_1 < X_2 < \cdots < X_m$ is a progressively Type-II censored sample from IEP distributions with a pdf in Equation (2) with censoring scheme (R_1, \ldots, R_m) . Based on the pivotal quantities T and Z, a $100(1 - \gamma)\%$ joint confidence region for (α, λ) is given by

$$C_{1-\gamma}^{BCR} = \left\{ (\alpha, \lambda) : \frac{\chi_{2m,p_1}^2}{W(\lambda)} < \alpha < \frac{\chi_{2m,p_2}^2}{W(\lambda)}, T^{-1}(\chi_{2(m-2),p_1}^2) < \lambda < T^{-1}(\chi_{2(m-2),p_2}^2) \right\},\tag{6}$$

where $p_1 = (1 - \sqrt{1 - \gamma})/2$ and $p_2 = (1 + \sqrt{1 - \gamma})/2$ and for $0 denotes the <math>p^{th}$ quantile of χ^2_{ν} . Also, $T^{-1}(t)$ is the solution of λ for the equation $T(\lambda) = t$.

The area of $C_{1-\gamma}^{BCR}$ is given by

$$|\mathcal{C}_{1-\gamma}^{BCR}| = (\chi_{2m,p_2}^2 - \chi_{2m,p_1}^2) \int_{T^{-1}(\chi_{2(m-2),p_1}^2)}^{T^{-1}(\chi_{2(m-2),p_1}^2)} \frac{\mathrm{d}\lambda}{W(\lambda)}.$$
(7)

3 The optimization problem

In this section, an optimal confidence region for (α, λ) based on the pivotal quantities (T, Z) is constructed. We used constrained optimization problems to construct the optimal confidence regions. The following theorem presents the optimal confidence region for (α, λ) based on the pivotal quantities (T, Z).

Theorem 3.1. Let $X_1 < X_2 < \cdots < X_m$ denote a progressively Type-II censored sample from IEP distribution with censoring scheme (R_1, \ldots, R_m) . Based on the pivotal quantities T and Z, an optimal $100(1 - \gamma)\%$ joint confidence region for (α, λ) is given by

$$C_{1-\gamma}^{OCR} = \left\{ (\alpha, \lambda) : \frac{b_1^*}{W(\lambda)} < \alpha < \frac{b_2^*}{W(\lambda)}, T^{-1}(a_1^*) < \lambda < T^{-1}(a_2^*) \right\},\tag{8}$$

where a_1^*, a_2^*, b_1^* and b_2^* are computed as the solution of the optimization problem

$$\begin{aligned} \text{Minimize} \quad & \int_{T^{-1}(a_1)}^{T^{-1}(a_2)} \frac{b_2 - b_1}{W(\lambda)} \mathrm{d}\lambda \\ \text{Subject to} \quad & \Big(\Psi_{2(m-1)}(a_2) - \Psi_{2(m-1)}(a_1) \Big) \Big(\Psi_{2m}(b_2) - \Psi_{2m}(b_1) \Big) = 1 - \gamma, \\ & 0 < a_1 < a_2, \quad 0 < b_1 < b_2, \end{aligned}$$

where Ψ_{ν} is the cdf of $\chi^2(\nu)$ distribution with ν degree of freedom and $T^{-1}(t)$ is the solution of λ for the equation $T(\lambda) = t$.

Proof. Assuming that

$$P(a_1 < T(\lambda) < a_2, \ b_1 < Z(\alpha, \lambda) < b_2) = 1 - \gamma,$$

or, equivalently,

$$\left(\Psi_{2(m-1)}(a_2) - \Psi_{2(m-1)}(a_1)\right) \left(\Psi_{2m}(b_2) - \Psi_{2m}(b_1)\right) = 1 - \gamma,$$

the $100(1-\gamma)\%$ joint confidence region for (α, λ) is

$$C_{1-\gamma} = \{(\alpha, \lambda) : Z^{-1}(b_1, \lambda) < \alpha < Z^{-1}(b_2, \lambda), T^{-1}(a_1) < \lambda < T^{-1}(a_2)\} \\ = \left\{(\alpha, \lambda) : \frac{b_1}{W(\lambda)} < \alpha < \frac{b_2}{W(\lambda)}, T^{-1}(a_1) < \lambda < T^{-1}(a_2)\right\},$$

where $T^{-1}(t)$ is the solution of λ for the equation $T(\lambda) = t$ and $Z^{-1}(z, \lambda)$ is the solution of α for the equation $Z(\alpha, \lambda) = z$. The area of $C_{1-\gamma}$ is given by

$$|\mathcal{C}_{1-\gamma}| = \int_{T^{-1}(a_1)}^{T^{-1}(a_2)} \int_{Z^{-1}(b_1,\lambda)}^{Z^{-1}(b_2,\lambda)} d\alpha d\lambda = (b_2 - b_1) \int_{T^{-1}(a_1)}^{T^{-1}(a_2)} \frac{d\lambda}{W(\lambda)}.$$
(9)

Thus, the optimal $100(1 - \gamma)\%$ confidence region for (α, λ) based on the pivotal quantities (T, Z) is obtained by minimizing the area $|C_{1-\gamma}|$ with respect to a_1, a_2, b_1 and b_2 subject to the constraint

$$\left(\Psi_{2(m-1)}(a_2) - \Psi_{2(m-1)}(a_1)\right) \left(\Psi_{2m}(b_2) - \Psi_{2m}(b_1)\right) = 1 - \gamma,$$

for $0 < a_1 < a_2$, $0 < b_1 < b_2$. This completes the proof.

Then the area of $C_{1-\gamma}^{OBC}$ is given by

$$|\mathcal{C}_{1-\gamma}^{OBC}| = (b_2^* - b_1^*) \int_{T^{-1}(a_2^*)}^{T^{-1}(a_2^*)} \frac{\mathrm{d}\lambda}{W(\lambda)}.$$
 (10)

4 Simulation study

In this section, a Monte Carlo simulation is carried out in order to investigate the performance of the proposed BCR and OCR. In this simulation, we computed the BCRs and OCRs for (α, λ) as discussed in Sections 2 and 3. We selected the default values of the parameters and the size of the observations so that we can measure the behavior of the average area corresponding to the various confidence regions proposed with respect to increasing the parameter values or increasing the censoring levels 100(1 - m/n)%. We have designed four schemes for simulation with n and m as: Scheme I: $R = (\underbrace{0, \ldots, 0, n - m})$, Scheme II: $R = (n - m, \underbrace{0, \ldots, 0})$, Scheme III: $R = (\underbrace{n - m, 0, \ldots, 0}_{m-1})$ Scheme IV: $R = (0, \ldots, 0, n - m)$, Scheme II: $R = (n - m, \underbrace{0, \ldots, 0}_{m-1})$

III:
$$R = (\underbrace{n-m}{2}, \underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{m-2}, \underbrace{n-m}{2})$$
, Scheme IV: $R = (\underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{m/2-1}, n-m, \underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{m/2})$.
The reduction in give of the A set with respect to the corresponding R

The reduction in size of the A set with respect to the corresponding B region is defined as 100(1 - |A|/|B|)%. The results for these simulations are summarized in the Tables 1 and 2.

					AC	ACA		C	'P
λ	α	n	m	Scheme	BCR	OCR	AR	BCR	OCR
2	3	20	16	Ι	17.8557	14.5376	%14	0.951	0.952
				II	12.3410	10.9135	%10	0.949	0.948
				III	16.1773	13.7778	%13	0.948	0.947
				IV	13.4880	11.7344	%11	0.950	0.949
			18	Ι	11.0275	9.6934	%11	0.951	0.948
				II	9.2741	8.3548	%9	0.947	0.952
				III	12.2495	10.8086	%10	0.948	0.947
				IV	11.3048	10.0242	%10	0.947	0.951
		24	18	Ι	16.2205	13.5204	%13	0.948	0.947
				II	11.8898	10.6242	%9	0.951	0.950
				III	11.9122	10.3986	%11	0.947	0.947
				IV	9.4506	8.4904	%10	0.951	0.952
			20	Ι	10.6589	9.3584	%11	0.948	0.951
				II	9.9473	8.9581	%8	0.952	0.950
				III	9.6732	8.6608	%10	0.948	0.947
				IV	9.2351	8.3264	%9	0.951	0.952
	5	20	16	Ι	30.9496	24.4323	%17	0.947	0.951
				II	29.1180	24.2763	%13	0.950	0.952
				III	25.7408	21.2743	%15	0.949	0.951
				IV	23.0614	19.4474	%13	0.948	0.947
			18	Ι	24.8779	20.3632	%13	0.949	0.947
				II	22.8897	19.3833	%12	0.950	0.952
				III	19.0571	16.3070	%12	0.948	0.948
				IV	23.9572	20.1493	%12	0.949	0.946
		24	18	Ι	28.0465	22.1242	%16	0.951	0.949
				II	19.3313	16.8727	%11	0.952	0.951
				III	33.2771	26.1985	%14	0.948	0.952
				IV	19.6688	16.9584	%12	0.949	0.951
			20	Ι	18.3311	15.5316	%13	0.950	0.951
				II	18.1261	15.9342	%11	0.952	0.947
				III	18.2151	15.7105	%12	0.948	0.950
				IV	12.7028	11.3168	%10	0.949	0.948

 Table 1. The average confidence area (ACA), coverage percentage (CP) and average reduction (AR) of the $C_{0.95}^{BCR}$ and $C_{0.95}^{OCR}$ confidence regions of (α, λ) .

 ACA
 CP

					A	CA		C	'P
λ	α	n	m	Scheme	BCR	OCR	\mathbf{AR}	BCR	OCR
4	3	20	16	Ι	43.1320	34.5983	%14	0.951	0.949
				II	25.7450	22.8862	%10	0.947	0.948
				III	30.4935	25.9927	%12	0.951	0.947
				IV	27.8593	24.3287	% 11	0.952	0.951
			18	Ι	30.1782	25.6210	%11	0.949	0.952
				II	31.0517	26.4580	%10	0.951	0.946
				III	24.5839	21.5966	%10	0.945	0.946
				IV	19.1328	17.1632	%9	0.951	0.948
		24	18	Ι	33.8629	28.0568	%13	0.949	0.946
				II	24.1492	21.6610	%9	0.948	0.947
				III	22.3439	19.4794	%11	0.950	0.953
				IV	19.4357	17.3446	%10	0.948	0.954
			20	Ι	20.4957	18.0679	%11	0.952	0.951
				II	16.6702	15.2384	%8	0.951	0.953
				III	20.8256	18.5031	%10	0.952	0.951
				IV	19.6430	17.6773	%9	0.947	0.950
4	5	20	16	Ι	50.6404	40.8817	%16	0.952	0.951
				II	45.5263	38.9142	%13	0.948	0.947
				III	52.5354	43.3546	%15	0.951	0.948
				IV	43.0075	36.4701	%13	0.947	0.947
			18	Ι	47.6630	38.8726	%13	0.945	0.950
				II	37.4110	32.3423	%11	0.950	0.951
				III	46.7562	39.6677	%13	0.948	0.947
				IV	31.5138	27.6902	%11	0.948	0.949
		24	18	Ι	46.4914	37.3444	%15	0.951	0.950
				II	43.0423	37.2684	%11	0.947	0.952
				III	52.4100	43.0182	%14	0.948	0.947
				IV	31.5166	27.5685	%11	0.947	0.949
			20	Ι	58.5238	45.9006	%13	0.948	0.947
				II	36.7140	32.1504	%10	0.947	0.953
				III	40.0328	34.1497	%12	0.949	0.951
				IV	33.5528	29.3308	%10	0.948	0.946

Table 2. The average confidence area (ACA), coverage percentage (CP) and average reduction (AR) of the $C_{0.95}^{BCR}$ and $C_{0.95}^{OCR}$ confidence regions of (α, λ) .

Based on the progressive type-II censoring, the simulation results in Tables 1 and 2, show that the coverage probabilities of the joint confidence regions for (λ, α) are close to the desired level of $1 - \gamma$. Also, we observe that with increasing number of observations, the average area of related confidence regions decreases. The average area of the confidence regions can be considered as an increased function relative to the censoring levels. Of course, increasing the parameter values also leads to an average area increase in the corresponding confidence regions. We also observe that the area reduction of the optimal confidence regions for the corresponding balanced regions increases as m decreases or the level of censorship increases. A comparison of the average area of the confidence regions indicates that in all cases considered, when the degree of censoring increases, the optimal confidence region increases significantly compared to the balanced confidence region.

5 Application to real data

In this section, we discuss the confidence region proposed in this paper using a real data example.

Example 5.1. In this section, with the help of a set of real data from Zhu (2010)[10] in the context of the lifetime of 21 lamps from a constant-stress test , we will obtain the balance and optimal areas for

the IEP parameters. These data (By dividing its limitation observation 130.47) are: 0.0267, 0.0371, 0.0661, 0.0683, 0.0715, 0.1469, 0.1505, 0.1564, 0.2084, 0.2164, 0.3115, 0.3216, 0.3770, 0.3948, 0.4273, 0.5487, 0.5752, 0.7065, 0.7843, 0.7898 and 0.9225. Based on the above observations, the MLEs of α and λ are estimated as $\hat{\alpha} = 6.7873$ and $\hat{\lambda} = 1.4747$, and the Kolmogorov-Smirnov distance is 0.11933 with an associated p-value of 0.8918, which indicates that the IEP distribution can fit these data match correctly. Based on the initial lifetime of the bulb data, a group of progressively censored Type II samples with n = 21, m = 16, $R_1 = 5$, and $R_i = 0$, i = 2, ..., 16 is produced as follows. 0.0267, 0.0371, 0.0661, 0.0715, 0.1469, 0.1564, 0.2164, 0.3115, 0.3216, 0.3770, 0.3948, 0.4273, 0.5487, 0.7065, 0.7843 and 0.9225.

By Theorem 2.1 and Theorem 3.1, the 95% joint confidence region for α and λ is determined by the following inequalities:

$$C_{0.95}^{BCR} = \begin{cases} \frac{16.8213}{W(\lambda)} < \alpha < \frac{52.4847}{W(\lambda)} \\ 0.7327 < \lambda < 2.2066 \end{cases} \text{ and } C_{0.95}^{OCR} = \begin{cases} \frac{15.2321}{W(\lambda)} < \alpha < \frac{52.1584}{W(\lambda)} \\ 0.5540 < \lambda < 2.0587 \end{cases}.$$

The area of $C_{0.95}^{BCR}$ is 12.3805, while the area of $C_{0.95}^{OCR}$ is 10.6843. The reduction in the size of $C_{0.95}^{OCR}$ concerning the corresponding $C_{0.95}^{BCR}$ is 13.70%, and the confidence regions $C_{0.95}^{OCR}$ and $C_{0.95}^{BCR}$ are plotted in Figure 1. As can be seen, the area of $C_{0.95}^{OCR}$ is significantly reduced compared to $C_{0.95}^{BCR}$ confidence



Figure 1: BCR and OCR (pink), $C_{0.95}^{BCR}$ and $C_{0.95}^{OCR}$, in Example 5.1.

region.

6 Concluding remarks

In this paper, we presented a classe of balanced and optimal confidence regions for parameters λ and α of IEP distribution based on progressive type-II censoring scheme. A constrained optimization problem was proposed in order to determine the optimal confidence regions for (λ, α) . It is observed that the reduction in area of the optimal joint confidence region with respect to the balanced confidence regions is substantial.

The OCR presented in this paper can be used in hypothesis testing and estimation related to unknown parameters. For example, the *p*-value associated to the test of the null hypothesis H_0 : $(\alpha, \lambda) = (\alpha_0, \lambda_0)$ versus the alternative hypothesis H_1 : $(\alpha, \lambda) \neq (\alpha_0, \lambda_0)$ based on the smallest $100(1 - \gamma)\%$ confidence region C^{OCR} for (α, λ) would be defined by

$$p = \max\{\gamma \in (0, 1) : (\alpha_0, \lambda_0) \in C^{OCR}\},\$$

see, e.g., Fernandez [5] and Asgharzadeh et al. [1].

References

- Asgharzadeh, A., Fernandez, A. J., Abdi, M. (2017). Confidence sets for the two-parameter Rayleigh distribution under progressive censoring. *Applied Mathematical Modelling*, 47, 56-667.
- [2] Balakrishnan, N., & Aggarwala, R. (2000). Progressive censoring: theory, methods, and applications, Springer Science & Business Media.
- [3] Balakrishnan, N. and Cramer, E., (2014). *The art of progressive censoring*. Statistics for industry and technology.
- [4] Dey, S. and Dey, T. (2014). On progressively censored generalized inverted exponential distribution, Journal of Applied Statistics, 41, 25572576.
- [5] Fernandez, A. J. (2014). Computing optimal confidence sets for Pareto models under progressive censoring. *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, 258,168-180.
- [6] Kinanci, I., Wu, S.J. and Kus, C. (2019). Confidence Intervals and Regions for the Generalized Inverted Exponential Distribution based on Progressively Censored and Upper Record Data, *REV-STAT* 17(4), 429-448.
- [7] Viveros, R. and Balakrishnan, N. (1994). Interval estimation of parameters of life from progressively censored data, *Technometrics*, 36, 84-91.
- [8] Wang, L., Tripathi, Y.M., Wu, S.J. and Zhang, M., (2020). Inference for confidence sets of the generalized inverted exponential distribution under k-record values. *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, p.112969.
- [9] Thomas, D.R. and Wilson, W.M. (1972). Linear order statistics estimation for the two parameter Weibull and extreme value distributions from type-II progressively censored samples, *Technometrics*, 14, 679691.
- [10] Zhu, Y. (2010). Optimal design and equivalency of accelerated life testing plans. Rutgers The State University of New Jersey, School of Graduate Studies.



9th Seminar on Reliability Theory and its Applications



24-25 May 2023

On the reliability of phased mission systems with non-identical components subject to external shocks

Bidarmaghz, H.R.¹ and Zarezadeh, S.²

^{1,2} Department of Statistics, School of Science, Shiraz University, Shiraz, Iran

Abstract

A phased mission system (PMS) accomplishes its mission if it completes different tasks successively. In fact, the PMS includes multiple consecutive, non-overlapping phases. In this paper, some representations based on the concept of survival signature are given for the reliability function of a PMS with non-identical components in three scenarios: (a) the component failures occur only based on their aging, (b) the component failures are only subject to external shocks and (c) the components failures are subject to both of aging, and external shocks. Finally, a numerical example is presented to explain the theoretical results.

Keywords: External shock, Phased mission system, Reliability, Survival signature.

1 Introduction

Phased mission systems (PMSs) have to perform a series of tasks in sequence to complete the determined mission. The operational life of such systems consists of a sequence of non-overlapping periods, called phases. The failure of the PMS in any phase causes mission failure. The PMSs appear in different areas of real-world applications, such as aerospace, communication networks, etc. An For example, the flight of an aircraft is a PMS with the phases of takeoff, cruise, and landing. Another example is

¹bidarmaghz71@gmail.com

 $^{^2 \}rm s. zarezadeh@shirazu.ac. ir$

a manufacturing system that performs a sequence of tasks by transferring a completed batch of parts from machine to machine [7]. The components of PMS may not have role in all phases and may be under the different pressure in different phases [15]. Therefore, we must consider both properties of changing the system structure and dependency between the phases to evaluate the PMSs reliability function. This made more complicate the study of PMSs reliability relative to other systems.

Numerous efforts have been made to evaluate the reliability of PMS since 1970s. Generally, all approaches can be classified into state space-oriented approaches and combinatorial models. There are also some models which combine two methods to have the advantages of both; see, e.g., [8], [9]. The state space-oriented methods usually use the continuous-time Markov chain, semi-Markov process, or Petri nets for estimation of the reliability of PMSs [13, 2, 3]. The state space-oriented methods provide flexible and powerful options for modeling complex dependencies among system components. However, the cardinality of the state space can become exponentially large as the number of components increases. The combinatorial methods use Boolean algebra, Binary Decision Diagram (BDD), multivalued decision diagram (MDD), or other decision diagrams to reduce the complexity of state space-oriented methods; see, e.g. [17, 6, 12]. Huand et. al. provided the exact closed form for reliability function of PMSs with binary components based on the new survival signature, [4]. The mechanism for computing survival signature is free of components' lifetimes. The reliability of PMSs with multi-type and multi-state components was evaluated under aging by using a new version of the survival signature, [1].

There are many situations in which the components may fail due to both factors of aging and external shocks. For example, highway bridges may collapse due to the failure of their components (aging) or may be subject to external shocks (such as earthquakes). So, we get incorrect results when the reliability is evaluated without considering the effects of external shocks. [5] investigated the reliability of PMSs under the assumption that the shocks cause a random amount of damage to the components. The reliability of coherent systems subject to aging and external shocks where each occurring shock destroys, with equal probabilities, one of the components functioning at the time of its occurrence evaluated by [11]. There are a few studies on the reliability of a PMS subject to aging and external shocks. The reliability of PMS subject to internal and external failures based on the BDD method is evaluated by [16]. See [10] and [14] for other research on the reliability of a PMS subject to aging and external shocks. In this paper, we evaluate the reliability of the PMS with non-identical components subject to aging and external shocks based on the concept of survival signature, and some compact representations are presented for the reliability function of a PMS. The proofs of theorems are omitted because of restrictions in page numbers.

2 Main results

For getting the results, the concept of meta-type components is used [4].

Definition 2.1. Components are defined to be of the same meta-type when they are of the same physical type and appear in the same phases.

Suppose that our PMS includes M phases with \mathbb{K} different meta-type of n independent components where these components can be in two states: up state and down state. If we have m_k components of meta-type k, then $n = \sum_{k=1}^{\mathbb{K}} m_k$, $k = 1, 2, ..., \mathbb{K}$. Let phase i begin to operate at time τ_i and it ends at time τ_{i+1} where i = 1, ..., M, $\tau_1 = 0$ and τ_{M+1} is the full mission time. Note that at least one meta-type of components should be present in each phase. Suppose that the random failure times of components are statistically independent in the same phases and even that the components of the same meta-type can be exchangeable. Also, suppose that the components are non-repairable for the full duration time of the mission. Assume that X_{ij} denotes the state of component j, j = 1, 2, ..., n, in phase i, i = 1, 2, ..., M where

$$X_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if component } j \text{ functions for all of phase } i \\ 0 & \text{if component } j \text{ fails before the end of phase } i, \end{cases}$$

and $\mathbf{X}_i = (X_{i1}, ..., X_{in})$ shows the state vector of components in phase *i* and $\mathbf{X}^{(m)} = (\mathbf{X}_1, ..., \mathbf{X}_m)$, $m = 1, ..., \mathbb{M}$, gives the state vector of components for the first *m* phases. The state of PMS is also assumed to be binary and $\varphi^{(m)}$ denotes the state of PMS for the first *m* phases. Then, $\varphi^{(m)}(\mathbf{X}^{(m)}) = 1(0)$ means that the PMS works (fails) for the first *m* phases and the state vector $\mathbf{X}^{(m)}$. Let $\Phi_m(\ell_1, \ell_2, ..., \ell_m)$ be the probability that the PMS works for the first *m* phases provided that ℓ_i components function in phase $i \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$.

Under these assumptions, the survival signature of PMS for the first m phases is defined as follows [4]

$$\Phi_m(\ell_{1,1},...,\ell_{m,\mathbb{K}}) = \left[\prod_{i=1}^m \prod_{k=1}^{\mathbb{K}} \binom{n_{i,k}}{\ell_{i,k}}\right]^{-1} \sum_{\mathbf{X}^{(m)} \in S^{(m)}} \varphi^{(m)}(\mathbf{X}^{(m)}),$$
(1)

where $\Phi_m(\ell_{1,1},...,\ell_{m,\mathbb{K}})$ denotes the probability that the PMS functions for the first *m* phases, m = 1, 2, ..., M, given that $\ell_{i,k}$ components of meta-type *k* work in phase *i*, i = 1, 2, ..., m, $k = 1, 2, ..., \mathbb{K}$. Also, $S^{(m)}$ denotes the set of all possible state vectors of components state for the first *m* phases given that $\ell_{i,k}$ components of meta-type *k* function in phase *i*. Note that $n_{i,k} = l_{i_0,k}$ where i_0 is the nearest phase before phase *i* where the components of meta-type *k* are present in that phase. If the PMS functions in an environment without shocks and only the aging only causes failure of the components, then the reliability function of PMSs is obtained as follows

$$\bar{H}_{a}(t) = \sum_{\ell_{1,1}=0}^{n_{1,1}} \dots \sum_{\ell_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}=0}^{n_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}} \Phi_{\gamma(t)}(\ell_{1,1},\dots,\ell_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}) Pr\left[\bigcap_{i=1}^{\gamma(t)} \bigcap_{k=1}^{\mathbb{K}} \left(N_{a}^{[i,k]}(t_{i,k}^{\star}) = n_{i,k} - \ell_{i,k}\right)\right] \\
= \sum_{\ell_{1,1}=0}^{n_{1,1}} \dots \sum_{\ell_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}=0}^{n_{\gamma(t)},\mathbb{K}} \Phi_{\gamma(t)}(\ell_{1,1},\dots,\ell_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}) \prod_{i=1}^{\gamma(t)} \prod_{k=1}^{\mathbb{K}} \binom{n_{i,k}}{\ell_{i,k}} (R_{i,k}(t_{i,k}^{\star}))^{\ell_{i,k}} \\
\times (1 - R_{i,k}(t_{i,k}^{\star}))^{n_{i,k}-\ell_{i,k}},$$
(2)

where $t_{i,k}^{\star} = \min\{t, \tau_{i+1}\} - \tau_i + \beta_{i,k}$ and $\beta_{i,k} = \sum_{i' \in I_k} (\tau_{i'+1} - \tau_{i'})$ with I_k as the set of numbers of phases that the components of meta-type k are present in those phases before phase i; see, [4, 1]. Also $\gamma(t)$ denotes the function which shows the phase that the system is in that phase at time t.

Note that $N_a^{[i,k]}(t)$ denotes number of the failed components of meta-type k due to aging in phase $i, i = 1, 2, ..., M, k = 1, 2, ..., \mathbb{K}$ and $t \in [\tau_i, \tau_{i+1}]$. If the reliability function is being evaluated at $t > \tau_{i+1}$, then $N_a^{[i,k]}(t) = N_a^{[i,k]}(\tau_{i+1})$. Also $R_{i,k}(t) = 1 - F_{i,k}(t), i = 1, 2, ..., \gamma(t)$, and

$$F_{i,k}(t) = \frac{F_k(t_{i,k}^*) - F_k(\beta_{i,k})}{1 - F_k(\beta_{i,k})}$$

where $F_k(.)$ is DF of the lifetimes of components of meta-type $k, k = 1, 2, ..., \mathbb{K}$. Note that if all components of a special meta-type fail in a given phase, the PMS may function with the other type of components. Then, $\ell_{i,k} \ge 0$, for $i = 1, 2, ..., \gamma(t), k = 1, 2, ..., \mathbb{K}$. In what follows, we first evaluate the reliability of the PMS only under external shocks. Finally, an expression is given for the case where both the aging and external shocks may cause of components failure.

2.1 PMS with components only under external shocks

Now, we assume that the components of PMS are absolutely reliable under their aging and only the harmful shocks arriving from a random environment are the only cause of the component's failures. Let $N_s^{[i,k]}(t)$, $k = 1, 2, ..., \mathbb{K}$, $t \ge 0$ be independent counting processes which describe the number of shocks during [0, t) that cause the failure of components of meta-type k in phase i. Also suppose that each fatal shock destroys, with equal probabilities, one of the components functioning at the time of its occurrence and the shock has no impact on the other working components. It should be noted that in each phase of the mission, the process of occurrence of shocks on each meta-type of components is independent of the process of occurrence of shocks on other meta-type of components. Also, the process of occurrence of shocks in each phase of the mission is independent of the process of occurrence of shocks in other phases of occurrence of shocks in other phases of occurrence of shocks in other phases of the mission. Let

$$P_r^{[i,k]}(t) = Pr(N_s^{[i,k]}(t) = r), \qquad r = 0, 1, ..., \quad i = 1, 2, ..., \mathbb{M}, \quad k = 1, 2, ..., \mathbb{K},$$

where $P_r^{[i,k]}(t)$ denotes the probability that r shocks occur on the components of meta-type k for duration time t in phase i. So the reliability of PMS is evaluated as follows

$$\bar{H}_{s}(t) = \sum_{\ell_{1,1}=0}^{n_{1,1}} \dots \sum_{\ell_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}=0}^{n_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}} \Phi_{\gamma(t)}(\ell_{1,1},\dots,\ell_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}) Pr\left[\bigcap_{i=1}^{\gamma(t)}\bigcap_{k=1}^{\mathbb{K}} \left(N_{s}^{[i,k]}(t_{i}^{\star}-\tau_{i})=n_{i,k}-\ell_{i,k}\right)\right]$$
$$= \sum_{\ell_{1,1}=0}^{n_{1,1}} \dots \sum_{\ell_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}=0}^{n_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}} \Phi_{\gamma(t)}(\ell_{1,1},\dots,\ell_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}) \prod_{i=1}^{\gamma(t)} \left\{\prod_{k\in E} \bar{P}_{n_{i,k}}^{[i,k]}(t_{i}^{\star}-\tau_{i})\right\} \left\{\prod_{k\in E^{c}} P_{n_{i,k}-\ell_{i,k}}^{[i,k]}(t_{i}^{\star}-\tau_{i})\right\}, \quad (3)$$

where $E = \{k; \ell_{i,k} = 0\} \subseteq \{1, 2, ..., \mathbb{K}\}$ and

$$\bar{P}_{n_{i,k}}^{[i,k]}(t_i^{\star} - \tau_i) = \sum_{u_{i,k}=n_{i,k}}^{\infty} P_{u_{i,k}}^{[i,k]}(t_i^{\star} - \tau_i).$$

Note that if all components of type $k, k = 1, 2, ..., \mathbb{K}$, fail in phase i, i = 1, 2, ..., M, we can conclude that at least $n_{i,k}$ out of $N_s^{[i,k]}(t_i^* - \tau_i)$ shocks have occurred. Therefore, we have

$$Pr(N_s^{[i,k]}(t_i^{\star} - \tau_i) = n_{i,k} - \ell_{i,k}) = \begin{cases} \bar{P}_{n_{i,k}}^{[i,k]}(t_i^{\star} - \tau_i) = \sum_{u_{i,k}=n_{i,k}}^{\infty} P_{u_{i,k}}^{[i,k]}(t_i^{\star} - \tau_i) & \ell_{i,k} = 0\\ P_{n_{i,k}-\ell_{i,k}}^{[i,k]}(t_i^{\star} - \tau_i) & \ell_{i,k} = 1, 2, ..., n_{i,k}. \end{cases}$$

2.2 PMS with components under aging and external shocks

Finally, if both the internal failure and external shocks cause the failure of the components of PMS, we have $N^{[i,k]}(t) = N_a^{[i,k]}(t_{i,k}^*) + N_s^{[i]}(t_i^* - \tau_i)$ for $t \ge \tau_i$ where $N^{[i,k]}(t)$ denotes the number of the failed components of meta-type k subject to aging and fatal shocks until time t in phase i. Also, suppose that each shock destroys, with equal probabilities, one of the components functioning at the time of its occurrence and the shock has no impact on the other working components. Under these assumptions, in the next theorem, the reliability function of the PMS is obtained.

Theorem 2.2. Consider a PMS with the M phases consisting of n binary components of the \mathbb{K} different meta-type. Suppose that the random failure times of components are statistically independent in the same phases and $F_k(.)$ is the DF of random failure time of the components of meta-type k, $k = 1, 2, ..., \mathbb{K}$. Consider in addition to the aging, the components of meta-type k are subject to

external shocks. The shocks appear based on counting process $\{\{N_s^{[i,k]}(t), t \geq 0\}\$ where $N_s^{[i,k]}(t)\$ shows the number of shocks that occur on the components of meta-type k during time [0,t) in phase i. If occurrence of internal failures and the external shocks are independent of each other, the reliability function of PMS at time t is gotten as

$$\bar{H}(t) = \sum_{\ell_{1,1}=0}^{n_{1,1}} \dots \sum_{\ell_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}=0}^{n_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}} \Phi_{\gamma(t)}(\ell_{1,1},\dots,\ell_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}}) \prod_{i=1}^{\gamma(t)} \\ \times \left\{ \prod_{k\in E} \sum_{s_{i,k}=0}^{n_{i,k}} \binom{n_{i,k}}{s_{i,k}} (F_{i,k}(t_{i,k}^{\star}))^{s_{i,k}} (1-F_{i,k}(t_{i,k}^{\star}))^{n_{i,k}-s_{i,k}} \bar{P}_{n_{i,k}-s_{i,k}}^{[i,k]}(t_{i}^{\star}-\tau_{i}) \right\} \\ \times \left\{ \prod_{k\in E^{c}} \sum_{s_{i,k}=0}^{n_{i,k}-\ell_{i,k}} \binom{n_{i,k}}{s_{i,k}} (F_{i,k}(t_{i,k}^{\star}))^{s_{i,k}} (1-F_{i,k}(t_{i,k}^{\star}))^{n_{i,k}-s_{i,k}} P_{n_{i,k}-\ell_{i,k}-s_{i,k}}^{[i,k]}(t_{i}^{\star}-\tau_{i}) \right\}, \quad (4)$$

where $E = \{k; \ell_{i,k} = 0\} \subseteq \{1, 2, ..., \mathbb{K}\},\$

$$F_{i,k}(t_{i,k}^{\star}) = 1 - R_{i,k}(t_{i,k}^{\star}) = 1 - \frac{1 - F_k(t_{i,k}^{\star})}{1 - F_k(\beta_{i,k})}$$

 $P_r^{[i,k]}(t) = Pr(N_s^{[i,k]}(t) = r), \ r = 0, 1, ..., \ i = 1, 2, ..., \mathbb{M}, \ k = 1, 2, ..., \mathbb{K},$

$$\bar{P}_{n_{i,k}}^{[i,k]}(t_i^{\star} - \tau_i) = \sum_{u_{i,k}=n_{i,k}}^{\infty} P_{u_{i,k}}^{[i,k]}(t_i^{\star} - \tau_i)$$

and $t_i^{\star} = \min\{t, \tau_{i+1}\}, t_{i,k}^{\star} = \min\{t, \tau_{i+1}\} - \tau_i + \beta_{i,k}$. $\Phi_{\gamma(t)}(\ell_{1,1}, ..., \ell_{\gamma(t),\mathbb{K}})$ is also evaluated from equation (1).

Example 2.3. Consider a PMS with n = 6 components and two phases. Suppose that the duration time in each phase is 10 hours. The task in Phase 1 is done if all components A, B, and C work. Phase 2 is also completed if components C, and F work, and one of the components D, and E function. Assume that the components are of three types: (type 1) components A and B with exponential lifetimes with the rate 10^{-3} hours, (type 2) component C with exponential lifetime with the rate 2×10^{-3} hours and (type 3) components D, E and F have exponential lifetimes with the rate 3×10^{-3} hours. Table 1 gives the non-zero elements of the survival signature of the described PMS based on relation (1).

Table 1. Survival signature of the PMS described in Example 2.3.

P	hase 1	1		Phase $1+2$						
$\ell_{1,1}$	$\ell_{1,2}$	Φ_1	$\ell_{1,1}$	$\ell_{1,2}$	$\ell_{2,2}$	$\ell_{2,3}$	Φ_2			
2	1	1	2	1	1	3	1			
			2	1	1	2	$\frac{2}{3}$			

Assume that the shock processes are based on the non-homogeneous Poisson Processes (NHPP) which affect the PMS components of meta-type k with intensity function $\lambda_{i,k}(t)$ in phase i, i = 1, 2, 3. Let $\lambda_{1,1}(t) = 0.00017t^{0.7}$, $\lambda_{1,2}(t) = 0.00015t^{0.5}$, $\lambda_{2,2}(t) = 0.00013t^{0.3}$, and $\lambda_{2,3}(t) = 0.00011t^{0.1}$. The lifetimes of components of meta-type k are assumed to be independent of the process of shock's occurrence. Then,

$$\begin{split} P_r^{[1,1]}(t) &= e^{10^{-4}t^{1.7}} \frac{(10^{-4}t^{1.7})^r}{r!}, \\ P_r^{[1,2]}(t) &= e^{10^{-4}t^{1.5}} \frac{(10^{-4}t^{1.5})^r}{r!}, \\ P_r^{[2,2]}(t) &= e^{10^{-4}t^{1.3}} \frac{(10^{-4}t^{1.3})^r}{r!}, \\ P_r^{[2,3]}(t) &= e^{10^{-4}t^{1.1}} \frac{(10^{-4}t^{1.1})^r}{r!}. \end{split}$$

Figure 1 depicts the plots of $\bar{H}_a(t)$, $\bar{H}_s(t)$ and $\bar{H}(t)$, using relations (2), (6) and (4), respectively. We also compare the reliability of this PMS based on the different proposed models in Figure 2.



Figure 1: Reliability of the PMS in Example 2.3 based on the proposed models.



Figure 2: Comparison the reliability of PMS in Example 2.3 based on the proposed models.

References

 Bidarmaghz, H.R. and Zarezadeh, S. (2022), Reliability assessment of phased mission systems with ternary components. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers*, *Part O: Journal of Risk and Reliability*, Doi: 1748006X221082336.

- [2] Çekyay, B. and Özekici, S. (2010), Mean time to failure and availability of semi-Markov missions with maximal repair. *European Journal of Operational Research*, **207**(3), 1442–1454.
- [3] Chew, S.P. and Dunnett, S.J. and Andrews, J.D. (2008), Phased mission modelling of systems with maintenance-free operating periods using simulated petri nets. *Reliability Engineering and* System Safety, 93(7), 980–994.
- [4] Huang, X. and Aslett, L.J.M. and Coolen, F.P.A. (2019), Reliability analysis of general phased mission systems with a new survival signature. *Reliability Engineering and System Safety*, 189, 416422.
- [5] Huang, X. and Jin, S. and He, X. and He, D. (2019), Reliability analysis of coherent systems subject to internal failures and external shocks. *Reliability Engineering and System Safety*, 181, 7583.
- [6] Levitin, G., Xing, L. and Amari, S.V. and Dai, Y.S. (2013), Reliability of nonrepairable phasedmission systems with propagated failures. *Reliability Engineering and System Safety*,, 119, 218– 228.
- [7] Levitin, G. and Xing, L. and Xiang, Y. (2020), Series phased-mission systems with heterogeneous warm standby components. *Computers and Industrial Engineering*, **145**, 106552.
- [8] Meshkat, L. and Xing, L. and Donohue, S. and Ou, Y. (2003), An overview of the phase-modular fault tree approach to phased-mission system analysis. In: Proceedings International Conference on Space Mission Challenges for Information Technology, 393–398.
- [9] Ou, Y. and Dugan, J.B. (2004), Modular solution of dynamic multi-phase systems. *IEEE Trans*actions on Reliability, 53(4), 499–508.
- [10] Tang, Z. and Xu, H. and Dugan, J.B. (2005), Reliability analysis of phased mission systems with common cause failures. In Annual Reliability and Maintainability Symposium, Proceedings. IEEE, pp. 313–318.
- [11] Tavangar, M. and Hashemi, M. (2022), Reliability and maintenance analysis of coherent systems subject to aging and environmental shocks. *Reliability Engineering and System Safety*, 218, 108170.
- [12] Wang, C. and Xing, L. and Levitin, G. (2015). Probabilistic common cause failures in phasedmission systems. *Reliability Engineering and System Safety*, 144, 530–560.
- [13] Wu, X. and Yan, H. and Li, L. (2012), Numerical method for reliability analysis of phasedmission system using markov chains. *Communications in Statistics - Theory and Methods*, 41(21), 3960–3973.
- [14] Xing, L. (2007), Reliability evaluation of phased-mission systems with imperfect fault coverage and common-cause failures. *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, **56**(1), 58–68.
- [15] Xing, L. and Amari, S.V. (2008), Reliability of phased-mission systems. In Handbook of performability engineering (pp. 349–368), Springer, London.
- [16] Xing, L. and Levitin, G. (2013), BDD-based reliability evaluation of phased-mission systems with internal/external common-cause failures. *Reliability Engineering and System Safety*, **112**, 145–153.
- [17] Zang, X. and Sun, N. and Trivedi, K.S. (1999), A BDD-based algorithm for reliability analysis of phased mission systems. *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, 48(1), 50–60.



9th Seminar on Reliability Theory and its Applications

24-25 May 2023



A new discrete-time mixed δ -shock model

Entezari, M.¹ and Roozegar, R.²

^{1,2} Department of Statistics, Yazd University, Yazd, Iran

Abstract

In this paper, a mixed δ -shock model with discrete-time is studied by combining δ shock and extreme shock models. In this model, a system fails in two ways: first, when kinterarrival times between two consecutive shocks with magnitude larger than the critical threshold γ are in $[\delta_1, \delta_2], \delta_1 < \delta_2$; and second, when the interarrival time between two consecutive shocks is less than δ_1 . The lifetime of the system under the proposed mixed δ -shock model is investigated. Finally, a numerical example is presented.

Keywords: Discrete time, Interarrival times, Lifetime, Mixed δ -shock model

1 Introduction

A shock model is introduced to represent the operating system failure process. In reliability, four major shock models are studied: i) Shanthikumar and Sumita (1983) [12] and Gut (1990) [6] introduced the cumulative shock model; ii) Gut and Hüsler (1999) [7] studied an extreme shock model that results in the system failure if the magnitude of a shock is more than a threshold γ ; iii) the run shock model proposed by Mallor and Omey (2001) [10], and iv) the δ -shock model, a special type of shock model, in which the system fails if the interarrival time between two consecutive shocks is less than a critical threshold δ , and it is studied in detail by Li et al. (1999) [8], Wang and Zhang (2001) [13], Bai and Xiao (2008) [1] and Eryilmaz (2013) [3]. Eryilmaz (2012) [2] studied the life behavior of a system by assuming the arrival shocks to be a type of mixed shock model under the discrete probability

 $^{^{1}}me.125n2@gmail.com$

² rroozegar@yazd.ac.ir

distribution. Eryilmaz (2015) [4] surveyed three different discrete-time shock models in two ways: (i) shocks are independent, and (ii) shocks are Markov dependent. Lorvand et al. (2020) [9] investigated an extended discrete-time mixed δ -shock model. Eryilmaz and Kan (2021) [5] studied a mixed shock model for the case when the times between successive shocks and the magnitudes of shocks have discrete phase-type distributions.

The purpose of this paper is to discuss the discrete-time version of the introduced mixed δ -shock model by Roozegar et al. (2023) [11]. In this proposed mixed δ -shock model it is assumed that i) the magnitudes of arrival shocks are random, and ii) interarrival times between two consecutive shocks are independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.) sequence of geometric distribution with parameter p. According to the definition, the multi-state system would fail in two ways: first, when k interarrival times between two consecutive shocks with a magnitude larger than the critical threshold γ are in $[\delta_1, \delta_2], \delta_1 < \delta_2$; and second, when the interarrival time between two consecutive shocks is less than δ_1 .

The rest of this paper is as following. We investigate the lifetime of the system under this discretetime mixed δ -shock model in Section 3. In Section 5, an example is established to evaluate the results. Finally, the concluding remarks of this paper are presented in Section 4.

We will use the following terms to examine the properties of the behavior of the lifetime of this mixed δ -shock model:

N	Number of interarrival times between two consecutive shocks
	until the system fails completely
Z_i	The magnitude of the i th shock
X_i	Interarrival time between the $(i-1)$ th and <i>i</i> th shocks, for $i = 1, 2,$
δ_j	The critical threshold for δ -shock, $j = 1, 2$
γ	The critical threshold for shock magnitude
k	Number of interarrival times between two consecutive shocks
	with our considered condition $\delta_1 < X_i < \delta_2, Z_i > \gamma$
T	Lifetime of the system
F	Cumulative distribution function

2 The behavior of the system's lifetime

To obtain the lifetime of this discrete-time mixed δ -shock model, let N denote the number of interarrival times between two successive shocks that cause the system to fail. So, N = n means that n shocks arrived at the system. Then, it can be enumerated as follows, for $j = 0, 1, \ldots, k - 1$ and $l = 0, 1, \ldots, n - j - 1$:

$$\begin{split} (N = n) = & \left[k - 1 \ of \ (n - 1) \ (X_i, Z_i) \ are \ (\delta_1 < X_i < \delta_2, Z_i > \gamma) \\ & and \ \left\{ j \ of \ n - k \ (X_i, Z_i) \ are \ (\delta_1 < X_i < \delta_2, Z_i < \gamma) \\ & and \ n - k - j \ of \ n - k \ (X_i, Z_i) \ are \ X_i > \delta_2) \right\} \\ & and \ \delta_1 < X_n < \delta_2, Z_n > \gamma \right] \\ & \cup & \left[k - 1 \ of \ (n - 1)(X_i, Z_i) \ are \ (\delta_1 < X_i < \delta_2, Z_i > \gamma) \\ & and \ \left\{ j \ of \ n - k \ (X_i, Z_i) \ are \ (\delta_1 < X_i < \delta_2, Z_i < \gamma) \\ & and \ n - k - j \ of \ n - k \ (X_i, Z_i) \ are \ X_i > \delta_2) \right\} \ and \ X_n < \delta_1 \right] \\ & \cup & \left[j \ of \ (n - 1) \ (X_i, Z_i) \ are \ (\delta_1 < X_i < \delta_2, Z_i > \gamma) \\ & and \ n - k - j \ of \ n - k \ (X_i, Z_i) \ are \ X_i < \delta_2, Z_i > \gamma) \\ & and \ \left\{ l \ of \ n - j - 1 \ (X_i, Z_i) \ are \ (\delta_1 < X_i < \delta_2, Z_i < \gamma) \\ & and \ \left\{ l \ of \ n - j - 1 \ (X_i, Z_i) \ are \ (\delta_1 < X_i < \delta_2, Z_i < \gamma) \\ & and \ (n - j - 1 - l) \ of \ n - j - 1 \ (X_i, Z_i) \ are \ X_i > \delta_2) \right\} \ and \ X_n < \delta_1 \right]. \end{split}$$

The following Theorem derived the pmf of lifetime of this discrete-time mixed δ -shock model according to the definition of N.

Theorem 2.1. Suppose X_i s are the interarrival times between two consecutive shocks and Z_i s are the magnitudes of shocks and these are mutually independent, for $i = 1, 2, \dots$. Let $T = \sum_{i=1}^{N} X_i$ be the lifetime of the system. Then, the pmf of the system's lifetime is as follows:

$$P(T=n) = \sum_{i=k+1}^{\left[\frac{n+(k+1)(\delta_2-\delta_1)}{(\delta_2-\delta_1)+1}\right]} {\binom{i-2}{k-1}} \left[\sum_{l=0}^{\min(k,\left[\frac{n-i-(i-(k+1))(\delta_2-\delta_1)}{(\delta_2-\delta_1)}\right])} {(-1)^l \binom{k}{l}} \right] \\ \times \left(\binom{n-(i-(k-l)-1)(\delta_2-\delta_1)-1}{i-1} p^i (1-p)^{n-i} F^{i-k}(\gamma) \bar{F}^k(\gamma) \right] \\ + \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \sum_{i=j+1}^{\left[\frac{n+(j+1)(\delta_2-\delta_1)}{(\delta_2-\delta_1)+1}\right]} {\binom{i-1}{j}} \left[\sum_{l=0}^{\min(j,\left[\frac{n-i-(i-(j+1))(\delta_2-\delta_1)}{(\delta_2-\delta_1)}\right])} {(-1)^l \binom{j}{l}} \right] \\ \times \left(\binom{n-(i-(j-1)-1)(\delta_2-\delta_1)-1}{i-1} p^i (1-p)^{n-i} F^{i-j-1}(\gamma) \bar{F}^j(\gamma). \right)$$
(1)

3 Computational results

In this section, an example of this study is carried out to validate the analytical results obtained here. It is assumed that the interarrival times X_1, X_2, \cdots and the magnitudes of shocks Z_1, Z_2, \cdots are i.i.d. random variables having the geometric and the exponential distribution with the probability p = 0.8and mean 0.5, respectively, and that they are also mutually independent.

Figure 1 presents the pmf of system lifetime P(T = n) for $\delta_1 = 2$, $\delta_2 = 4$, $\gamma = 0.2$, $\lambda = 2$, p = 0.8 with respect to k = 1, 2, 3, 4. As can be observed, the system's lifetime decreases when k increasing.

Figure 2 displays the plot of P(T = n) with respect to $\gamma = 0.2, 0.5, 0.8, 1$. As shown, the system's lifetime decreases when γ increasing. Also, the plot of P(T = n) is shown in Figure 3 with respect to k = 2, 3, 4 where the system's lifetime decreases when k increasing. In addition, with increasing interarrival time $[\delta_1, \delta_2]$ the lifetime of the system increases.



Figure 1: The P(T = n) when $\delta_1 = 2, \delta_2 = 4, \gamma = 0.2, \lambda = 2, p = 0.8$ and for different values of k.



Figure 2: The P(T = n) when $\delta_1 = 2, \delta_2 = 4, \lambda = 2, p = 0.8$ and for different values of γ .



Figure 3: The P(T = n) when $\gamma = 0.2, \lambda = 2, p = 0.8$ and for different values of k.

4 Conclusion

In this study, a mixed δ -shock model with discrete-time is defined by combining δ -shock and extreme shock models, such that it causes the failure of a multi-state system in two ways: first, when k interarrival times between two consecutive shocks with a magnitude of shock larger than threshold γ is in $[\delta_1, \delta_2]$, and second, when the time among two consecutive shocks is less than δ_1 . By assuming that the shocks occur independently and randomly with the magnitude Z_i and the interarrival times among two consecutive shocks X_i which are i.i.d. random variables, we have derived explicit expressions for the lifetime of the proposed mixed δ -shock model for system's lifetime.

References

- Bai, J.M. and Xiao, H.M. (2008), A class of new cumulative shock models and its application in insurance risk. *Journal-Lanzhou University Natural Sciences*, 44(1), 132-136.
- [2] Eryilmaz, S. (2012), Life behavior of a system under discrete shock model. Discrete Dynamics in Nature and Society, 2012.
- [3] Eryilmaz, S. (2013), On the lifetime behaviour of discrete time shock model. *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, **237**, 384-388.
- [4] Eryilmaz, S. (2015), Discrete time shock models involving runs. Statistics and Probability Letters, 107, 93-100.
- [5] Eryilmaz, S. and Kan, C. (2021), Reliability assessment for discrete time shock models via phasetype distributions. Applied Stochastic Models in Business and Industry, 37(3), 513-524.
- [6] Gut, A. (1990), Cumulative shock models. Advances in Applied Probability, 22(2), 504-507.
- [7] Gut, A. and Hüsler, J. (1999), Extreme shock models. *Extremes*, 2, 293-305.
- [8] Li, Z.H., Chan, L.Y. and Yuan, Z.X. (1999), Failure time distribution under a δ -shock model and its application to economic design of system. *International Journal of Reliability, Quality and* Safety Engineering, **6**(03), 237-247.
- [9] Lorvand, H., Nematollahi, A.R. and Poursaeed, M.H. (2020), Assessment of a generalized discrete time mixed δ -shock model for the multi-state systems. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, **366**, 112415.
- [10] Mallor, F. and Omey, E. (2001), Shocks, runs and random sums. Journal of Applied Probability, 38(2), 438-448.
- [11] Roozegar, R., Entezari, M. and Nadarajah, S. (2023), A new mixed δ -shock model and associated reliability properties. *Stochastic Models*, 1-29.
- [12] Shanthikumar, J.G. and Sumita, U. (1983), General shock-models associated with correlated renewal sequences. *Journal of Applied Probability*, **20**(3), 600-614.
- [13] Wang, G.J. and Zhang, Y.L. (2001), δ-shock model and its optimal replacement policy. Journal Southeast University, 31, 121-124.



9th Seminar on Reliability Theory and its Applications



24-25 May 2023

System survival probability based on mission abort policy

Karimi, A.¹ and Tavangar, M.²

 1,2 Department of Statistics, Faculty of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Isfahan, Isfahan, Iran

Abstract

In this talk, we focus on the importance of system survivability in critical systems, such as satellites and aircraft, where failure can result in significant economic loss and human damage. We propose a mission abort policy as an effective means to enhance system survivability and reduce the risk of system failure. Specifically, we consider a coherent system with n components and abort the system mission if L components fail. Our approach provides insights into the design of mission abort policies that can improve system survivability and reduce economic losses.

Keywords: Mission abort policy, Signature vector, Mission success probability, System survival probability

1 Introduction

The survivability of critical systems takes precedence over completing a mission when failure during the mission can result in significant economic loss and potential harm to human lives and the environment. Examples of critical systems include spaceships, aircraft, drones, satellites, and data processing computer systems, where failure can lead to damage or loss of these objects. A mission abort policy

¹m.amin.karimi@sci.ui.ac.ir

²m.tavangar@sci.ui.ac.ir
can be implemented when a certain malfunction condition occurs or a certain number of components fail, followed by a rescue procedure to save the system and prevent casualties, economic loss, and environmental hazards. The mission success probability is a crucial metric for evaluating the performance of critical systems, representing the probability of successfully completing a mission within a specific time frame. Previous studies by Levitin et al. (2014), Peng et al. (2016), and Liu et al. (2018) have focused on maximizing the mission success probability. Our paper emphasizes the importance of system survivability and proposes a mission abort policy as an effective approach to enhance the survivability of critical systems and reduce potential losses. Previous studies on evaluating mission success probability have not considered the impact of mission abort policy on system survival probability and mission success probability. Traditional models focus solely on mission success probability without accounting for the effectiveness of mission abort policies in enhancing system survivability. Thus, computing mission success probability based on a mission abort policy is not a typical reliability problem. A new approach is needed to accurately evaluate the performance of critical systems and the effectiveness of mission abort policies and enhancing system survivability.

In critical systems, completing missions within a specified time frame is crucial. Mission abort policies can enhance system survivability by minimizing the potential for system failures and increasing the system's chance of survival in hazardous environments. This policy can effectively reduce economic losses by improving the system's survival probability and providing greater protection against risk. Additionally, mission abort policies can improve efficiency and reliability, leading to reduced operating costs. Myers' seminal work in 2009 on mission abort policies for a k-out-of-n system with an exponential distribution demonstrated the effectiveness of such policies in reducing overall failure probability compared to systems without abort policies. This work laid the foundation for further investigations into mission abort policies for complex systems with multiple sources of uncertainty. Mission abort policies have proven to enhance the reliability of critical systems and expand their capabilities to various tasks. Levitin et al. (2018) extended the mission abort model to heterogeneous systems and adaptive abort policies, but their model did not consider the dynamic nature of stochastic environments and their impact on system behavior and performance. To overcome this limitation, further investigation is needed to explore the effects of stochasticity on the operation, optimization, and control of adaptive abort policies in heterogeneous systems. Levitin and Finkelstein (2018) investigated the mission abort policy based on the generalized extreme shock model and incorporated the effect of the environment. However, their work did not account for the variability of the environment, which can significantly impact the performance of the mission abort policy in real-world scenarios.

Previous studies have investigated the application of the generalized extreme shock model and the duration of a defective state. Recently, Karimi and Tavangar (2023) extended and analyzed the mission abort policy for a coherent system. In situations where a certain number of components fail, a mission may need to be aborted to reduce the risk of system failure, requiring the immediate activation of a rescue procedure. Samaniego (2007) and Kochar et al. (1990) obtained the reliability function of a coherent system based on the signature vector of the system.

A main tool in studying coherent systems is the concept of signature. Suppose a coherent system consists of n components whose failure times $X_1, X_2, ..., X_n$ are independent and identically distributed with a common continuous distribution F(t), and assume that $X_{1:n}, X_{2:n}, ..., X_{n:n}$ denote the order statistics corresponding to X_i 's. The system signature is defined as

$$s_i = P(T = X_{i:n}), \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n,$$
(1)

where T denotes the system lifetime. In fact, s_i is the probability that the component with lifetime $X_{i:n}$ causes the system failure. The probability vector $\underline{s} = (s_1, s_2, ..., s_n)$ is then called the signature vector of such a coherent system. It can be verified that $s_i = \frac{n_i}{n!}$, where n_i is the number of ways that distinct $X_1, X_2, ..., X_n$ can be ordered so that the *i*th ordered quantity corresponds to the system

failure. Then, the reliability function $\overline{F}_T(t)$ of the system can be represented as

$$\bar{F}_T(t) = P(T > t) = \sum_{i=1}^n s_i P(X_{i:n} > t).$$
(2)

In this talk, we present a novel age-based system for computing the system survival probability and mission success probability of a coherent system. We propose an extended mission abort policy to provide a detailed analysis of the system's behavior, including the probability of completing the rescue procedure. We also investigate and discuss various stochastic order properties of the rescue procedure.

2 Main results

In critical systems, the survival of the system is paramount, as failure can result in significant economic loss. This paper considers a coherent system with n components that perform a fixed duration t_M (mission duration) under adverse environmental conditions, such as electric shock and lightning. To enhance system survivability and minimize potential losses, Karimi and Tavangar (2023) proposed a mission abort policy that triggers the rescue or recovery procedure if a predetermined number of components (L components) fail then, in order to increase the survival of the system and decrease the loss of the system, the mission must be aborted and immediately must be activated the rescue or recovery procedure. Note that we treat the parameter L as a decision variable, enabling us to optimize the mission abort policy effectively. In the following, some important criteria are developed under the aforementioned assumptions.

2.1 Mission Success Probability (MSP)

The probability of mission success is a critical performance metric for evaluating the reliability of a system, representing the likelihood of completing a specific mission within or before a given deadline. To compute the probability of mission success, one must consider whether the system's total life expectancy exceeds the mission duration t_M and whether the life expectancy of the *L*th component is also greater than t_M , where $1 \leq L \leq n-1$. Ensuring that both of these criteria are met can significantly improve system reliability. The mission success probability is defined as

$$MSP = R(t_M, L) = \mathbb{P}(T > t_M, X_{L:n} > t_M)$$
$$= \bar{S}_L \mathbb{P}(X_{L:n} > t_M) + \sum_{j=1}^L s_j \mathbb{P}(X_{j:n} > t_M)$$

where $\bar{S}_L = \sum_{j=L+1}^n s_j$. It can be verified that the MSP can also be written as (see Karimi and Tavangar, 2023)

$$MSP = \sum_{k=0}^{L-1} \bar{S}_k \binom{n}{k} (F(t_M))^k (\bar{F}(t_M))^{n-k}.$$
 (3)

Notice that, as expected, the MSP is decreasing in t_M ; that is, the mission success probability of the system declines with increasing the mission duration. Also, the MSP is increasing in $L \in \{1, 2, ..., n-1\}$. This follows easily from the fact that

$$[T > t_M, X_{L:n} > t_M] \subseteq [T > t_M, X_{L+1:n} > t_M].$$

In the next theorem, we compared two coherent n-component systems based on their mission success probabilities.

Theorem 2.1. (Karimi and Tavangar, 2023) Let S_1 and S_2 be two coherent systems with respective signature vectors \mathbf{s}_1 and \mathbf{s}_2 . Suppose that F and G are the common distributions of component lifetimes of S_1 and S_2 , respectively. If $\mathbf{s}_1 \leq_{\text{st}} \mathbf{s}_2$ and $F \leq_{\text{st}} G$, then $MSP^{(1)} \leq MSP^{(2)}$, where $MSP^{(j)}$ is the mission success probability corresponding to system S_j , j = 1, 2.

2.2 Rescue Procedure (RP)

The rescue protocol is activated only when the *L*th component of the system fails at an unforeseeable time t_F (the time at which mission abort occurs) before the mission termination time t_M . For a coherent system, the system does not fail during this period if the difference between the system's lifetime and the failure time of the *L*th component exceeds a fixed time t_R (duration of recovery or rescue period), provided that the system's lifetime exceeds that of the *L*th component and the *L*th order statistic should be less than t_M . Specifically, the system's lifetime must be greater than or equal to $t_F + t_R$. It is important to note that the initiation and duration of the rescue procedure cannot be predetermined before the mission starts, emphasizing the need for an adaptive mission abort policy that can effectively improve system survivability and reduce potential losses. The RP is defined as

$$RP = \mathbb{P}(T - X_{L:n} > t_R \mid T > X_{L:n}, X_{L:n} < t_M)$$
$$= \mathbb{P}(T - X_{L:n} > t_R \mid X_{L:n} < min(T, t_M))$$

2.3 System survival probability (SSP)

The system survival probability is the probability that the mission and its associated rescue procedure will be completed successfully. In other words, it captures the probability of success for a given mission and any related rescue protocols.

$$SSP = S(t_M, L, t_R) = \mathbb{P}[(T > t_M, X_{L:n} > t_M) \cup (T - X_{L:n} > t_R, X_{L:n} < min(T, t_M))] = MSP + RP \times \mathbb{P}[X_{L:n} < min(T, t_M)],$$

Where the second term represents the probability that the rescue procedure can successfully save the system. The formula for the computation of RP and SSP along with their basic properties can be found in Karimi and Tavangar (2023).

3 Examples

In this section, we provide some examples to examine the theoretical results of previous sections. Suppose there are two bridge systems connected in parallel, and each system consists of components that follow a Weibull distribution with shape parameter 1 and scale parameter 1 (the exponential distribution). The signature vector for this parallel system can be calculated as follows:

$$s = (0, 4/45, 19/90, 3/10, 86/315, 34/315, 2/105, 0, 0, 0)$$

We have also determined the mission success probability for this system, which is plotted in Figure 1. If the mission abort occurs at the first order statistic (i.e., the first component failure), the probability of mission success is the lowest. This is because a mission abort at this early stage indicates a critical failure that may have a significant impact on the success of the mission. On the other hand, as the order statistic for mission abort increases (i.e., the mission can continue despite more components failing), the probability of completing the mission also increases. This is because the system is still functioning despite the loss of one or more components, which indicates a higher level of redundancy and resilience in the system



Figure 1: Mission success probability for L = 1 (Blue), L = 3 (Green), L = 5 (Red), L = 7 (Black).

We also determined the probability of completing the rescue procedure for different scenarios where the mission abort occurs at different order statistics, as shown in Figure 2. As expected, the probability of completing the rescue method is higher when the mission abort occurs at the first order statistic, indicating a critical failure that has a significant impact on the rescue procedure's success. Conversely, if the mission abort occurs at a higher order statistic, the probability of completing the rescue method decreases. This is because the system has experienced multiple failures, indicating a lower level of redundancy and resilience, which can increase the risk of further failures and reduce the likelihood of completing the rescue procedure successfully. Understanding the impact of order statistics on the probability of completing the rescue procedure is crucial in designing reliable and robust systems for emergency situations. By considering the order statistics and designing systems with redundancy and resilience, we can improve the probability of mission success and ensure the safety and security of the rescue operation and its personnel.



Figure 2: Rescue procedure for L = 1 (Blue), L = 3 (Green), L = 5 (Red), L = 7 (Black).

References

- [1] Karimi, A. and Tavangar, M. (2023). Mission abort policy for *n*-component coherent systems. Submitted.
- Kochar, S. C. (1990). Some partial ordering results on record values. Communications in Statistics: Theory and Methods, 19(1), 299–306.
- [3] Levitin, G., Xing, L., Johnson, B. W. and Dai, Y. (2014). Mission reliability, cost and time for cold standby computing systems with periodic backup. *IEEE Transactions on Computers*, 64(4), 1043–1057.
- [4] Levitin, G. and Finkelstein, M. (2018). Optimal mission abort policy for systems operating in a random environment. *Risk Analysis*, 38(4), 795–803.
- [5] Levitin, G., Finkelstein, M. and Dai, Y. (2018). Mission abort policy balancing the uncompleted mission penalty and system loss risk. *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, **176**, 194–201.
- [6] Liu, Y., Chen, Y. and Jiang, T. (2018). On sequence planning for selective maintenance of multistate systems under stochastic maintenance durations. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 268(1), 113–127.
- [7] Myers, A. (2009). Probability of loss assessment of critical k-out-of-n: G systems having a mission abort policy. *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, 58 (4), 694–701.
- [8] Peng, R. , Zhai, Q. , Xing, L. and Yang, J. (2016). Reliability analysis and optimal structure of series-parallel phased-mission systems subject to fault-level coverage. *IIE Transactions*, 48(8), 736–746.
- [9] Samaniego, F. J. (2007). System Signatures and Their Applications in Engineering Reliability. Springer, New York.



9th Seminar on Reliability Theory and its Applications



24-25 May 2023

Emprical estimators for multi-component conditional stress-strength parameter

Khorshidian, K. 1 $\,$ and Taheri Saif Abad, M. 2

^{1,2} Department of Statistics, Faculty of Science, University of Shiraz, Shiraz, Iran

Abstract

In many of reliability models, there exist certain information about the strength and stresses that experienced by the system. We are interested in how the model functions via these extra information or whether employing them does improve the performance of the system. In the present study the conditional stress-strength parameter have been investigated for s of k systems and the multi-component conditional stress-strength parameter (MCCSSP) has been estimated by using the Bayesian and non-parametric methods. In the case of having extra information about the parameters of the system, a closed form has been derived for the Bayes estimator of MCCSSP and has been calculated by using an algorithm together with Monte Carlo method. For simplicity, it has been done under the assumption of exponential distributions for the strength and stress random variables and gamma conjugates. For the case of non-exponential or general stress or strengths, the nonparametric estimator of the considered parameter has been derived. Finally to verify the analytic results, some simulation study for the Bayes estimator as well as nonparametric estimation of a real data set and some comparisons have been done.

Keywords: Conditional Reliability, Multi-Component Systems, Stress-Strength Parameter, Nonparametric Estimator, Bayes Estimator.

¹khorshidian@shirazu.ac.ir

 $^{^{2}} taherisa if morteza @gmail.com\\$

1 Introduction

The effects of resistance and shocks which enter to a system are usually studied via a stress-strength model. Due to the application of this model in various fields of science and technologies, recently they have been studied a lot. In such models, when the stress that experienced by the system have been represented by a random variable (RV) X and its strength by the RV Y, the stress-strength parameter is denoted by R = P(X > Y), it measures the chance of the system failure. For the majority of the well-known distributions, including Normal, Exponential, Pareto, Uniform, Weibull, Gamma, Beta, logistic, and Laplace, R has been studied by [3].

There are situations that one have some information about the stress and strength RV's and knows that they are greater than some pre-specified values, or one wants to know how much a system can be reliable when stress and strength increase or decrease. In view of such conditions, the conditional stress-strength parameter was introduced by [4] as:

$$R^{|a,b} = P(X > Y \mid X > a, Y > b).$$
⁽¹⁾

The reliability of a multi-component stress-strength model was first developed by [1]. In this article, we have focussed on the non-parametric and Bayes estimation of conditional stress-strength parameter in multi-component systems and employ certain available information. The introduction of MCCSSP as well as many other of its properties and behaviors can be found in [2].

The structure of this article is as follows: Some notation and formulas concerning MCCSSP will have been provided in Section 2. In Section 3, the Bayes estimator of this parameter has been obtained by adopting an algorithm and by using the Monte Carlo method. The corresponding nonparametric estimator of this parameter has been obtained in Section 4. Section 5 is devoted to the presentation of some simulation studies on the Bayesian and nonparametric estimators and their comparison. Some numerical results for a real data-set have been presented in Section 6. Finally in Section 7, some concluding remarks have been given.

2 The MCCSSP

The results of this section can be found in [2], where the MCCSSP will have been defined together with a general formula for its computation.

Definition 2.1. Consider the independent RV's $X_1, ..., X_k$ with common continuous distribution function $F(\cdot)$, independent of continuous RV Y with distribution function $G(\cdot)$. The MCCSSP is defined as:

$$R_{s,k}^{|a,b} = P(\text{at least s of } X_1, ..., X_k \text{ exceed } Y \mid X_1 > a, ..., X_k > a, Y > b).$$
(2)

A formula for computing (2) has been presented in the following theorem.

Theorem 2.2. If $R_{a,b}^{|s,k}$ is defined by (2), then

$$R_{s,k}^{|a,b} = \begin{cases} \frac{\sum_{i=s}^{k} {k \choose i} \int_{b}^{\infty} [1-F(y)]^{i} [F(y)-F(b)]^{k-i} dG(y)}{[1-F(a)]^{k} [1-G(b)]} & a \le b\\ \frac{\sum_{i=s}^{k} {k \choose i} (\int_{a}^{\infty} [G(x)-G(b)] dF(x))^{i} (\int_{a}^{\infty} [1-G(x)] dF(x))^{k-i}}{[1-F(a)]^{k} [1-G(b)]} & a > b \end{cases}$$
(3)

According to the calculations resulting in the formula (3), if X_1, \ldots, X_k have different distributions, it is not easy to calculate the analogous of this formula. In practice, there are some situations in them X_i and Y have the same distributions, so in what follows, the formula (3) has been presented when X_1, \ldots, X_k and Y have the same distributions. **Corollary 2.3.** Suppose that the continuous RV's $X_1, ..., X_k$ and Y are independent and identically distributed with probability density function(pdf) f(.) and cumulative distribution function(cdf) F(.). Then,

$$R_{s,k}^{|a,b} = \begin{cases} \frac{\sum_{i=s}^{k} {k \choose i} \int_{F(b)}^{1} [1-y]^{i} [y-F(b)]^{k-i} dy}{[1-F(a)]^{k} [1-F(b)]}, & a \le b\\ (\frac{1}{2})^{k} \frac{\sum_{i=s}^{k} {k \choose i} [1-2F(b)+F(a)]^{i} [1-F(a)]^{k-i}}{[1-F(b)]}, & a > b. \end{cases}$$

$$\tag{4}$$

The exponential RV is the most exploited lifetime distribution, so in the sake of simplicity and wide applications the measure (3) has been evaluated for the exponentially distributed stresses and strength RV's with different parameters. The probability density and cumulative distribution functions of a random variable $X \sim E(\alpha)$ are denoted by: $f(x) = \alpha e^{-\alpha x}$, and $F(x) = 1 - e^{-\alpha x}$ where $x \ge 0, \alpha > 0$.

Corollary 2.4. Suppose that $X_i \sim E(\lambda_1)$ for i = 1, ..., k and $Y \sim E(\lambda_2)$ are independent, we have:

$$R_{s,k}^{|a,b} = \begin{cases} \lambda_2 e^{-\lambda_1 k(b-a)} \sum_{i=s}^k \sum_{j=0}^{k-i} {k \choose i,j} \frac{(-1)^j}{\lambda_1(i+j)+\lambda_2} & a \le b\\ e^{-\lambda_2 (ak-b)} [\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_1+\lambda_2}]^k \sum_{i=s}^k {k \choose i} [\frac{\lambda_1+\lambda_2}{\lambda_1} e^{-\lambda_2 (b-a)} - 1]^i & a > b. \end{cases}$$
(5)

3 Bayes Estimation

In this section, the Bayesian estimation of the reliability parameter (5) has been considered. Suppose that the parameters λ_1 and λ_2 are RV's, and have independent Gamma prior distributions with parameters $(\alpha_i, \beta_i), i = 1, 2$ respectively. The pdf of a random variable $X \sim Gamma(\alpha_i, \beta_i)$ is denoted by:

$$\pi(x) = \frac{\beta_i^{\alpha_i}}{\Gamma(\alpha_i)} x^{\alpha_i - 1} e^{-\beta_i x} \qquad x > 0, \, \alpha_i > 0, \, \beta_i > 0.$$

The joint posterior density function of the parameters based on this prior density and the likelihood function can be written as follows:

$$\pi^*(\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \mid \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \frac{\pi(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})}{\int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty \pi(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) d\lambda_1 d\lambda_2}$$

where

$$\pi(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \pi(\lambda_1)\pi(\lambda_2)L(\lambda_1, \lambda_2)$$

$$\propto \lambda_1^{\alpha_1 + n - 1} e^{-\lambda_1(\beta_1 + \sum_{i=1}^n x_i)} \lambda_2^{\alpha_2 + m - 1} e^{-\lambda_2(\beta_2 + \sum_{j=1}^m y_j)}.$$

After some calculus, one can see that the posterior density functions of λ_1 and λ_2 respectively are as:

$$\pi^*(\lambda_1|\lambda_2, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \propto \Gamma(\alpha_1 + n, \beta_1 + \sum_{i=1}^n x_i),$$
$$\pi^*(\lambda_2|\lambda_1, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \propto \Gamma(\alpha_2 + m, \beta_2 + \sum_{j=1}^m y_j).$$

The Bayes estimator of $R_{s,k}^{|a,b}$ under the squared error loss (SEL) is obtained as:

$$\tilde{R}_{s,k}^{|a,b} = E(R_{s,k}^{|a,b}|\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}) = \int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty R_{s,k}^{|a,b} \pi^*(\lambda_1,\lambda_2 \mid \mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}) d\lambda_1 d\lambda_2.$$
(6)

It is not possible to calculate equation (6) analytically. Therefore, to compute the Bayes estimate of reliability parameter $R_{s,k}^{|a,b}$, a Monte Carlo (MC) method has been adopted as follows:

Step 1: Set l=1.

- Step 2: Generate X_1, \ldots, X_n from $Exp(\lambda_1)$.
- Step 3: Generate Y_1, \ldots, Y_m from $Exp(\lambda_2)$.
- Step 4: Generate λ_1^l from $Gamma(\alpha_1 + n, \beta_1 + \sum_{i=1}^n x_i)$. Step 5: Generate λ_2^l from $Gamma(\alpha_2 + m, \beta_2 + \sum_{j=1}^m y_j)$.
- Step 6: Compute $R_{s,k}^{l|a,b}$ at $(\lambda_1^l, \lambda_2^l)$.

Step 7:
$$l=l+1$$

Step 8: Repeat Steps 2 to 7, M times and obtain the posterior sample $R_{s,k}^{l|a,b}$ for l = 1, ..., M. Now the Bayes estimate of $R_{s,k}^{|a,b}$ with respect to SEL will be obtained as follows:

$$\tilde{R}_{s,k}^{|a,b} = \frac{1}{M} \sum_{l=1}^{M} R_{s,k}^{l|a,b}.$$
(7)

Nonparametric Estimation 4

In this section a nonparametric method for estimating $R_{s,k}^{|a,b}$ has been presented. Let n(.) be the counting measure. For the sample space **S** and the event **D** as a subset of **S** the nonparametric estimator of $P(\mathbf{D})$ is defined as $\hat{P}(\mathbf{D}) = \frac{n(\mathbf{D})}{n(\mathbf{S})}$. To obtain the nonparametric estimator of MCCSSP, one may write (2) in the form:

$$R_{s,k}^{|a,b} = \frac{P(\text{at least } s \text{ of } X_1, \dots, X_k \text{ exceed } Y, X_1 > a, \dots, X_k > a, Y > b)}{P(X_1 > a, \dots, X_k > a)P(Y > b)},$$
(8)

where $P(X_1 > a, ..., X_k > a) P(Y > b) > 0$.

Let $\mathbf{A} = \{(x_1, \dots, x_k, y) \mid \text{ at least s of } x_1, \dots, x_k \text{ exceed } y, x_1 > a, \dots, x_k > a, y > b\}, \mathbf{B} = \{(x_1, \dots, x_k, y) \mid a \in \mathbb{N}\}$ $\{(x_1,\ldots,x_k) \mid x_1 > a,\ldots,x_k > a\}$ and $\mathbf{C} = \{y \mid y > b\}$. The nonparametric estimator of (8) can be written as follows:

$$R_{s,k}^{NP|a,b} = \frac{n(\mathbf{A})}{n(\mathbf{B})n(\mathbf{C})}.$$
(9)

Let $X_{1i}, ..., X_{ki} \sim X$ for i = 1, ..., n and $Y_1, ..., Y_m \sim Y$ be independent random samples. Also, let I(E) be the indicator function of the event E. We have:

$$n(\mathbf{B}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} I(X_{1i} > a, \dots, X_{ki} > a),$$
(10)

$$n(\mathbf{C}) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \mathrm{I}(Y_j > b), \tag{11}$$

and by the properties of the indicator function:

$$n(\mathbf{A}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \mathrm{I}(\text{s of } X_{1i}, ..., X_{ki} \text{ exceed } Y_j) \mathrm{I}(X_{1i} > a, ..., X_{ki} > a) \mathrm{I}(Y_j > b) + ...$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \mathrm{I}(\text{k of } X_{1i}, ..., X_{ki} \text{ exceed } Y_j) \mathrm{I}(X_{1i} > a, ..., X_{ki} > a) \mathrm{I}(Y_j > b).$$
(12)

Let $\mathbf{X}_i = (X_{1i}, \ldots, X_{ki})$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Those observations \mathbf{X}_i and Y_j for them both $\mathbf{X}_i \leq a$ and $Y_j \leq b$ simultaneously, have been removed in calculating $n(\mathbf{A})$, since in details of calculating $P(\mathbf{A})$ or $R_{s,k}^{NP|a,b} = \frac{n(\mathbf{A})}{n(\mathbf{B})n(\mathbf{C})}$, the numerator is an strict subset of denominator. Note that in this case the values of the second and third indicators will automatically equal one in $n(\mathbf{A})$, (12). It is worth noting that the number of remained samples of \mathbf{X}_i and Y_j are $n(\mathbf{B})$ and $n(\mathbf{C})$, so $n(\mathbf{A})$ can be written as follows:

$$n(\mathbf{A}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n(\mathbf{B})} \sum_{j=1}^{n(\mathbf{C})} I(\text{s of } X_{1i}, ..., X_{ki} \text{ exceed } Y_j) + ... \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n(\mathbf{B})} \sum_{j=1}^{n(\mathbf{C})} I(\text{k of } X_{1i}, ..., X_{ki} \text{ exceed } Y_j).$$

In the case of n = m, the formula (9) may have simpler form and computations, since we only keep those $(X_{1i}, ..., X_{ki}, Y_i)$ i = 1, ..., n which for them $(X_{1i} > a, ..., X_{ki} > a, Y_i > b)$ and remove the rest and also $n(\mathbf{B}) = n(\mathbf{C})$.

In what follows, we introduce a definition and representation for non-parametric estimator of multicomponent stress-strength parameter. To the best of our knowledge, interestingly this estimator has not been defined till now.

Definition 4.1. The nonparametric estimator of $R_{s,k}$ is defined as follows:

$$R_{s,k}^{NP} = \frac{n(\mathbf{A})}{n(\mathbf{B})n(\mathbf{C})} \tag{13}$$

where $n(\mathbf{B}) = n$, $n(\mathbf{C}) = m$ and

$$n(\mathbf{A}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} I(\text{s of } X_{1i}, ..., X_{ki} \text{ exceed } Y_j) + \dots + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} I(\text{k of } X_{1i}, ..., X_{ki} \text{ exceed } Y_j).$$

Note that (13) can be obtained from (9) by assuming a = b = 0.

In applications, the data observed for different stresses may differ greatly in their values. Therefore, selecting a minimum value of a, w.r.t. it all stresses in MCCSSP through definition 1, satisfy the corresponding condition $X_i > a$, may be not useful. So, in what follows, the MCCSSP has been defined in some general way to be more realistic and applicable.

Definition 4.2. The generalized conditional multi-component stress-strength parameter is defined as follows:

$$R_{s,k}^{|a_1,...,a_k,b} = P(\text{at least s of } X_1,...,X_k \text{ exceed } Y \mid X_1 > a_1,...,X_k > a_k, Y > b)$$
(14)

where the RV's $Y, X_1, ..., X_k$ are independent, $G(\cdot)$ is the continuous distribution function of Y and $F(\cdot)$ is the common continuous distribution function of $X_1, ..., X_k$.

Theorem 4.3. If $X_{ri} > max(a_1, ..., a_k)$ for r = 1, ..., k; i = 1, ..., n and $Y_j > b$ for j = 1, ..., m then $R_{s,k}^{NP|a_1,...,a_k,b} = R_{s,k}^{NP}$.

Proof. Replace $I(X_{1i} > a_1, ..., X_{ki} > a_k)$ with $I(X_{1i} > a, ..., X_{ki} > a)$ in (10) and (12). Since $I(X_{1i} > a_1, ..., X_{ki} > a_k) = 1$ and $I(Y_j > b) = 1$ we have $n(\mathbf{B}) = n$, $n(\mathbf{C}) = m$ and $n(\mathbf{A}) = \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m I(\text{s of } X_{1i}, ..., X_{ki} \text{ exceed } Y_j) + \dots + \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^m I(\text{k of } X_{1i}, ..., X_{ki} \text{ exceed } Y_j).$

Of course, (2) is a special case of (14). In parametric case (see [2] for the MLE method) when a_1, \ldots, a_k are closed in values, a can be considered as the minimum or maximum of a_1, \ldots, a_k and hence one may approximate (14) through (3). In some situations, a_1, \ldots, a_k are very different, and using (14) is not very helpful or may not be accurate. In these cases, the non-parametric method is more practical and it is enough to consider $\mathbf{A} = \{(x_1, \ldots, x_k, y) \mid \text{at least s of } x_1, \ldots, x_k \text{ exceed } y, x_1 > a_1, \ldots, x_k > a_k, y > b\}$, and $\mathbf{B} = \{(x_1, \ldots, x_k) \mid x_1 > a_1, \ldots, x_k > a_k\}$ in (9). It is easy to see that the results of nonparametric estimation of (8) can also be used for nonparametric estimation of (14), where a_i is substituted instead of a for $i = 1, \ldots, k$. Note that in this case, one advantage of the nonparametric method is that the assumption of common distribution for stress RV's may be relaxed. The later makes this method much more practical. If $\mathbf{B} = \{(x_1, \ldots, x_k, y) \mid x_1 > a_1, \ldots, x_k > a_k, y > b\}$, then the nonparametric estimator of the generalized MCCSSP where stresses and strength RV's are not independent, can also be easily computed through the same method.

5 Simulation

In this section, a simulation study has been done to assess the quality and the efficiency of performance of $R_{s,k}^{|ab}$, its Bayes and nonparametric estimators. The simulations have been only done for $a \neq b$ since for a = b the conditional and unconditional cases have the same results.

A comparison among $R_{1,3}^{NP|a,b}$ and $\tilde{R}_{1,3}^{|a,b}$ assuming $\alpha_1 = 2$, $\beta_1 = 3$, $\alpha_2 = 5$, $\beta_2 = 4$ for different values of a and b, n = m = 100, $\lambda_1 = 0.0003$ and $\lambda_2 = 0.0005$ has been done and the results presented in Tables 1 and 2.

	Table 1.	Compariso	on of $R_{1,3}$	and h	$a_{1,3}$ for a	$\leq b$	
a	10	25	70	78	170	215	300
b	20	40	74	120	190	260	310
$R_{1,3}^{ a,b}$	0.8607	0.8568	0.8653	0.8362	0.8530	0.8340	0.8607
$ ilde{R}^{ a,b}_{1,3}$	0.8598	0.8559	0.8646	0.8349	0.8519	0.8321	0.8598
$R_{1,3}^{NP a,b}$	0.8657	0.8655	0.8697	0.8681	0.8691	0.8646	0.8668
$\operatorname{Bias}(\tilde{R}^{ a,b}_{1,3})$	-0.0008	-0.0009	-0.0007	-0.0013	-0.0010	-0.0019	-0.0008
$\operatorname{Bias}(R_{1,3}^{NP a,b})$	0.0049	0.0087	0.0043	0.0618	0.0161	0.0305	0.0061
	Table 2.	Comparise	on of $R_{1,3}^{NF}$	$\hat{F}^{ a,b}$ and $\hat{F}^{ a,b}$	$a_{1,3}^{ a,b}$ for a	> b	
a	Table 2.	Compariso	$\frac{\text{on of } R_{1,3}^{NF}}{45}$	$\frac{\hat{P}^{ a,b}}{67}$ and \hat{H}	$a_{1,3}^{[a,b]}$ for $a_{1,3}^{[a,b]}$	> b 120	240
a b	Table 2. 7 4	Compariso 22 11	$\frac{\text{on of } R_{1,3}^{NF}}{45}$	$\frac{\hat{F}^{ a,b}}{67}$ and \hat{F}_{65}	$\frac{b_{1,3}^{[a,b]} \text{ for } a}{100}$ 90	> b $ 120 $ $ 70$	240 230
$\begin{array}{c} \text{a} \\ \text{b} \\ \hline R_{1,3}^{ a,b} \end{array}$	Table 2. 7 4 0.9437	$\frac{\text{Comparise}}{22}$ 11 0.9377	$\frac{\text{on of } R_{1,3}^{NF}}{45} \\ \frac{38}{0.9124}$	$\hat{F}^{ a,b}$ and \hat{F}_{67} 65 0.8877	$ \frac{b_{1,3}^{[a,b]} \text{ for } a}{100} \\ 90 \\ 0.8664 $	> b 120 70 0.8867	240 230 0.7532
$\begin{array}{c} {\rm a} \\ {\rm b} \\ \hline R^{ a,b}_{1,3} \\ \tilde R^{ a,b}_{1,3} \end{array}$	Table 2. 7 4 0.9437 0.9372	Compariso 22 11 0.9377 0.9313	$ \begin{array}{c} \text{on of } R_{1,3}^{NF} \\ \hline 45 \\ 38 \\ \hline 0.9124 \\ 0.90559 \end{array} $	$\hat{P}^{ a,b}$ and \hat{H} 67 65 0.8877 0.8812	$ \begin{array}{c} b_{1,3}^{[a,b]} \text{ for } a \\ 100 \\ 90 \\ 0.8664 \\ 0.8598 \end{array} $	b > b 120 70 0.8867 0.8805	240 230 0.7532 0.7466
$\begin{array}{c} {\rm a} \\ {\rm b} \\ R_{1,3}^{ a,b} \\ \tilde{R}_{1,3}^{ a,b} \\ R_{1,3}^{NP a,b} \end{array}$	Table 2. 7 4 0.9437 0.9372 0.8654	$ \begin{array}{r} \text{Comparise} \\ \hline 22 \\ 11 \\ 0.9377 \\ 0.9313 \\ 0.8658 \\ \end{array} $	$\frac{\text{on of } R_{1,3}^{NF}}{45} \\ \hline \\ 0.9124 \\ 0.90559 \\ 0.8658 \\ \hline \\ \end{array}$	$\hat{F}^{ a,b}$ and $\hat{F}_{0,0}$ 67 65 0.8877 0.8812 0.8653	$ \begin{array}{c} $	> b 120 70 0.8867 0.8805 0.8686	240 230 0.7532 0.7466 0.8680
$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{a} \\ \mathbf{b} \\ \hline R_{1,3}^{ a,b} \\ \tilde{R}_{1,3}^{ a,b} \\ R_{1,3}^{NP a,b} \\ R_{1,3}^{NP a,b} \\ \mathrm{Bias}(\tilde{R}_{1,3}^{ a,b}) \end{array}$	Table 2. 7 4 0.9437 0.9372 0.8654 -0.0064	Comparise 22 11 0.9377 0.9313 0.8658 -0.0063	$ \begin{array}{c} \text{ on of } R_{1,3}^{NF} \\ \hline 45 \\ \hline 38 \\ \hline 0.9124 \\ 0.90559 \\ 0.8658 \\ -0.0064 \end{array} $	$\hat{F}^{ a,b}$ and \hat{F}_{67} 65 0.8877 0.8812 0.8653 -0.0065	$ \begin{array}{c} [a,b]{1,3} & \text{for } a \\ 100 \\ 90 \\ 0.8664 \\ 0.8598 \\ 0.8674 \\ -0.0065 \end{array} $	> b 120 70 0.8867 0.8805 0.8686 -0.0062	240 230 0.7532 0.7466 0.8680 -0.0065

Table 1. Comparison of $R_{1,3}^{NP|a,b}$ and $\tilde{R}_{1,3}^{|a,b}$ for $a \leq b$

6 Real Data Analysis

In this section the numerical results of the parameters estimation for a real data set with Exponential distribution have been presented. This data set was used for the first time by [5] and can be find in

it. These data present the tensile properties of the jute fibres at different gauge lengths 5, 10, 15 and 20 mm which measured in MPa. The data sets corresponding to the breaking strength of jute fibres with 10mm and 15mm gauge lengths have been considered as the stresses measurement and 20mm in gauge lengths, which represents the strength measurement.

Each data has been separately fitted to the some exponential distribution and examined by using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov goodness-of-fit test, the results have been reported in Table 3. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistics and the corresponding P-values indicate that the Exponential distribution fits the data sets. The estimation of MCCSSP for different values of a and b by nonparametric methods and Bayesian approach assuming $\alpha_1 = 2$, $\beta_1 = 3$, $\alpha_2 = 5$, $\beta_2 = 4$ for parameters of prior distributions have been presented in Table 4.

The data set consisting of the breaking strength of jute fiber 5 mm in gauge length have been fitted with the Normal distribution with mean 384.37 and standard deviation 188.77 using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov goodness-of-fit test. For this data, the Lilliforce significance correction criteria (modified Kolmogorov-Smirnov test to check the normality of the data) and the P-value are 0.143 and 0.122. Note that by adding this length to the model, the assumption of exponentially for all stresses fails. The nonparametric estimators of MCCSSP for real data and different values of a_1 , a_2 , a_3 and b have been presented in Table 5 where X_1 has Normal distribution, X_2 and X_3 have exponential distribution.

Table 3. K-S test for strength of jute fiber data									
	Ċ	lata	Mean	$\hat{\lambda}$		K-S	p-val	ue	
	10	mm	365.72	0.00	27	0.958	8 0.31	7	
	15	mm	367.87	0.00	27	0.999	9 0.27	'1	
	_20	$\mathbf{m}\mathbf{m}$	340.74	0.00	29	0.727	7 0.66	6	
Г	able 4.	Values	of estin	mates	of N	ACCS	SSP for 1	real data	
a	30	45	4	15	78	3	85	100	220
b	25	50	4	40	90)	75	80	245
$\hat{R}_{1,2}^{ a,b}$	0.7200	0.66	80 0.6	893	0.64	32	0.6280	0.6288	0.5996
$ ilde{R}^{ a,b}_{1,2}$	0.7431	0.67	37 0.6	458	0.62	207	0.6477	0.5970	0.6151
$R_{1,2}^{NP a,b}$	0.6744	0.67	60 0.6	886	0.64	62	0.6485	0.6485	0.6944
Table 5. Values of $R_{1,3}^{NP a_1,a_2,a_3,b}$ for real data									
a_1		10	42	80		111	150	215	300
a_2		30	58	90		121	160	221	400
a_3		60	71	100)	171	170	240	100
b		34	54	85		154	165	220	340
$R_{1,3}^{NP a_1,}$	a_2, a_3, b	0.730	0.736	0.70)5 (0.750	0.859	0.625	0.750

7 Conclusion

The MCCSSP $(R_{s,k}^{|a,b})$ as an appropriate extension of multi-component stress-strength parameter has been estimated by Bayesian and non-parametric methods. Certain formulas for estimating the MCC-SSP by Bayesian and nonparametric methods has also been presented. Some numerical computations and simulation studies have been done for illustrating the inferential procedures.

In the past decades, a lot of researches have been done for studying the behavior of reliability function in multi-component stress-strength models, many of similar works can be done for the conditional case. As an specific idea, $R_{s,k}^{|a,b}$ can be obtained and estimated for other distributions. As another idea, one may be interested in the amounts of information which are measurable, lost, unpredictable, etc.

References

- [1] Bhattacharya, G.K. and Johnson, R.A. (1974), Estimation of reliability in a multicomponent stress-stringth model. *Journal of American statistical association*, **69**(348), 966-970.
- [2] Khorshidian, K. and Taheri Saif Abad, M. (2023), The Multi-Component Conditional Stress-Strength Parameter. To be Appear in, Reliability: Theory & Applications.
- [3] Kotz, S., Lumelski, Y. and Pensky, M. (2003), *The Stress-Strength Model and its Generalizations: Theory and Applications*, World Scientific, Singapore.
- [4] Saber, M.M. and Khorshidian, K. (2021), Introduction to reliability for conditional stress-strength parametter. Journal of sciencees, Islamic Republic of Iran, 32(4), 349-357.
- [5] Xia, Z.P., Yu, J.Y., Cheng, L.D., Liu, L.F. and Wang, W.M. (2009), Study on the breaking strength of Jute Fibers using modified Weibull distribution. *Compus-A*, 40, 54-99.



9th Seminar on Reliability Theory and its Applications



24-25 May 2023

Survival analysis in the presence of competing risks: a Lunn–McNeil approach

Norouzi, S.¹, Hajizadeh, E.² Asghari-Jafarabadi, M.³ and Farzipoor, F.⁴

^{1,2} Department of Biostatistics, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Tarbiat Modares University, Tehran, Iran

³ Cabrini Research, Cabrini Health, VIC 3144, Australia (School of Public Health and Preventative Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Nursing and Health Sciences, Monash University, VIC 3800, Australia) ((Road Traffic Injury Research Center, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz,

Iran))

⁴ Department of Health Education and Promotion, Faculty of Health, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

Abstract

This study considers survival data in which each subject can experience only one of several different types of events over follow-up. When only one of several different types of events can occur, we refer to the probabilities of these events as competing risks. This study aimed to model the survival of patients with Brain stroke in the presence of competing risks.

Materials and Methods: This retrospect survival study was conducted on 332 patients with a definitive diagnosis of Brain stroke. The duration of data collection was from June 2005 up to June 2022 and the follow-up period of patients from the time of diagnosis was 17 years. Data were analyzed by the Lunn-McNeil approach at alpha=0.1 with using STATA version 17 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

 $^{^1}$ snorouzibiostatistics@gmail.com

²hajizadeh@modares.ac.ir

 $^{^3}Mohammad. Asghari-Jafarabadi@monash.edu\\$

⁴snorouzibiostatistics@gmail.com

Results: Significant differences were found between Brain stroke and other causes of death for the age category of 69-75 years, Employment status, Family history of stroke, a history of high blood pressure.

Conclusion: Brain stroke -specific and non- Brain stroke -specific mortality had different risk factors. These findings could be utilized to prescribe optimal and specific treatment.

Keywords: Brain Stroke, survival, competing risks, Lunn-McNeil model.

1 Introduction

In some mortality studies, several causes of death have consistently been found, only one of which is the real cause of death. for example, Death in patients with Brain stroke (BS) may occur due to stroke or other causes. This raises the question, what is the leading cause of death in these patients? Therefore, it is necessary to investigate mortality in patients with BS according to the presence of competing risks [13]. In the presence of competing risks, conventional statistical methods cannot be used because simple survival analysis (Cox model) censors deaths due to other causes, leading to biased estimates [14]. Therefore, to better understand the causes of death in patients with BS, we investigated the causes of death in 2 groups of BS patients (death from stroke and death from other causes) by modeling competing risk with the Lunn-McNeill (L-M) approach. BS is the second most common cause of mortality in the world after heart disease (3). In the United States, 795,000 people have strokes each year affecting the brain [5, 6]. The annual number of strokes is forecast to rise to 3.4 million between 2012 and 2030 [5, 8]. It is also estimated that the cost of treating this disease is 34 billion dollar annually [5, 9].

Studying modifiable risk factors can provide insights into appropriate treatment and prevention measures to enhance the survival of patients with BS [8, 10, 11]. The risk factors of BS are divided into 2 groups: the more important risk factors are age, high blood pressure, and heart disease, while seconddegree risk factors that are less important include a family history, high blood lipid levels, obesity, smoking, neurological stress, and a history of BS [7]; some of these factors are modifiable, while others are non-modifiable [2]. Understanding the distribution of these factors is of particular importance.

1.1 Statistical modeling:

Data were summarized and reported as frequency and percentage for categorical variables and as mean (standard deviation [SD]) or median for continuous variables. The survival time of patients was calculated by month. Significant risk factors (p < 0.1) in the univariate analysis were entered into the multivariate analysis. The L-M model was used to generate results for the cause-specific assessment of death by modifying the Cox proportional hazard (PH) model [12]. Based on the selected model, and for each of the factors entered in the model, an unadjusted hazard ratio (HR) and an adjusted HR (AHR) were presented along with their 90 % confidence intervals. The interaction L-M model was used to compare BS and other causes of death. The Schoenfeld residual test was used to assess the PH assumption for each variable. All analyses were performed using STATA version 17 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

2 Main results

The median follow-up time was 160.84 months (range, 59.51-164.58 months). Of the BS patients, 227 (68.4%) died from BS, while 54 (16.3%) died from other causes. (Table 1) provide more details on the demographic characteristics.

Characteristic	N (%)	Brain stroke N $(\%)$	Other causes N $(\%)$
Age category (years)			
≤ 58	89~(26.8)	40(44.94)	12(13.48)
59-68	83~(25.0)	54(65.06)	19(22.89)
69-75	97(29.2)	$81 \ (83.51)$	12(12.37)
≥ 76	63(19.0)	52 (82.54)	11(17.46)
Sex (female)	164 (49.4)	104(63.41)	28(17.07)
Employment status (employed)	291 (87.7)	188 (64.60)	52(17.87)
Education level (\geq diploma)	84(25.3)	52(61.90)	12(14.29)
Place of residence (city)	201 (60.5)	137(68.16)	30(14.93)
Family history of stroke	80(24.1)	46(57.50)	17(21.25)
Family history of heart attack	24(7.2)	16 (66.67)	2(8.33)
Heart disease	$86\ (25.9)$	63 (73.26)	12 (13.95)
History of diabetes	60(18.1)	45 (75.0)	9(15.0)
History of blood pressure	197 (59.3)	148(75.13)	23 (11.68)
History of high cholesterol	62(18.7)	37 (59.68)	10(16.13)
Smoking (yes)	64(19.3)	42 (65.63)	12(18.57)
Water pipe smoking (yes)	11(3.3)	10(90.91)	0(0.0)
Past smoking (yes)	95(28.6)	69(72.63)	17(17.89)
Passive smoking (yes)	59(17.8)	40 (67.80)	$8\ (13.56)$
Physical activity (yes)	46(13.9)	28 (60.87)	6(13.04)
Cerebrovascular accident type (Ischemic)	266 (80.1)	177(66.54)	48 (18.05)

Table 1. Participants demographic and clinical characteristics for risk factors of death from brain stroke and other causes

The multivariate L-M model (Table 2) showed that age (years), Sex, Employment status, History of myocardial infarction (employed), History of high cholesterol, Water pipe smoking, Past smoking were significant risk factors for death from BS (pi0.1). In patients with other causes of death, History of blood pressure and Past smoking were significant risk factors (p < 0.1).

Characteristic	Brain Stroke		Other causes	
	Hazard ratio (90%CI)	p-value	Hazard ratio(90%CI)	p-value
Age category (years)				
<= 58	referent		referent	
59-68	1.50(1.05 - 2.15)	0.000*	NA	
69-75	2.19(1.58-3.03)	0.000*	NA	
76+	2.13(1.52 - 3.01)	0.000*	NA	
Sex (female)	1.38(1.08-1.76)	0.029^{*}	NA	
Employment status (employed)	0.64(0.46 - 0.90)	0.034^{*}	NA	
History of myocardial infarction	0.78(0.50-1.21)	0.369	NA	
History of blood pressure	NA	NA	0.49(0.31 - 0.78)	0.021^{*}
History of high cholesterol	0.62(0.44-0.87)	0.021^{*}	NA	
Water pipe smoking (yes)	2.78(1.51-4.97)	0.005^{*}	NA	
Past smoking (yes)	2.19 (1.70-2.81)	0.000*	1.64(1.01-2.68)	0.095^{*}
Cerebrovascular accident type (Ischemic)	NA	NA	1.75(0.84 - 3.66)	0.209

Table 2. Results of multivariate Lunn-McNeil modeling for risk factors of death from brain stroke

NA: not applicable; *P < 0.1; CI=Confidence interval

2.1 Comparison of mortality risk factors between BS and other causes of death

Significant differences were found between BS and other causes of death for the age category of 69-75 years, Employment status, Family history of stroke, a history of high blood pressure (p < 0.1) (Table 3).

Characteristic	Hazard ratio	90% confidence interval	p-value
Age category (years)			
≤ 58	referent		
59-68	1.08	0.53 - 2.18	0.856
69-75	0.45	0.21 - 0.95	0.082^{*}
76	0.62	0.28-1.34	0.309
Sex (female)	0.80	0.48 - 1.32	0.470
Education level (diploma)	0.99	0.54 - 1.81	0.988
Employment status (employed)	0.17	0.05 - 0.60	0.021^{*}
Place of residence (city)	1.25	0.75 - 2.09	0.453
Family history of stroke	0.55	0.31 - 0.97	0.085^{*}
Family history of heart attack	1.43	0.40 - 5.11	0.637
Heart disease	1.36	0.75 - 2.46	0.392
History of diabetes	1.20	0.62 - 2.34	0.639
History of blood pressure	2.59	1.55 - 4.34	0.002^{*}
History of high cholesterol	0.75	0.39 - 1.43	0.466
Smoking (yes)	0.86	0.47 - 1.59	0.698
Past smoking (yes)	1.01	0.58 - 1.76	0.962
Passive smoking (yes)	1.38	0.66 - 2.85	0.465
Physical activity (yes)	1.08	0.49 - 2.38	0.867
Cerebrovascular accident type (Ischemic)	0.46	0.21-1.01	0.101

Table 3. Comparison between brain stroke and other causes of death using the interaction

*P < 0.1; CI=Confidence interval

3 Discussion

The risk factors for mortality in patients with a BS diagnosis were compared between death from BS and death from other causes in the context of competing risks. We overcame the problem raised in the classical analysis (i.e., Cox regression) by utilizing the L-M approach. In classical analyses, it is usually assumed that competing risks are independent. Considering the competing risks as the censor and ignoring the risks incurred by other causes are the most crucial problems faced by the Cox model when analyzing data in the presence of competing risks. This leads to biased estimates [1]. The L-M model is a useful tool for analyzing data in the context of competing risks, in which the event occurs for several reasons. In this form of modeling, it is possible to compare the effect of each variable on competing causes of an event [4]. Therefore, in this study, the univariate and multivariate L-M approach was used, considering the risk of death from BS and death from other causes as competing risks.

Out of the 332 patients with a BS diagnosis, 227(68.4%) died from BS and 54 (16.3%) died from other causes. In line with our study, Hardy et al. assessed long-term (10-year) mortality after BS in Australia and reported a mortality rate of 79% [16]. The results of the univariate L-M analysis showed that an older age, Sex, Employment status for death from BS. These results align with those reported by studies conducted in Europe and the United States, according to which the highest mortality rate is found in the ninth decade of life [17, 18]. Furthermore, in a study conducted in Farshchian Hospital in Hamedan, patients under the age of 50 years had a lower risk of BS, and the risk of BS increased with age (19). Men were at a higher risk of death than women, which is consistent with the results of studies conducted in the United States [17], Europe [18], and Arab countries [20]. However, in some other studies, such as in the Copenhagen cohort study (2005), women were 1.49 times more likely to have died than men 10 years after a stroke [21]. This discrepancy may be due to physiological differences between men and women. In the study by Madsen et al., risk factors such as diabetes, metabolic syndrome, and migraine were found to increase the risk of stroke in women more than men, and hypertension was found to be associated with age and ethnicity [22].

In this study, History of myocardial infarction, History of blood pressure, History of high cholesterol, Water pipe smoking, Past smoking, Cerebrovascular accident type were significantly associated with death from BS, and History of blood pressure, Past smoking and Cerebrovascular accident type for death from Other. Hardy et al., in a study of 10-year survival after stroke, found that 79% of patients died within 10 years, and the leading cause of mortality was initial stroke and cardiovascular disease (27%) [23]. Another study showed that the overall mortality rate was 29%, and the mortality rate in those 70+ years of age was 57.1% [24]. ocp use is affected by age, blood pressure, smoking, and migraine [25]. A meta-analysis by Gillum et al. found that people on ocp had a higher risk of BS [26]. Stroke is divided into ischemic and hemorrhagic at the most basic level. In this study, approximately 80.1% of people had ischemic stroke, while 19.9% had hemorrhagic stroke. In line with our research, in a long-term attenuation study of stroke among people aged 18 to 50 years in the New Jersey region of the Netherlands in 2013 by Rutten et al., 606 of 959 (63%) patients had ischemic stroke [27]. In a 2016 study in Brazil, Goulart et al. found that the risk of death from hemorrhagic stroke was higher than that of ischemic stroke [28]. The multivariate L-M model showed that age (years), Sex, Employment status, History of myocardial infarction (employed), History of high cholesterol, Water pipe smoking, Past smoking were significant risk factors for death from BS (p < 0.1). In patients with other causes of death, History of blood pressure and Past smoking were significant risk factors (p < 0.1).

3.1 Comparison of mortality risk factors between BS and other causes of death

Significant differences were found between BS and other causes of death for the age category of 69-75 years, Employment status, Family history of stroke, a history of high blood pressure. According to the results of the multivariate L-M model, the significant risk factors for mortality due to BS were age (years), Sex, Employment status, History of myocardial infarction (employed), History of high cholesterol, Water pipe smoking, Past smoking. In patients with other causes of death, History of blood pressure and Past smoking were significant risk factors. Finally, according to the interaction L-M model, age category of 69-75 years, Employment status, Family history of stroke, a history of high blood pressure were significantly different between the 2 causes of death. The results of our study align with those of Mogensen et al., who studied the long-term (10 years) outcomes of stroke in 988 patients and concluded that stroke death was related to old age, sex, diabetes, a history of stroke, heart disease and non-vascular disease, and type of stroke (hemorrhagic) [29].

4 Conclusion

Differences were found between the 2 causes of death (BS and other causes) for some risk factors. Patients with BS were more likely to die from BS than from other causes. The hypothesis that some risk factors (demographic, clinical, and hereditary) may have different effects on the cause of death (BS and other causes) was confirmed based on the findings of this study. These findings should be considered for prevention, planning, health policymaking, and prescribing optimal and specific treatment in order to increase survival in patients with BS.

Ethical Considerations: The Ethics Committee of Tarbiat Modares University of Medical Sciences approved the protocol of this study (approval number: IR.MODARES.REC.1401.230).

References

- [1] Bakoyannis G, Touloumi GJSmimr. Practical methods for competing risks data: a review. 2012;21(3):257-72.
- [2] Cooke RM, Morales-Napoles OJJosp, inference. Competing risk and the Cox proportional hazard model. 2006;136(5):1621-37.
- [3] Feigin VL, Norrving B, Mensah GAJCr. Global burden of stroke. 2017;120(3):439-48.
- [4] Boehme AK, Esenwa C, Elkind MSJCr. Stroke risk factors, genetics, and prevention. 2017;120(3):472-95.
- [5] Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM, Adams RJ, Berry JD, Brown TM, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics2011 update: a report from the American Heart Association. 2011;123(4):e18-e209.
- [6] Ovbiagele B, Goldstein LB, Higashida RT, Howard VJ, Johnston SC, Khavjou OA, et al. Forecasting the future of stroke in the United States: a policy statement from the American Heart Association and American Stroke Association. 2013;44(8):2361-75.
- [7] Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, et al. Executive summary: heart disease and stroke statistics2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. 2015;131(4):434-41.

- [8] Roth EJ, Lovell L, Harvey RL, Heinemann AW, Semik P, Diaz SJS. Incidence of and risk factors for medical complications during stroke rehabilitation. 2001;32(2):523-9.
- [9] Friday G, Alter M, Lai S-MJS. Control of hypertension and risk of stroke recurrence. 2002;33(11):2652-7.
- [10] Straus SE, Majumdar SR, McAlister FAJJ. New evidence for stroke prevention: scientific review. 2002;288(11):1388-95.
- [11] Sheehy SB. Emergency nursing : principles and practice. St. Louis: Mosby Year Book; 1992.
- [12] Amini Sani N, Savadi Oskoui D, Shamshirgaran S, Dastgiri S, Hashemilar M, Jafariani MJJoAUoMS. One-Month Stroke Case-Fatality Rate in Ardabil Province, 2004. 2007;7(4):353-6.
- [13] Kleinbaum DG, Klein M. Survival analysis: Springer; 2010.
- [14] Klein JP, Moeschberger ML. Survival analysis: techniques for censored and truncated data: Springer Science & Business Media; 2006.
- [15] Kleinbaum DG, Klein MJSAAs-lt. Competing risks survival analysis. 2005:391-461.
- [16] Ahmadi Ahangar A, Khafri S, Mostafazadeh M, Akbarian M, Motavalli MJJoBUoMS. Risk factors for strokes in patients 15-45 years old admitted at Ayatollah Roohani Hospital in Babol, Iran (2009-2010). 2013;15(6):95-103.
- [17] Greenberg D, Aminoff M, Simon RJCN, 8th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill. Headache and facial pain. 2012.
- [18] Putaala J, Yesilot N, Waje-Andreassen U, Pitkniemi J, Vassilopoulou S, Nardi K, et al. Demographic and geographic vascular risk factor differences in European young adults with ischemic stroke: the 15 cities young stroke study. 2012;43(10):2624-30.
- [19] Mazaheri S, Beheshti F, Hosseinzadeh A, Mazdeh M, Ghiasian MJAJoCM. Epidemiologic study of cardinal risk factors of stroke in patients who referred to Farshchian hospital of Hamadan during 2014-2015. 2016;22(4):331-7.
- [20] Farghaly WM, El-Tallawy HN, Shehata GA, Rageh TA, Abdel-Hakeem NM, Abd Elhamed MA, et al. Epidemiology of nonfatal stroke and transient ischemic attack in Al-Kharga District, New Valley, Egypt. 2013;9:1785.
- [21] Andersen MN, Andersen KK, Kammersgaard LP, Olsen TSJJoS, Diseases C. Sex differences in stroke survival: 10-year follow-up of the Copenhagen stroke study cohort. 2005;14(5):215-20.
- [22] Madsen TE, Howard VJ, Jimnez M, Rexrode KM, Acelajado MC, Kleindorfer D, et al. Impact of conventional stroke risk factors on stroke in women: an update. 2018;49(3):536-42.
- [23] Thorvaldsen P, Asplund K, Kuulasmaa K, Rajakangas A-M, Schroll MJS. Stroke incidence, case fatality, and mortality in the WHO MONICA project. 1995;26(3):361-7.
- [24] Gnonlonfoun DD, Adjien C, Ossou-Nguiet PM, Avlessi I, Goudjinou G, Houannou O, et al. Stroke: Medium and long-term mortality and associated factors in French-speaking West Africa, case of Benin. 2014;2014.

- [25] Carlton C, Banks M, Sundararajan SJS. Oral contraceptives and ischemic stroke risk. 2018;49(4):e157-e9.
- [26] Gillum LA, Mamidipudi SK, Johnston SC. Ischemic Stroke Risk With Oral ContraceptivesA Meta-analysis. JAMA. 2000;284(1):72-8.
- [27] Rutten-Jacobs LC, Arntz RM, Maaijwee NA, Schoonderwaldt HC, Dorresteijn LD, van Dijk EJ, et al. Long-term mortality after stroke among adults aged 18 to 50 years. 2013;309(11):1136-44.
- [28] Goulart ACJSPMJ. EMMA Study: a Brazilian community-based cohort study of stroke mortality and morbidity. 2016;134(6):543-54.
- [29] Mogensen UB, Olsen TS, Andersen KK, Gerds TA. Cause-specific mortality after stroke: relation to age, sex, stroke severity, and risk factors in a 10-year follow-up study. Journal of stroke and cerebrovascular diseases. 2013;22(7):e59-e65.





A brief study on series systems consisting of used components based on copulas

Salehi, E. 1

¹ Department of Industrial Engineering, Birjand University of Technology, Birjand, Iran

Abstract

In this note, we consider series systems consisting of arbitrarily dependent used components. We study the lifetime of such systems using copulas family and obtain a formula for its survival function. In following, we provide stochastic ordering properties for the lifetimes of the series systems based on the mean function. Finally, to show the results we give a numerical example.

Keywords: Copula, Mean function, Stochastic order, Reliability.

1 Introduction

From a long time ago, many authors have studies on the coherent systems, especially series and parallel systems. It is well known that the reliability of a system depends on the structure of the system and obviously to the reliability of its components. The series system is a system with no redundancy which is used in various industries. Several researcher have tried to study on properties of this system according to various concepts and criteria. Most of the old results were gained on the condition of system components being independent. In practical perspectives we deal with to systems which have dependent components. Therefore, the analysis of dynamic reliability, particularly the study of the residual lifetime of systems, is the matter of interest in this case which

¹salehi@birjandut.ac.ir

is usually analyzed according to copulas theory. Copula function is a useful and efficient tools for describing the dependence structure between the components of a system. In recent decades, many researchers have focused their attention on this field, for instance you can see [4], [5], [7] and [8].

In some situations, it is possible for us to encounter systems consisting n-used components (see [1] and [2]). Therefore, the attractive issue in here is to make a comparison between the residual lifetimes of these systems from the theoretical viewpoint of dynamic reliability which is to be investigated in this paper for series systems.

The present article has been arranged as follows. Some required concepts and preliminaries to provide main results are presented in Section 2. In Section 3, at first the reliability function of the series systems consisting of used components was obtained according to survival copula supposing that the components were arbitrary. Then some properties of stochastic orderings for such systems was presented base on the mean function. Finally, we present an illustrative example and graphs to show the results.

2 Preliminaries

Before giving the main results,, we introduce the copula function and dependence concepts, for more details see [6]. Also, we need to present concepts of Schur-concave (Schur-convex) and mean function.

Definition 2.1. A (*n*-variate) copula is a function $C: [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$ such that

- 1. for any $u_i \in [0, 1]$, $C(1, \ldots, 1, u_i, 1, \ldots, 1) = u_i$,
- 2. for any $u_1, \ldots, u_{i-1}, u_{i+1}, \ldots, u_n \in [0, 1], C(u_1, \ldots, u_{i-1}, 0, u_{i+1}, \ldots, u_n) = 0$,
- 3. C is n-increasing.

For more details on an *n*-increasing function see [6] page 43. To present the next definitions we need to explain the majorization order. A vector $\mathbf{u} = (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n)$ is said to be majorized by another vector $\mathbf{v} = (v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_n)$ (written as $(u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n) \leq_m (v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_n)$) if $\sum_{j=1}^n u_j = \sum_{j=1}^n v_j$ and $\sum_{j=1}^i u_{j:n} \geq \sum_{j=1}^i v_{j:n}$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n-1$, where $u_{j:n}(v_{j:n})$ is the *j*th smallest element of \mathbf{u} (\mathbf{v}), $j = 1, 2, \ldots, n$.

Definition 2.2. Let $g: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a real-valued function, then g is Schur-concave (Schur-convex) if

$$g(u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n) \leq (\geq) g(v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_n),$$

whenever $(u_1, u_2, ..., u_n) \ge_m (v_1, v_2, ..., v_n).$

Definition 2.3. Let $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a real-valued function, then g is weakly Schur-concave (weakly Schur-convex) if

$$g(u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n) \le (\ge) g(\bar{u}, \bar{u}, \dots, \bar{u}),$$

for all $(u_1, u_2, ..., u_n)$, where $\bar{u} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n u_i$.

If a copula family is Schur-concave (Schur-convex), in fact it is weakly Schur-concave (weakly Schur-convex), too. In the following we give the concept of mean function that is useful to present the main results.

Definition 2.4. Let $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a real-valued function, then the mean function associated with g is any function $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$g(u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n) = g(z, z, \ldots, z),$$

for all (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n) , where $z = m_g(u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n)$. For more details about mean function m_g see [3] and the references therein.

Definition 2.5. Let X and Y be two nonnegative random variables with survival functions \overline{F} and \overline{G} , respectively. X is said to be smaller than Y in the usual stochastic order, denoted by $X \leq_{\text{st}} Y$, if for all $t, \overline{F}(t) \leq \overline{G}(t)$.

3 Main results

Let T_1, T_2, \ldots, T_n be the lifetimes of n components. Denote by $T_{1:n}, T_{2:n}, \ldots, T_{n:n}$ the ordered lifetimes of the components. It is known that the lifetime of series system is $T_{1:n}$. The joint survival function of a n dependent lifetimes of components denoted by

$$\bar{F}(t_1, t_2, \dots, t_n) = P(T_1 > t_1, T_2 > t_2, \dots, T_n > t_n)
= \hat{C}\Big(\bar{F}_1(t_1), \bar{F}_2(t_2), \dots, \bar{F}_n(t_n)\Big),$$
(1)

with marginal survival functions $\bar{F}_i(t) = P(T_i > t), i = 1, 2, ..., n$.

The reliability analysis and stochastic ordering properties of systems consisting of used components of age t > 0 studied by [1], [2] and [9]. Let $(T_t)_i = (T_i - t | T_i > t)$, i = 1, 2, ..., n be the residual lifetimes of used components, where $(T_t)_i$'s has the marginal survival function $\frac{\bar{F}_i(x+t)}{\bar{F}_i(t)}$, i = 1, 2, ..., n. Also, assume that T_i 's have the survival copula \hat{C} . The survival function of the lifetime of the series system including used components denoted by $(\psi_{1:n}^T(x))_t$, is equal to

$$(\psi_{1:n}^{T}(x))_{t} = P((T_{t})_{1:n} > x)$$

$$= \hat{C}\left(\frac{\bar{F}_{1}(x+t)}{\bar{F}_{1}(t)}, \dots, \frac{\bar{F}_{n}(x+t)}{\bar{F}_{n}(t)}\right)$$

$$= \hat{C}(\kappa(x,t), \dots, \kappa(x,t))$$
(2)

where $\kappa(x,t) = m_{\hat{C}}\left(\frac{\bar{F}_1(x+t)}{\bar{F}_1(t)}, \ldots, \frac{\bar{F}_n(x+t)}{\bar{F}_n(t)}\right)$, and $m_{\hat{C}}$ is the mean function of \hat{C} . Note that, the last equality in Equation (2) is obtained from Definition 2.4.

Now, we have the following results. The following theorems can be proved similarly to Theorems 3.4, and hence their proofs are omitted here.

Theorem 3.1. Let $\mathbf{T} = (T_1, T_2, \ldots, T_n)$, denoted the arbitrary dependent lifetimes of the components of a series system. Let T_i 's, $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$, have the survival copula \hat{C} with mean function $m_{\hat{C}}$. Then $(T_t)_{1:n} \leq_{st} (T_t)_{1:n-1}$ trues if and only if for all x, t > 0,

$$m_{\hat{C}}\left(\frac{\bar{F}_{1}(x+t)}{\bar{F}_{1}(t)},\ldots,\frac{\bar{F}_{n}(x+t)}{\bar{F}_{n}(t)}\right) \leq m_{\hat{C}}\left(\frac{\bar{F}_{1}(x+t)}{\bar{F}_{1}(t)},\ldots,\frac{\bar{F}_{n-1}(x+t)}{\bar{F}_{n-1}(t)}\right),$$

where $\frac{\overline{F}_i(x+t)}{\overline{F}_i(t)}$ is the marginal survival function of $(T_t)_i$, i = 1, 2, ..., n.

Theorem 3.2. Let $\mathbf{T} = (T_1, T_2, \ldots, T_n)$ and $\mathbf{Z} = (Z_1, Z_2, \ldots, Z_n)$ be the arbitrary vectors of components lifetimes of two series systems. Also assume that \mathbf{T} and \mathbf{Z} have the same survival copula \hat{C} with mean function $m_{\hat{C}}$. Then $(T_t)_{1:n} \leq_{st} (Z_t)_{1:n}$ if and only if for all x, t > 0,

$$m_{\hat{C}}\left(\frac{\bar{F}_1(x+t)}{\bar{F}_1(t)},\ldots,\frac{\bar{F}_n(x+t)}{\bar{F}_n(t)}\right) \le m_{\hat{C}}\left(\frac{\bar{G}_1(x+t)}{\bar{G}_1(t)},\ldots,\frac{\bar{G}_n(x+t)}{\bar{G}_n(t)}\right),$$

where $\frac{\bar{F}_i(x+t)}{\bar{F}_i(t)}$ and $\frac{\bar{G}_i(x+t)}{\bar{G}_i(t)}$ are the marginal survival function of $(T_t)_i$ and $(Z_t)_i$, $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$, respectively.

Corollary 3.3. Let $\mathbf{T} = (T_1, T_2, \ldots, T_n)$ be the arbitrary components lifetimes of a series system and $\mathbf{Z} = (Z_1, Z_2, \ldots, Z_n)$ be the exchangeable components lifetimes of another series system. Also, assume that \mathbf{T} and \mathbf{Z} have the same survival copula \hat{C} with mean function $m_{\hat{C}}$, then $(T_t)_{1:n} \leq_{st} (Z_t)_{1:n}$ trues if and only if for all x, t > 0,

$$m_{\hat{C}}\left(\frac{\bar{F}_1(x+t)}{\bar{F}_1(t)},\ldots,\frac{\bar{F}_n(x+t)}{\bar{F}_n(t)}\right) \leq \frac{\bar{G}(x+t)}{\bar{G}(t)},$$

where $\frac{\bar{F}_i(x+t)}{\bar{F}_i(t)}$ and $\frac{\bar{G}(x+t)}{\bar{G}(t)}$ are the marginal survival function of $(T_t)_i$ and $(Z_t)_i$, i = 1, 2, ..., n, respectively.

Theorem 3.4. Let $\mathbf{T} = (T_1, T_2, \dots, T_n)$ ($\mathbf{Z} = (Z_1, Z_2, \dots, Z_n)$) denote the arbitrary dependent lifetimes of the components of two series systems. Also, assume that \mathbf{T} and \mathbf{Z} have the survival copula \hat{C}_T and \hat{C}_Z , respectively, such that $\hat{C}_T \leq \hat{C}_Z$. Then $(T_t)_{1:n} \leq_{st} (Z_t)_{1:n}$, if for all x, t > 0,

$$m_{\hat{C}_{T}}\left(\frac{\bar{F}_{1}(x+t)}{\bar{F}_{1}(t)},\dots,\frac{\bar{F}_{n}(x+t)}{\bar{F}_{n}(t)}\right) \le m_{\hat{C}_{Z}}\left(\frac{\bar{G}_{1}(x+t)}{\bar{G}_{1}(t)},\dots,\frac{\bar{G}_{n}(x+t)}{\bar{G}_{n}(t)}\right),\tag{3}$$

where $\frac{\bar{F}_i(x+t)}{\bar{F}_i(t)}$ and $\frac{\bar{G}_i(x+t)}{\bar{G}_i(t)}$ are the marginal survival function of $(T_t)_i$ and $(Z_t)_i$, i = 1, 2, ..., n, respectively.

Proof. From (2) and after some simplifications we have for all x, t > 0,

$$\begin{aligned} (\psi_{1:n}^{T}(x))_{t} &= \hat{C}_{T}(\kappa_{1}(x,t),\ldots,\kappa_{1}(x,t)) \\ &\leq \hat{C}_{T}(\kappa_{2}(x,t),\ldots,\kappa_{2}(x,t)) \\ &\leq \hat{C}_{Z}(\kappa_{2}(x,t),\ldots,\kappa_{2}(x,t)) = (\psi_{1:n}^{Z}(x))_{t}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\kappa_1(x,t) = m_{\hat{C}_T} \left(\frac{\bar{F}_1(x+t)}{\bar{F}_1(t)}, \dots, \frac{\bar{F}_n(x+t)}{\bar{F}_n(t)} \right)$ and $\kappa_2(x,t) = m_{\hat{C}_Z} \left(\frac{\bar{G}_1(x+t)}{\bar{G}_1(t)}, \dots, \frac{\bar{G}_n(x+t)}{\bar{G}_n(t)} \right)$. In the above expression, the first inequality follows from (3) and the second inequality obtain by $\hat{C}_T \leq \hat{C}_Z$. Therefore, the proof is complete.

In the following we give a numerical example to apply the result of Theorem 3.4.

Example 3.5. Let $\mathbf{T} = (T_1, T_2)$ and $\mathbf{Z} = (Z_1, Z_2)$ be the vectors of component lifetimes of two series systems. Assume that \mathbf{T} and \mathbf{Z} have a Ali-Mikhail-Haq (AMH) bivariate survival copula (\hat{C}_T) and Gumbel-Hougaard (GH) bivariate survival copula (\hat{C}_Z) , respectively, i.e.

$$\hat{C}_T(u,v) = \frac{uv}{1 - \theta_1(1-u)(1-v)} , \qquad \theta_1 \in [-1,1]$$
(4)

$$\hat{C}_{Z}(u,v) = \exp\left\{-\left[(-\ln u)^{\theta_{2}} + (-\ln v)^{\theta_{2}}\right]^{\frac{1}{\theta_{2}}}\right\}, \quad \theta_{2} \in [1,\infty).$$
(5)



Figure 1: The curves of mean functions.

Since, the mean function of Archimedean copulas is equal to $\phi^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\phi(u_i)\right)$ (See [5]), after some simplifications, the mean function of AMH survival copula for and GH survival copula are obtained, respectively, as follow:

$$m_{\hat{C}_T}(u,v) = \frac{1-\theta_1}{\sqrt{\left(\frac{1-\theta_1(1-u)}{u}\right)\left(\frac{1-\theta_1(1-v)}{v}\right)} - \theta_1}}, \qquad \theta_1 \in [-1,1], \tag{6}$$

$$m_{\hat{C}_{Z}}(u,v) = \exp\left\{-\left[\frac{(-\ln u)^{\theta_{2}} + (-\ln v)^{\theta_{2}}}{2}\right]^{\frac{1}{\theta_{2}}}\right\}, \qquad \theta_{2} \in [1,\infty).$$
(7)

Also, let T_i has exponential distribution with mean $\frac{1}{\lambda_i}$ and Z_i has Pareto distribution with marginal distribution function $F_i(x) = 1 - (\frac{\beta_i}{x})^{\alpha_i}$, i = 1, 2. From (6) and (7), we can obtain easily $m_{\hat{C}_T}\left(\frac{\bar{F}_1(x+t)}{\bar{F}_1(t)}, \frac{\bar{F}_2(x+t)}{\bar{F}_2(t)}\right)$ and $m_{\hat{C}_Z}\left(\frac{\bar{G}_1(x+t)}{\bar{G}_1(t)}, \frac{\bar{G}_2(x+t)}{\bar{G}_2(t)}\right)$.

On the other hand, from (2), the survival functions of two series system residual lifetimes are equal to

$$\begin{aligned} (\psi_{1:2}^T(x))_t &= \frac{F_1(x+t)F_2(x+t)}{\bar{F}_1(t)\bar{F}_2(t) - \theta_1(\bar{F}_2(t) - \bar{F}_2(x+t))(\bar{F}_2(t) - \bar{F}_2(x+t))}, \\ (\psi_{1:2}^Z(x))_t &= \exp\left\{-\left[\left(-\ln\frac{\bar{G}_1(x+t)}{\bar{G}_1(t)}\right)^{\theta_2} + \left(-\ln\frac{\bar{G}_2(x+t)}{\bar{G}_2(t)}\right)^{\theta_2}\right]^{\frac{1}{\theta_2}}\right\}. \end{aligned}$$

For $\theta_1 = 0.4$ and $\theta_2 = 3$ in (1) and (2), it can be shown that $\hat{C}_T(u, v) \leq \hat{C}_Z(u, v)$. Furthermore, the graphs of mean functions $m_{\hat{C}_t,T}$ and $m_{\hat{C}_t,Z}$ are given Fig. 1, for $\lambda_1 = 1$, $\lambda_2 = 2$, $\alpha_1 = 3$, $\beta_1 = 1$, $\alpha_2 = 1$, $\beta_2 = 2$, $\theta_1 = 0.4$ and $\theta_2 = 3$ at the fixed point t = 2. Therefore, the conditions of Theorem 3.4 are satisfied. Also, we plot the graphs of the survival functions $(\psi_{1:2}^T(x))_t$ and $(\psi_{1:2}^Z(x))_t$ for the listed values of the parameters in Fig. 2. Hence, it is an application of Theorem 3.4.



Figure 2: The curves of survival functions.

References

- Gupta, N. (2013). Stochstic comparison of residual lifetimes and inactivity times of coherent systems. J. Appl. Probab., 30(3): 848-860.
- [2] Gupta, N., Misra, N. and Kumar, S. (2015). Stochastic comparisons of residual lifetimes and inactivity times of coherent systems with dependent identically distributed components. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 240: 425-430.
- [3] Hardy, G. H., Littlewood, J. E. and Polya, G. (1934). *Inequalities*. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- [4] Navarro, J. (2018). Distribution-free comparisons of residual lifetimes of coherent systems based on copula properties. *Statistical Papers*, 59(2), 781-800.
- [5] Navarro, J., and Spizzichino, F. (2010). Comparisons of series and parallel systems with components sharing the same copula, *Appl. Stochastic Mod. Bus. Indust.*, **26**: 775-791.
- [6] Nelsen, R. B. (2007). An Introduction to Copulas. Second ed., New York: Springer.
- [7] Rezapour, M., Salehi, E. T. and Alamatsaz, M. H. (2013). Stochastic comparison of residual and past lifetimes of (n-k+1)-out-of-*n* systems with dependent components. *Commun. Statist. Theor. Meth.*, **42**:2158-2199.
- [8] Salehi, E. and Tavangar, M. (2019). Stochastic comparisons on conditional residual lifetime and inactivity time of coherent systems with exchangeable components. *Stat. Prob. Lett.*, 145: 327-337.
- [9] Zhang, S. H. and Li, X. H. (2003). Comparison between a system of used components and a used system. J. Lanzhou University, 39:11-13.



The optimal age replacement strategy under epistemic uncertainty

Shahraki Dehsoukhteh, S.¹ and Razmkhah, M.²

^{1,2} Department of Statistics, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Abstract

Applying the theory of uncertainty is a good approach to study the reliability of a system when there is a little frequency of suitable data. Based on this theory, the policy of age replacement is considered assuming the system lifetime follows Weibull distribution. The unknown parameters are estimated according to evidence theory that affects the epistemic uncertainty. The Dempster-Shafer as well as Yager rules are applied to aggregate the judgements and mental estimates of two or more experts. After determining the unknown parameters, the optimal replacement time is derived using the long-run cost criterion. The results show that the Dempster-Shafer rule is more accurate than yager rule, but Yager's rule is more conservative than Dempster-Shafer's rule.

Keywords: Dempster-shafer theory; Maintenance policy; Uncertainty theory; Yager rule.

1 Introduction

When a system failure occurs, system access and reliability are reduced, leading to unexpected and catastrophic damage. Some systems have a set of core components that are expensive and we

 $^{^{1}}$ sshahraki7@gmail.com

 $^{^2} razmkhah_m@um.ac.ir$

expect them to work without breakdowns for a long time. Due to their high price, these parts must be repaired when they fail. Therefore, by adopting the appropriate optimal maintenance policies and also identifying the sensitive units that need to be maintained, a high level of system reliability will be ensured and suitable models for optimizing system replacement and repair times can be provided.

In some reliability analyses, the probability distribution of unit lifetime data or the probability distribution of time to unit failure is not already known. In these cases, we have to estimate the probability distribution through a large number of samples. However, due to economic or technical issues, little or no data is available in some situations. As a result, the reliability of the system is unknown. Therefore, for such events for which it is not possible to measure frequency, the one way is to use the judgments and mental estimates of experts of the relevant field. Using this method, decision makers introduce more uncertainty approaches into the analysis due to insufficient knowledge of the credibility and knowledge of the requested experts (because humans tend to overestimate unlikely events). Therefore, the degree of belief usually has a wider range than the actual frequency. So, applying the theory of probability in such cases does not seem suitable, because of little frequency of available data in some real conditions.

Different theories have been proposed to solve this problem, such as fuzzy set theory by Zadeh [13], possibility theory by Zadeh [14] and Dubois and Prade [3], uncertainty theory by Liu [5, 6] and chance theory by Liu [8, 9]. We use the uncertainty theory for lifetime and time data until units fail. Uncertainty theory was proposed by Liu [5] to deal with uncertainty caused by the degree of human belief in 2007. Regarding the use of experts' mental opinions, Siuta et al. [10], and Tsao [11] mention that mental opinions of the experts play a crucial role in uncertain environments and that experts are the only reliable and accessible source of information. There are various modern approaches to consider expert opinions such as fuzzy sets [13, 7], Dempster-Schaffer theory [2, 12] and theory of possibility [4]. Dempster-Shafer's theory (DST) of evidence was chosen as the appropriate mathematical framework to handle the presence of cognitive uncertainty. This theorem is a suitable theory to combine the opinions of two or more experts due to its very strong theoretical basis. Under the DST framework, expert judgments are transformed into a set of beliefs and, according to the combination rule of Dempster and Yager are assembled to determine the minimum and maximum reliability of the system. Assuming there are human uncertainties in the performance of systems, this paper discusses the age replacement policy introduced by Barlow and Hunter [1] based on the Dempster-Schaffer theorem. It also compares the results of the use of Dempster-Schaffer and Yager methods in this maintenance policy.

2 Preliminaries

The Dempster-Shafer Theory (DST) is a mathematical theory of evidence theory which is defined by three important functions: the Basic Probability Assignment (bpa) or belief mass, the Belief (Bel) and the Plausibility (Pl).

In evidence theory, for the sample space Θ with the power set P_{Θ} degrees of evidence are assigned to the subsets of $p_i \in P_{\Theta}$. Any subset p_i of P_{Θ} with non-zero evidence degree is called a focal element. The power set P_{Θ} is the set of all possible sub-sets of Θ including the empty set \emptyset . For example, if:

$$\Theta = \{a, b\}$$

$$P_{\Theta} = \{\emptyset, \{a\}, \{b\}, \Theta\}$$

The bpa(A) represents the amount of knowledge associated with the subset A of P_{Θ} . Lets indicate by m(A) the bpa related to every subset A. Each subset of the power set is assigned a mass value m between 0 and 1 according to the theory of evidence. The DST is the most suitable theory to combine the beliefs of two or more experts. Considering two experts and assuming the independence of their opinions, the DST is involved with joining two separate sets of mass functions on a frame of discernment Θ , such as m_1 and m_2 . The combined mass function of m_1 and m_2 (the joint mass) in this situation would be represented as $m_{1,2}$ where:

$$m_{1,2}(A) = [m_1 \oplus m_2](A) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } A = \emptyset \\ \frac{\sum_{B \cap C = A} m_1(B) \cdot m_2(C)}{1 - k}, & \text{for } A \neq \emptyset \end{cases}$$
(1)

where $m_1(B)$ and $m_2(C)$ are the bpa expressed by the two sources of information 1 and 2 with relation to elements B and C respectively. Moreover, $k = \sum_{B \cap C = \emptyset} m_1(B) \cdot m_2(C)$ represents the conflicting evidence. To review the properties of m(.), refer to [5].

If there is a lot of dispute among sources, some dubious findings might be obtained in DST. Therefore, the Yagers combination rule is alternatively used to aggregate the bpa associated to the set A, such that

$$[m_1 \oplus m_2](A) = \begin{cases} 0, & for \quad A = \emptyset \\ \sum_{B \cap C = A} m_1(B) . m_2(C), & for \quad A \neq \Omega \\ \sum_{B \cap C = A} m_1(B) . m_2(C) + k, & for \quad A = \Omega \end{cases}$$
(2)

3 Model description

Consider a system that has only one component and starts operating at t=0. Its lifetime cumulative distribution function (cdf) is F(t). The system is replaced when it reaches age T, or at its failure, whichever occurs first. Assume that the emergency repair ER costs c_{ER} , and the preventive repair at age T costs c_{PM} . Each replacement completely renews the system and takes a negligible time. Denote by τ the unit's lifetime. Let $Z = \min(\tau, T)$. The inter-renewal period has mean

$$E(Z) = \int_0^T (1 - F(x)) dx,$$
 (3)

The mean cost per unit time is

$$\eta(T) = \frac{c_{ER}F(T) + c_{PM}(1 - F(T))}{\int_0^T (1 - F(x))dx} = c_{ER}\left(\frac{F(T) + c(1 - F(T))}{\int_0^T (1 - F(x))dx}\right),\tag{4}$$

where $c = \frac{c_{PM}}{c_{ER}} < 1$. For more details about the age replacement policy, see Barlow and Hunter [1]. Now suppose that the lifetime follows the two-parameter Weibull distribution with the probability density function (pdf):

$$f(t) = \frac{\beta}{\alpha} (\frac{t}{\alpha})^{\beta-1} \exp\{-(\frac{t}{\alpha})^{\beta}\}, \quad \beta, \alpha, t \ge 0$$
(5)

and the cdf

$$F(t) = 1 - \exp\{-\left(\frac{t}{\alpha}\right)^{\beta}\}.$$
(6)

From (4), we get

$$\eta(T) = c_{ER} \left(\frac{1 + (c-1) \exp\{-(\frac{T}{\alpha})^{\beta}\}}{\int_0^T \exp\{-(\frac{x}{\alpha})^{\beta}\} dx} \right),\tag{7}$$

The main goal in this policy is to obtain the optimal replacement time T, denoted by T^* , which minimizes the function (7). If the model parameters are known then the optimal T^* may be numerically obtained.

The cost function $\eta(T)$ of Equation (7) is clearly increasing relative to the parameter α .

When the model parameters are unknown, in reliability analysis, product life data (the lifetimes of the products operated successfully or time to failure and time to repair data) are used to estimate the unknown parameters and the reliability characteristics. These data points normally follow some probability distributions. They are required to identify the best-fit distribution and estimate the parameters of the distribution by some statistical methods like maximum likelihood estimation, least-square method and probability plotting. But, in many situations, these life data sets are not sufficient to use these methods of parameter estimation. In such cases, the model parameters can be alternatively determined by using the knowledge or experience of the experts which is called the expert judgment-based parameter estimation method.

4 Expert judgement based approach

As stated in the previous section, when no lifetime data are available to estimate the probability distribution parameters , we have to invite some domain experts to evaluate the belief degree that each event will happen. Perhaps some people think that the belief degree should be modeled by subjective probability or fuzzy set theory. However, it is usually inappropriate because both of them may lead to counterintuitive results in this case. In order to rationally deal with belief degrees, uncertainty theory was founded in 2007 and subsequently studied by many researchers. Nowadays, uncertainty theory has become a branch of axiomatic mathematics for modeling belief degrees.

The steps for applying the DST based approach to investigate the cognitive uncertainty of system reliability data are: First expert's judgments turn into a set of beliefs that can extract system-related credibility data according to each expert. Credibility data extracted from each expert's knowledge are then converted to bpa. Finally, the bpa values are aggregated according to the DST and Yager combination rules, and the system credibility limits can be obtained based on the combination of the opinions of all experts. Assume that the time to failure system follows a two-parameter Weibull distribution. If one of the parameters of the model is unknown, in order to use the expert judgment method to estimate the unknown parameter the following question is asked from the experts:

What is the average lifetime of the system a period of time?

Experts can not directly show the value of μ using a clear value because this value is strongly influenced by the specific operating conditions of the system under consideration. Instead, they are more realistically able to provide μ as an interval. Therefore, the eth (e = 1, 2, 3, ..., E) is asked to state the interval in which he/she believes the actual value of μ falls. For example, the data collected by expert e for the component is the interval $[\underline{\mu}, \overline{\mu}]_e$. In what follows, we assume β is known and α is unknown. Note that the mean of the distribution (5):

$$\mu = \alpha \Gamma(1 + \frac{1}{\beta}). \tag{8}$$

Therefore, the judged interval $[\mu, \overline{\mu}]_e$ can be represented as follows

$$[\underline{\mu}, \overline{\mu}]_e = \left[\underline{\alpha}\Gamma(1+\frac{1}{\beta}), \overline{\alpha}\Gamma(1+\frac{1}{\beta})\right]_e \tag{9}$$

After collecting $[\underline{\mu}, \overline{\mu}]_e$, the interval value of the scale parameter $[\underline{\alpha}, \overline{\alpha}]_e$ can be calculated according to (9). Then, the lower and upper limit values of the reliability of the component in T_0 , i.e. $[\underline{R}, \overline{R}]_e$, can be obtained using the following equation:

$$[\underline{R}(T_0), \overline{R}(T_0)]_e = \left[\exp\{-(\frac{T_0}{\underline{\alpha}})^{\beta}\}, \exp\{-(\frac{T_0}{\overline{\alpha}})^{\beta}\}\right]_e$$
(10)

Now we want to convert the reliability data calculated from the experience of experts to bpa. Assume that, the selected $FOD = \{W, F\}$ is discrete, where W and F respectively show the working and failure conditions of component . In addition, the resulting power set is $\{\emptyset, \{W\}, \{F\}, \{W, F\}\}$. Considering the DST framework, the maximum values of the interval $[\underline{R}, \overline{R}]_e$ can be explained as the minimum and maximum belief that the expert e relates it to the Working state event (i.e. W) for the component at the end of the working period T. so, these two bounds indicate Belief and Plausibility of this statement that the component is in the working condition W at the end of the working period T, the $\underline{R}_e = Bel(W)_e = m(W)_e$ and $\overline{R}_e = Pl(W)_e = 1 - m(F)_e$. Also $m(W, F)_e = 1 - m(W)_e - m(F)_e$. To illustrate the proposed procedure, an illustrative example is reported in the following. Lets assume a mission time T_0 equal to 200 time units. The parameter $\beta = 2$. The judgment intervals $[\underline{\mu}, \overline{\mu}]_e$ for the mean of distribution which are expressed by four experts (i.e. e = 1,2,3,4) are reported in Table 1. The corresponding values of the scale parameter $[\underline{\alpha}, \overline{\alpha}]_e$ are computed by using (9), and interval-valued reliabilities of the component are also shown in Table 1.

01011 0.	1 10110	Sincy at 01	me ro sas	ou on op	11110110 01
μ	$\overline{\mu}$	$\underline{\alpha}$	\overline{lpha}	$\underline{R}(T_0)$	$\overline{R}(T_0)$
250	340	282.0948	383.6489	0.6049	0.7620
280	420	315.9464	473.9193	0.6698	0.8368
290	450	327.2300	507.7706	0.6883	0.8563
300	470	338.5138	530.3382	0.7053	0.8674
	$ \frac{\mu}{250} 280 290 300 $	$ \begin{array}{c} \underline{\mu} & \overline{\mu} \\ \underline{250} & 340 \\ 280 & 420 \\ 290 & 450 \\ 300 & 470 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

Table 1. Computation of reliability at time T_0 based on opinions of 4 experts

The valued of bpas are first computed based on the opinions of four expert, separately. Then, the bpas are aggregated by the Dempster and Yager rules using (1) and (2), respectively. The results are presented in Table2 and Table 3.

	Table 2.	The bpas for a	ny expert				
	$\underline{[\underline{R}(T_0), \overline{R}(T_0)]}$						
e	$m_e(W)$	$m_e(F)$	$m_e(W,F)$				
1	0.6049	0.2380	0.1571				
2	0.6698	0.1632	0.1670				
3	0.6883	0.1437	0.1680				
4	0.7053	0.1326	0.1621				

Table 3. The aggregation	gated bpa based	on opinions of 4	4 experts
--------------------------	-----------------	------------------	-----------

Aggregated bpa

	Dempster's rule	Yager's rule
$\boxed{[m_1 \oplus m_2 \oplus m_3 \oplus m_4](W)}$	0.9753	0.4730
$[m_1\oplus m_2\oplus m_3\oplus m4](F)$	0.0232	0.0113
$[m_1\oplus m_2\oplus m_3\oplus m_4](W,F)$	0.0015	0.5157

The lower bound of the components reliability at T_0 (i.e. Bel(W)) is the aggregated value of the $m(W)_e$ of the four experts, namely equal to $[m1 \oplus m2 \oplus m3 \oplus m4](W)$. The corresponding upper bound Pl(W) is computed as $1 - [m1 \oplus m2 \oplus m3 \oplus m4](F)$. Therefore, according to the aggregated data in Table 3, the interval $[\underline{R}(T_0), \overline{R}(T_0)]$ (credibility interval) of the working state event of the component at time $T_0 = 200$ based on Yager and DST rules are derived as

$$[\underline{R}, \overline{R}] = \begin{cases} & [0.4730, 0.9887], & \text{Yager rule,} \\ & [0.9753, 0.9768], & \text{DST rule.} \end{cases}$$
(11)

Hence, by solving the equations in (10), an interval-valued estimation for the scale parameter may be obtained as

$$[\underline{\alpha}, \overline{\alpha}] = \begin{cases} [231.1364, 1878.9620], & \text{Yager rule,} \\ [1264.5330, 1304.511], & \text{DST rule.} \end{cases}$$
(12)

5 Optimal maintenance problem

In this section we are going to optimize cost function (7) based on obtained credibility intervals for component under Yager and Dempester's rules. The optimal period of age replacement based on Yager and Dempster's rule are denoted by T_Y^* and T_D^* , respectively. The corresponding cost functions are also denoted by $\eta_Y(\cdot)$ and $\eta_D(\cdot)$, respectively. That is $\eta_Y(T_Y^*) = \min_T \eta_Y(T)$ and $\eta_D(T_D^*) = \min_T \eta_D(T)$.

To compare the performance of the Yager and Dempester rules, the following efficiency criterion is defined:

$$eff(\eta_Y, \eta_D) = \frac{\eta_D(T_D^*)}{\eta_Y(T_Y^*)}$$
(13)

According to the criterion (13), the Yager's rule is more efficient than Dempster's rule when $eff(\eta_Y, \eta_D) > 1$. To obtain the optimal replacement time with a given shape parameter β and a given cost c for different values of T_0 in a large set $\{1, 2, 3, ..., 1000\}$ are initially used to determine a suitable judgement interval for the unknown parameter α . For different values of T_0 , similar to the computational method used in Section 4, a judgement interval $[\alpha_{T_0}, \overline{\alpha}_{T_0}]$ is determined for the scale parameter based on Yager and DST rules. We calculate the minimum cost and correspondingly the optimal value of replacement time for each T_0 , since the cost function $\eta_Y(T)$ is increasing in α , we use the minimum value of α to obtain the minimum value of the cost function. Therefore, the optimal value of replacement time for Yager and Dempester's rules may be derived. The results are presented in Table 4 for different values of c.

 Table 4. Total expected Cost per unit time

	Yager		DST		
с	T_Y^*	$\eta_Y(T_Y^*)$	T_D^*	$\eta_D(T_D^*)$	eff
0.05	66.7986	151.0261	95.7358	105.3767	0.69773834
0.06	73.6315	164.7223	105.5287	114.9331	0.69773856
0.07	80.0343	177.4007	114.7053	123.5984	0.69671878
0.08	86.1085	188.5363	123.4109	131.5491	0.69773884
0.09	91.9246	199.3744	131.7465	138.9079	0.69671884
0.10	97.5341	208.9104	139.7860	145.7649	0.69773884
0.11	102.9760	218.1158	147.5854	152.8780	0.70090291
0.12	108.2810	226.7753	155.1884	158.2299	0.69773869
0.13	113.4734	234.9495	162.6303	163.9333	0.69773845
0.14	118.5736	242.6875	169.9398	169.3325	0.69773886
0.15	123.5984	250.0303	177.1413	174.4557	0.69773823

From Table 4, it is observed that:

1. As the value of c increases, the optimal replacement time for both Yager and Dempster rule's increases.

2. For all values of c, the optimal replacement time according to Dempster's rule T_D^* is greater than the optimal replacement time according to Yager's rule T_Y^* , but the minimum value of the cost function according to Dempster's rule $\eta_D(T_D^*)$ is slightly less than the minimum value of the cost function according to yager rule $\eta_Y(T_Y^*)$.

3. For all values of c, the value of efficiency is less than 1 and this means the Dempster's rule is more efficient than yager's rule.

6 Conclusions

An optimal age replacement strategy was studied under the epistemic uncertainty. For the situations in which the parameter of the distribution is unknown and little or no data are available to estimate the parameter, the Dempster-Shafer reasoning method was used to determine the model parameters based on the judgements and mental estimates of some experts in the relevant field. At first, the opinions of some experts were used to determine the unknown parameter about the average lifetime system. The knowledge of each expert was asked about the average lifetime of the system and the responses were converted to bpa values. Then, the obtained bpas for all experts were aggregated using the DST and Yager rules and they are used to specify the optimal maintenance policy. The results showed that DST rule is more accurate than yager rule, but yager rule works more conservatively than DST rule. The results of the paper may be extended to other maintenance model for a multicomponent system subject to more constraints.

References

- Barlow, R.E., Hunter, L., Optimum preventive maintenance policies, OperRes., vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 90-100, Apr. 1960.
- [2] Dempster, A. P., Upper and lower probabilities induced by a multivalued mapping, The Annals of Statistics, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 325339, 1967.
- [3] Dubois, Z. D. and Prade, H., Possibility Theory: An Approach to Computerized Processing of Uncertainty, New York, America: Plenum, 1988.
- [4] Dubois, D. and Prade, H., Possibility Theory: An Approach to Computerized Processing of Uncertainty, Soft Comput., vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 625-634, Apr. 2013.
- [5] Liu, B., Uncertainty Theory, 2nd ed. Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag, 2007.
- [6] Liu, B., Uncertainty Theory: A Branch of Mathematics for Modeling Human Uncertainty., Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag, 2010.
- [7] Liu, B., Fuzzy Sets and Fuzzy Logic: Theory and Applications, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA, 1995.
- [8] Liu, Y. H., Uncertain random variables: A mixture of uncertainty and randomness, Soft Comput., vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 625-634, Apr. 2013.

- [9] Liu, Y. H., Uncertain random programming with applications, Fuzzy Optim. Decis. Making, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 153-169, Jun. 2013.
- [10] Siuta, D., Markowski, A. S., & Mannan, M. S. Uncertainty techniques in liquefied natural gas (LNG) dispersion calculations, Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries, 26(3), 418426.2013.
- [11] Tsao, Y.-C, Design of a carbon-efficient supply-chain network under trade credits., International Journal of Systems Science: Operations & Logistics, 2(3), 177186. 2015.
- [12] Shafer, G., A Mathematical Theory of Evidence, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, USA, 1976.
- [13] Zadeh, L. A., Fuzzy sets, Information and Control, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 338-353, Jun. 1965.
- [14] Zadeh, L. A., Fuzzy sets as a basis for a theory of possibility, Fuzzy Set. Syst., vol. 1, no.1, 3-28, Jan. 1978.



Usual stochastic order of α -mixtures with proportional odds model as a baseline

Shojaee, O.¹

 1 Department of Statistics, University of Zabol, Zabol, Sistan and Baluchestan, Iran

Abstract

As a new flexible family of distributions, the α -mixture model includes many existing mixture models as special cases. This paper is an attempt to the usual stochastic order of this family when the underlying distribution follows from the proportional odds model. Sufficient conditions are provided for comparing two finite α -mixtures of survival functions with the baseline survival functions following the PO model in the sense of usual stochastic order when both the mixing proportions and the PO parameters of the first α -mixture majorize the mixing proportions and the PO parameters of the second one. Also, an upper bound for the reliability function of the α -mixture of survival function. Moreover, similar results are obtained for the α -mixture of cumulative distribution function. Finally, our theoretical findings are evaluated by some numerical examples.

Keywords: Mixture models, Usual stochastic order, Proportional odds model.

1 Introduction

In real life, one can hardly found homogeneous populations. In most areas, including the lifetime, the distribution of the lifetime populations is not homogeneous, and usually consist of a different number of homogeneous sub-populations. For example when components are mixed with two

¹o_shojaee@uoz.ac.ir
different product lines due to different work shifts, different raw materials, different manpower, etc. Obviously, due to the mentioned diversity in the production line, the lifetime distribution of components of one production line is different from another production line and when mixed, they will lead to heterogeneous populations. Ignoring the heterogeneity can lead to fundamental errors in reliability analysis. A new flexible family of distributions, called the α -mixture model proposed by [1], is usually an effective tool for modeling heterogeneity in populations, and includes many existing mixture models as special cases.

This short communications provides sufficient conditions for comparing two finite α -mixtures of survival (cumulative distribution) functions with the baseline distribution functions following the PO model in the sense of usual stochastic order when both the mixing proportions and the PO parameters of the first α -mixture majorize the mixing proportions and the PO parameters of the second one. The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, the definition of the α -mixture model, proportional odds model and some basic definitions and lemmas are reviewed. Section 3, is devoted to the usual stochastic order of α -mixtures.

2 Preliminaries

Consider two random variables X and Y with SF's \overline{F} and \overline{G} , respectively.

Definition 2.1. The random variable X is said to be smaller than Y in the usual stochastic order if $\bar{F}(x) \leq \bar{G}(x)$ for all x, or equivalently $E[\phi(X)] \leq E[\phi(Y)]$ for all increasing functions ϕ for which the expectations exist, and denoted by $X \leq_{st} Y$.

Definition 2.2. (Marshall et al. [2]). Let $a_{(1)} \leq \cdots \leq a_{(n)}$ and $b_{(1)} \leq \cdots \leq b_{(n)}$ denote the increasing arrangements of $\boldsymbol{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_n)$ and $\boldsymbol{b} = (b_1, \ldots, b_n)$, respectively.

- (i) If $\sum_{j=1}^{i} a_{(j)} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{i} b_{(j)}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$, and $\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{(j)} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{(j)}$, then \boldsymbol{a} is said to majorize \boldsymbol{b} and denoted by $\boldsymbol{a} \succeq \boldsymbol{b}$.
- (ii) If $\sum_{j=1}^{i} a_{(j)} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{i} b_{(j)}$ for i = 1, ..., n, then **a** is said to weakly supermajorize **b**, and denoted by $\mathbf{a} \succeq \mathbf{b}$.
- (iii) If $\sum_{j=i}^{n} a_{(j)} \ge \sum_{j=i}^{n} b_{(j)}$ for i = 1, ..., n, then **a** is said to weakly submajorize **b**, denoted by $\mathbf{a} \succeq_{w} \mathbf{b}$.

Definition 2.3. (Marshall et al. [2]). Consider a real-valued function ϕ defined on a set $\mathbb{A} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$. If $\mathbf{a} \succeq \mathbf{b}$ implies $\phi(\mathbf{a}) \ge (\le)\phi(\mathbf{b})$ for any $\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{A}$, then ϕ is Schur-convex (Schur-concave) on \mathbb{A} .

Characterizations of Schur-convex (Schur-concave) functions are provided in the next lemma.

Lemma 2.4. (Marshall et al. [2]). Suppose that $\phi : I^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a real-valued, continuously differentiable function, where $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ is an open interval. Then, ϕ is Schur-convex (Schur-concave) on I^n if and only if

- (i) ϕ is symmetric on I^n , and
- (ii) for all $i \neq j$ and all $x \in I^n$,

$$(a_i - a_j)\left(\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial a_i}(\boldsymbol{a}) - \frac{\partial\phi}{\partial a_j}(\boldsymbol{a})\right) \ge (\le)0,$$

where $\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial a_i}$ is the partial derivative of ϕ with respect to its *i*-th argument.

Lemma 2.5. (Marshall et al. [2]). Let ϕ be a real-valued function defined on a set $\mathbb{A} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$. Then,

- (i) ϕ is increasing and Schur-convex on \mathbb{A} if and only if $\mathbf{a} \succeq_w \mathbf{b}$ implies $\phi(\mathbf{a}) \ge \phi(\mathbf{b})$;
- (ii) ϕ is decreasing and Schur-convex on \mathbb{A} if and only if $\mathbf{a} \stackrel{w}{\succeq} \mathbf{b}$ implies $\phi(\mathbf{a}) \geq \phi(\mathbf{b})$.

Before giving the main results of the paper, we need the following notation:

$$S_n = \{(a, b) : a_i, b_i \le 0 \quad (a_i - a_j)(b_i - b_j) \le 0, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n\}.$$

2.1 Proportional odds model

The proportional odds (PO) model, that proposed by Bennett [2], is a very important semiparametric model in reliability theory and survival analysis. A random variable $T|\lambda$ is said to follow a PO model if its SF is expressed as

$$\bar{F}(t|\lambda) = \frac{\lambda F(t)}{1 - \bar{\lambda}\bar{F}(t)}$$

where $\lambda > 0$ is a constant, and $\overline{F}(t)$ is the baseline SF. In this case the hazard rate function of T is

$$r(t|\lambda) = rac{r(t)}{1 - \bar{\lambda}\bar{F}(t)},$$

where r(t) is the baseline hazard rate. Note that the odds function of random variable $T|\lambda$, denoted by $\tau(t|\lambda)$, is $\tau(t|\lambda) = \lambda \tau(t)$, where $\tau(t)$ is the baseline odds. Similarly the CDF of $T|\lambda$ is

$$F(t|\lambda) = \frac{F(t)}{1 - \bar{\lambda}\bar{F}(t)}$$

where F(t) is the baseline CDF.

2.2 Finite α -Mixture

Following [1] the finite α -mixture of SF's for n homogeneous subpopulations with SF's \overline{F}_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n, is

$$\bar{F}_{\alpha}(t) = \begin{cases} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \bar{F}_i^{\alpha}(t)\right]^{1/\alpha}, & \alpha \neq 0, \\ \bar{F}_{gm}(t) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \bar{F}_i^{p_i}(t), & \alpha = 0, \end{cases}$$
(1)

where $\bar{F}_{gm}(t) = \lim_{\alpha \to 0} \bar{F}_{\alpha}(t)$ is the geometric mean of SF's \bar{F}_i , and $p_i \ge 0$, $i = 1, \ldots, n$, is the mixing proportion such that $\sum_{i=1}^n p_i = 1$.

If we denote by $r_{\alpha}(t)$ and $r_i(t)$ the hazard rate of the finite α -mixture of SF's and hazard rate of the *i*-th subpopulation, respectively, then

$$r_{\alpha}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} r_i(t) p_i(t), \qquad (2)$$

where $p_i(t) = \frac{p_i \bar{F}_i^{\alpha}(t)}{\sum_{i=1}^n p_i \bar{F}_i^{\alpha}(t)}$. In particular, for the finite α -mixture of SF's (1), the hazard rate of the geometric mixture, denoted by $r_{gm}(t)$ can be expressed as:

$$r_{gm}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i r_i(t).$$

For some reliability interpretations of the finite α -mixture of SF's for different values of α , interested readers may refer to [4] and [5].

Similarly, the finite α -mixture of CDF's for n homogeneous subpopulations with CDF's F_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n, can be defined as

$$F_{\alpha}(t) = \begin{cases} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i F_i^{\alpha}(t)\right]^{1/\alpha}, & \alpha \neq 0, \\ F_{gm}(t) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} F_i^{p_i}(t), & \alpha = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3)

where $F_{gm}(t) = \lim_{\alpha \to 0} F_{\alpha}(t)$.

3 Main results

This section compares the reliability functions of two finite α -mixtures of SF's (CDF's) with the baseline SF's (CDF's) following the PO model in the sense of usual stochastic order when both the mixing proportions and the parameters of the first α -mixture majorize the mixing proportions and the parameters of the case $\alpha \to 0$, the geometric mean of SF's (CDF's), provides an entirely different model, the corresponding results are presented separately.

Theorem 3.1. Suppose that $M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO)$ and $M_{\alpha}^{\star}(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)$ are the lifetime random variables of two n-component finite α -mixtures of SF's with the respective proportional odds parameters $\boldsymbol{\lambda} = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ and $\boldsymbol{\gamma} = (\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n)$, and the respective mixing proportions $\boldsymbol{p} = (p_1, \ldots, p_n)$ and $\boldsymbol{q} = (q_1, \ldots, q_n)$ with SF's $\bar{F}_{M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO)}(t) = \left[\sum_{i=1}^n p_i \left(\frac{\lambda_i \bar{F}(t)}{1 - \bar{\lambda}_i F(t)}\right)^{\alpha}\right]^{1/\alpha}$ and $\bar{F}_{M_{\alpha}^{\star}(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)}(t) = \left[\sum_{i=1}^n q_i \left(\frac{\gamma_i \bar{F}(t)}{1 - \bar{\gamma}_i \bar{F}(t)}\right)^{\alpha}\right]^{1/\alpha}$, respectively. If $\boldsymbol{p} \succeq_w \boldsymbol{q}$ ($\boldsymbol{p} \succeq \boldsymbol{q}$) and $\boldsymbol{\lambda} \succeq \boldsymbol{\gamma}$, then for $(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}) \in S_n$ and $(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}) \in S_n$ we have: $M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO) \leq_{st} M_{\alpha}^{\star}(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)$ for $\alpha < 0$ ($\alpha \in (0, 1]$).

Proof. To prove the theorem, it is enough to show that $\bar{F}_{M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)$ is decreasing (increasing) and Schur-concave with respect to $\boldsymbol{\lambda}$. The partial derivative of $\bar{F}_{M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)$ with respect to λ_i is

$$\frac{\partial \bar{F}_{M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)}{\partial \lambda_{i}} = p_{i} \frac{\partial \bar{F}(t|\lambda_{i})}{\partial \lambda_{i}} \bar{F}^{\alpha-1}(t|\lambda_{i}) \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \bar{F}^{\alpha}(t|\lambda_{i})\right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha}-1} \ge 0,$$

where $\bar{F}(t|\lambda_i) = \frac{\lambda_i \bar{F}(t)}{1 - \bar{\lambda}_i \bar{F}(t)}$ is increasing in λ . Thus, $\bar{F}_{M_\alpha(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)$ is increasing in λ_i . Now, for any $u \neq s, u, s \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$

$$(\lambda_u - \lambda_s) \left[\frac{\partial F_{M_\alpha(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)}{\partial \lambda_u} - \frac{\partial F_{M_\alpha(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)}{\partial \lambda_s} \right] \\ = (\lambda_u - \lambda_s) \left[p_u \frac{\partial \bar{F}(t|\lambda_u)}{\partial \lambda_u} \bar{F}^{\alpha - 1}(t|\lambda_u) - p_s \frac{\partial \bar{F}(t|\lambda_s)}{\partial \lambda_s} \bar{F}^{\alpha - 1}(t|\lambda_s) \right]$$

Now, for $\lambda_u \leq (\geq)\lambda_s$, $\bar{F}^{\alpha-1}(t|\lambda_u) \geq (\leq)\bar{F}^{\alpha-1}(t|\lambda_s)$. Since $\bar{F}(t|\lambda)$ is increasing and concave, we get: $\frac{\partial \bar{F}(t|\lambda_u)}{\partial \lambda_u} \geq (\leq) \frac{\partial \bar{F}(t|\lambda_s)}{\partial \lambda_s}$. On the other hand, from $(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}) \in \mathcal{S}_n$, we have $p_u \geq (\leq)p_s$. Consequently,

$$(\lambda_u - \lambda_s) \left[\frac{\partial \bar{F}_{M_\alpha(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO)}(t)}{\partial \lambda_u} - \frac{\partial \bar{F}_{M_\alpha(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO)}(t)}{\partial \lambda_s} \right] \le 0$$

Thus, using Lemma 2.4, $\bar{F}_{M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)$ is Schur-concave with respect to $\boldsymbol{\lambda}$. Hence, by Lemma 2.5 if $\boldsymbol{\lambda} \succeq \boldsymbol{\gamma}$, then

$$\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \bar{F}^{\alpha}(t|\lambda_i)\right]^{1/\alpha} \le \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \bar{F}^{\alpha}(t|\gamma_i)\right]^{1/\alpha}.$$
(4)

That means $M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO) \leq_{st} M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)$ for $\alpha < 0$ ($\alpha \in (0, 1]$). Now, we have must to show that $M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO) \leq_{st} M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)$. Thus, we have

$$\frac{\partial \bar{F}_{M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\gamma},PO)}(t)}{\partial p_{i}} = \frac{1}{\alpha} \bar{F}^{\alpha}(t|\gamma_{i}) \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \bar{F}^{\alpha}(t|\gamma_{i})\right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha}-1} \le (\ge)0,$$

for $\alpha < 0$ ($\alpha \in (0, 1]$). On the other hand,

$$(p_u - p_s) \left[\frac{\partial \bar{F}_{M_\alpha(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\gamma},PO)}(t)}{\partial p_u} - \frac{\partial \bar{F}_{M_\alpha(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\gamma},PO)}(t)}{\partial p_s} \right]$$

$$\stackrel{sign}{=} (p_u - p_s) \left[\frac{1}{\alpha} \left(\bar{F}^\alpha(t|\gamma_u) - \bar{F}^\alpha(t|\gamma_s) \right) \right] \le 0.$$

Thus, $\bar{F}_{M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\gamma},PO)}(t)$ is decreasing (increasing) and Schur-concave with respect to \boldsymbol{p} for $\alpha < 0$ ($\alpha \in (0,1]$). Hence, if $\boldsymbol{p} \succeq_w \boldsymbol{q}$ ($\boldsymbol{p} \succeq^w \boldsymbol{q}$), then Lemma 2.5 yields

$$\left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \bar{F}^{\alpha}(t|\gamma_i)\right]^{1/\alpha} \le \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} q_i \bar{F}^{\alpha}(t|\gamma_i)\right]^{1/\alpha},\tag{5}$$

for $\alpha < 0$ ($\alpha \in (0,1]$). By combining (6) and (7), we get: $M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO) \leq_{st} M_{\alpha}^{\star}(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)$, completing the proof of the theorem.

Theorem 3.1 gives the following upper bound for the SF of the random variable $M_{\alpha}(\mathbf{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO)$.

Corollary 3.2. Set $(\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n) = (\bar{\lambda}, \ldots, \bar{\lambda})$, where $\bar{\lambda} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i$, and $(q_1, \ldots, q_n) = (\bar{p}, \ldots, \bar{p})$, where $\bar{p} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n p_i$. It is easy to see that $\lambda \succeq \gamma$ and $p \succeq_w q$ $(p \succeq q)$. Thus, an upper bound for the SF of $M_{\alpha}(p, \lambda, PO)$ for $\alpha \in (-\infty, 0) \cup (0, 1)$ is as follows.

$$\bar{F}_{M_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t) \leq (n\bar{p})^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \frac{\bar{\lambda}\bar{F}(t)}{1-\bar{\bar{\lambda}}\bar{F}(t)},$$

where $\bar{\bar{\lambda}} = 1 - \bar{\lambda}$.

The following theorem compares two geometric mixtures of SF's with PO model as baselines.

Theorem 3.3. Suppose that $G(\mathbf{p}, \lambda, PO)$ and $G^{\star}(\mathbf{q}, \gamma, PO)$ are the lifetime random variables of two n-component finite geometric mixtures of SF's with the respective proportional odds parameters $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ and $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n)$, and the respective mixing proportions $\mathbf{p} =$ (p_1, \ldots, p_n) and $\mathbf{q} = (q_1, \ldots, q_n)$ with SF's $\overline{F}_{G(\mathbf{p}, \lambda, PO)}(t) = \prod_{i=1}^n \left(\frac{\lambda_i \overline{F}(t)}{1 - \lambda_i \overline{F}(t)}\right)^{p_i}$ and $\overline{F}_{G^{\star}(\mathbf{q}, \gamma, PO)}(t) =$ $\prod_{i=1}^n \left(\frac{\gamma_i \overline{F}(t)}{1 - \overline{\gamma_i} \overline{F}(t)}\right)^{q_i}$, respectively. If $\mathbf{p} \succeq_w \mathbf{q}$ and $\lambda \succeq^w \gamma$, then for $(\mathbf{p}, \lambda) \in S_n$ and $(\mathbf{q}, \gamma) \in S_n$ we have: $G(\mathbf{p}, \lambda, PO) \leq_{st} G^{\star}(\mathbf{q}, \gamma, PO)$.

Proof. To prove the theorem, it is enough to show that $\overline{F}_{G(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)$ is decreasing and Schurconcave with respect to $\boldsymbol{\lambda}$. Similar to proof of Theorem 3.1, the partial derivative of $\overline{F}_{G(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)$ with respect to λ_i is

$$\frac{\partial \bar{F}_{G(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)}{\partial \lambda_{i}} = p_{i} \frac{\frac{\partial \bar{F}(t|\lambda_{i})}{\partial \lambda_{i}}}{\bar{F}(t|\lambda_{i})} \bar{F}_{G(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t) \geq 0,$$

because $\overline{F}(t|\lambda_i)$ is increasing in λ . For any $u \neq s, u, s \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$

$$(\lambda_u - \lambda_s) \left[\frac{\partial \bar{F}_{G(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)}{\partial \lambda_u} - \frac{\partial \bar{F}_{G(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)}{\partial \lambda_s} \right]$$

$$\stackrel{sign}{=} (\lambda_u - \lambda_s) \left[p_u \frac{\partial \bar{F}(t|\lambda_u)}{\bar{F}(t|\lambda_u)} - p_s \frac{\partial \bar{F}(t|\lambda_s)}{\partial \lambda_s}}{\bar{F}(t|\lambda_s)} \right] \le 0.$$

Hence, by Lemma 2.4, $\bar{F}_{G(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)$ is Schur-concave with respect to $\boldsymbol{\lambda}$, and if $\boldsymbol{\lambda} \succeq^{w} \boldsymbol{\gamma}$, then Lemma 2.5 yields

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \bar{F}^{p_i}(t|\lambda_i) \le \prod_{i=1}^{n} \bar{F}^{p_i}(t|\gamma_i).$$
(6)

On the other hand,

$$\frac{\partial F_{G(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\gamma},PO)}(t)}{\partial p_i} = \log \bar{F}(t|\gamma_i) \bar{F}_{G(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\gamma},PO)}(t) \le 0,$$

and

$$(p_u - p_s) \left[\frac{\partial \bar{F}_{G(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)}(t)}{\partial p_u} - \frac{\partial \bar{F}_{G(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)}(t)}{\partial p_s} \right] \le 0.$$

Thus, $\bar{F}_{G(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\gamma},PO)}(t)$ is decreasing and Schur-concave with respect to \boldsymbol{p} . Hence, from Lemma 2.5, if $\boldsymbol{p} \succeq_w \boldsymbol{q}$, then

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \bar{F}^{p_i}(t|\gamma_i) \le \prod_{i=1}^{n} \bar{F}^{q_i}(t|\gamma_i).$$

$$\tag{7}$$

Consequently, from (6) and (7), one can obtain: $G(\mathbf{p}, \lambda, PO) \leq_{st} G^{\star}(\mathbf{q}, \gamma, PO)$.

Corollary 3.4. Set $(\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n) = (\bar{\lambda}, \ldots, \bar{\lambda})$, where $\bar{\lambda} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i$, and $(q_1, \ldots, q_n) = (\bar{p}, \ldots, \bar{p})$, where $\bar{p} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n p_i$. It is easy to see that $\lambda \succeq \gamma$ and $p \succeq_w q$. Thus, an upper bound for the SF of $G(p, \lambda, PO)$ is as follows.

$$\bar{F}_{G(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t) \leq \left(\frac{\bar{\lambda}\bar{F}(t)}{1-\bar{\bar{\lambda}}\bar{F}(t)}\right)^{n\bar{p}},$$

where $\bar{\bar{\lambda}} = 1 - \bar{\lambda}$.

In the following, similar results for the finite α -mixture of CDF's, without proofs, are provided.

Theorem 3.5. Let $W_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO)$ and $W_{\alpha}^{\star}(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)$ be the lifetime random variables of two *n*-component finite α -mixtures of CDF's with the respective proportional odds parameters $\boldsymbol{\lambda} = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ and $\boldsymbol{\gamma} = (\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n)$, and the respective mixing proportions $\boldsymbol{p} = (p_1, \ldots, p_n)$ and $\boldsymbol{q} = (q_1, \ldots, q_n)$ with CDF's $F_{W_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO)}(t) = \left[\sum_{i=1}^n p_i \left(\frac{F(t)}{1-\lambda_i F(t)}\right)^{\alpha}\right]^{1/\alpha}$ and $F_{W_{\alpha}^{\star}(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)}(t) = \left[\sum_{i=1}^n q_i \left(\frac{F(t)}{1-\overline{\gamma_i F(t)}}\right)^{\alpha}\right]^{1/\alpha}$ respectively. If $\boldsymbol{p} \succeq_w \boldsymbol{q}$ and $\boldsymbol{\lambda} \succeq^w \boldsymbol{\gamma}$, then for $(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}) \in S_n$ and $(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}) \in S_n$ we have: $W_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO) \leq_{st} W_{\alpha}^{\star}(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)$ for $\alpha \geq 1$.

Corollary 3.6. Set $(\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n) = (\bar{\lambda}, \ldots, \bar{\lambda})$, where $\bar{\lambda} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i$, and $(q_1, \ldots, q_n) = (\bar{p}, \ldots, \bar{p})$, where $\bar{p} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n p_i$. It is easy to see that $\boldsymbol{\lambda} \succeq \boldsymbol{\gamma}$ and $\boldsymbol{p} \succeq_w \boldsymbol{q}$. Thus, a lower bound for the CDF of $W_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO)$ for $\alpha \geq 1$ is as follows.

$$(n\bar{p})^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \frac{F(t)}{1-\bar{\bar{\lambda}}\bar{F}(t)} \leq F_{W_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t),$$

where $\bar{\bar{\lambda}} = 1 - \bar{\lambda}$.

Theorem 3.7. Let $G_c(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO)$ and $G_c^{\star}(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)$ be the lifetime random variables of two ncomponent finite geometric mixtures of CDF's with the respective proportional odds parameters $\boldsymbol{\lambda} = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ and $\boldsymbol{\gamma} = (\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n)$, and the respective mixing proportions $\boldsymbol{p} = (p_1, \ldots, p_n)$ and $\boldsymbol{q} = (q_1, \ldots, q_n)$ with CDF's $F_{G_c(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO)}(t) = \prod_{i=1}^n \left(\frac{F(t)}{1-\overline{\lambda_i}F(t)}\right)^{p_i}$ and $F_{G_c^{\star}(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)}(t) = \prod_{i=1}^n \left(\frac{F(t)}{1-\overline{\gamma_i}F(t)}\right)^{q_i}$, respectively. If $\boldsymbol{p} \succeq \boldsymbol{q}$ and $\boldsymbol{\lambda} \succeq \boldsymbol{\gamma}$, then for $(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}) \in S_n$ and $(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}) \in S_n$ we have: $G_c(\boldsymbol{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO) \leq_{st} G_c^{\star}(\boldsymbol{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)$.

Corollary 3.8. Set $(\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n) = (\bar{\lambda}, \ldots, \bar{\lambda})$, where $\bar{\lambda} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i$, and $(q_1, \ldots, q_n) = (\bar{p}, \ldots, \bar{p})$, where $\bar{p} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n p_i$. It is easy to see that $\lambda \succeq \gamma$ and $p \succeq q$. Thus, an upper bound for the CDF of $G_c(p, \lambda, PO)$ is as follows.

$$F_{G_c(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t) \le \left(\frac{F(t)}{1-\bar{\lambda}\bar{F}(t)}\right)^{n\bar{p}},$$

where $\overline{\overline{\lambda}} = 1 - \overline{\lambda}$.

Let us consider some examples for our theoretical findings.

- **Example 3.9.** (a) Suppose that the baseline distribution is standard Exponential distribution with SF $\overline{F}(t) = e^{-t}, t \ge 0$. Set $\mathbf{p} = (p_1, p_2, p_3) = (0.7, 0.2, 0.1), \mathbf{q} = (q_1, q_2, q_3) = (0.6, 0.2, 0.2),$ $\boldsymbol{\lambda} = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3) = (0.4, 0.7, 0.8), \boldsymbol{\gamma} = (\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3) = (0.5, 0.7, 0.9)$ and $\alpha = 0.5$. Clearly, $\mathbf{p} \succeq \mathbf{q},$ $\boldsymbol{\lambda} \succeq \boldsymbol{\gamma}, (\mathbf{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}) \in S_3$ and $(\mathbf{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}) \in S_3$. Thus, all condition of Theorem 3.1 are satisfied. Figure 1 (a) depicts the SF's of $M_{0.5}(\mathbf{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO)$ and $M_{0.5}^*(\mathbf{q}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}, PO)$, and indicates that the usual stochastic order is hold. Also, Figure 2 (a) Shows the SF's of $M_{0.5}(\mathbf{p}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}, PO)$ and its corresponding upper bound given in Corollary 3.2.
 - (b) Let W_α(**p**, **λ**, PO) and W^{*}_α(**q**, **γ**, PO) are two finite α-mixtures of CDF's with the specifications given as part (a) and α = 1.5. Figure 1 (b) plots the CDF's of W_{1.5}(**p**, **λ**, PO) and W^{*}_{1.5}(**q**, **γ**, PO), and coincides with the result of Theorem 3.5. Further, Figure 2 (b) plots the CDF's of W_{1.5}(**p**, **λ**, PO) and its corresponding lower bound given in Corollary 3.6.



Figure 1: (a): $\bar{F}_{M_{0.5}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)$ (solid) and $\bar{F}_{M_{0.5}^{\star}(\boldsymbol{q},\boldsymbol{\gamma},PO)}(t)$ (dash dot); and (b): $F_{W_{1.5}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)$ (solid) and $F_{W_{1.5}^{\star}(\boldsymbol{q},\boldsymbol{\gamma},PO)}(t)$ (dash dot) in Example 3.9.



Figure 2: (a): $\bar{F}_{M_{0.5}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)$ (solid) and the corresponding upper bound (dash dot); and (b): $F_{W_{1.5}(\boldsymbol{p},\boldsymbol{\lambda},PO)}(t)$ (solid) and the corresponding lower bound (dash dot) in Example 3.9.

4 Conclusions

In this paper, we have considered the PO model as a baseline distribution in the finite α -mixture model, and have provided sufficient conditions, using the concept of majorization, to compare two finite α -mixtures in the sense of usual stochastic order. Recently, Shojaee et al. [6] have compared two generalized finite α -mixtures of SF's when the baseline SF is decreasing (increasing) and convex (concave) in the parameter for $\alpha_i \geq 0$ ($\alpha_i \leq 0$). The finite α -mixture is the special case of the generalized finite α -mixture with $\alpha_i = \alpha$, however, the results of the paper have obtained under slightly different conditions.

References

 Asadi, M., Ebrahimi, N. and Soofi, E. S. (2019). The alpha-mixture of survival functions. Journal of Applied Probability, 56(4), 1151-1167.

- [2] Bennett, S. (1983). Analysis of survival data by the proportional odds model. Statistics in Medicine, 2, 273-277.
- [3] Marshall, A. W., Olkin, I. and Arnold, B. C. (2011). *Inequalities: Theory of Majorization and its Applications*. Springer, New York.
- [4] Shojaee, O., Asadi, M. and Finkelstein, M. (2021). On some properties of α-mixtures. Metrika, 84(8), 1-28.
- [5] Shojaee, O., Asadi, M. and Finkelstein, M. (2023). On the hazard rate of α -mixture of survival functions. Communications in Statistics-Theory and Methods, 1-24.
- [6] Shojaee, O., Asadi, M. and Finkelstein, M. (2022). Stochastic properties of generalized finite α -mixtures. Probability in the Engineering and Informational Sciences, **36(4)**, 1055-1079.



9th Seminar on Reliability Theory and its Applications



24-25 May 2023

An upper bound for the reliability of engineering systems

Toomaj, A. $^{\rm 1}$

¹ Faculty of Basic Sciences and Engineering, Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Gonbad Kavous University, Gonbad Kavous, Iran

Abstract

Since the exact reliability of coherent systems is notoriously difficult to calculate, so bounds can be useful in such situations. In this note, we establish an upper bound for the reliability of coherent systems lifetime by using the system signature. An advantage of the new bound is that it is easy to compute.

Keywords: Coherent system, System signature, Variance.

1 Introduction

It is hard to obtain the exact reliability of coherent systems via straightforward computations in some situations. For instance, it often requires the distribution of component lifetimes as well as the exact structure function of the system. Therefore, there have been efforts made to obtain useful bounds for them. The problem typically consists of computing the possible upper and lower bounds on the reliability, assuming that the lifetime distribution belongs to a common family e.g. IFR, IFRA, NBU. Various results in this area are available in Barlow and Proschan [3]. Since Markov's fundamental inequality, a number of improvements have been obtained under additional assumptions on the underlying distribution function. It states that for a nonnegative random

 $^{^1}ab.toomaj@gonbad.ac.ir$

variable with mean $\mu = \mathbb{E}(X)$, and survival probability $\overline{F}(t) = P(X > t)$ it holds that $\overline{F}(t) \leq \mu/t$ for $t > \mu$ and $\overline{F}(t) \leq 1$ for $0 < t \leq \mu$, see e.g. Haines and Singpurvalla [1] and Marshall [2]. The aim of this paper is to provide an upper bound based on the following lemma.

Lemma 1.1. Let X be a random variable with the cumulative distribution function (CDF) F(x). If $\mathbb{E}(X) = 0$ and $\mathbb{E}(X^2) = \sigma^2(X) < \infty$, then

$$\overline{F}(t) \le \frac{\sigma^2(X)}{\sigma^2(X) + t^2}, \ t > 0.$$

Proof. For all b > 0, we have

$$P(X > t) = P(X + b > t + b)$$

$$\leq P((X + b)^{2} > (t + b)^{2})$$

$$\leq \frac{E(X + b)^{2}}{(t + b)^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{\sigma^{2}(X) + b^{2}}{(t + b)^{2}}.$$

The last inequality is obtained by using the Markov's inequality. The minimum of the right-handside of the above relation is attained when $b = \frac{\sigma^2}{t}$, and the proof is then completed.

Based on the upper bound given in Lemma 1.1, we provide a new upper bound for the reliability function of a coherent system by using the concept of system signature. It depends on the mean and variance of the signature vector as well as the parent distribution function.

2 Main results

Hereafter, we provide an upper bound for the reliability function of the coherent systems. For this purpose, let us consider an increasing nonnegative differentiable function $\psi(x)$ such that $\psi'(x) = \phi(x) \ge 0$. Applying Lemma 1.1, we obtain the following theorem.

Theorem 2.1. Let X be a lifetime with CDF F(x), and with $\mu_{\psi} = \mathbb{E}[\psi(X)] < \infty$ and $\psi(t)$ being an increasing function of t. Then,

$$\overline{F}(t) \leq \begin{cases} \frac{\sigma_{\psi}^2(X)}{\sigma_{\psi}^2(X) + (\psi(t) - \mu_{\psi})^2}, & \psi(t) > \mu_{\psi} \\ 1, & \psi(t) \le \mu_{\psi} \end{cases}$$
(1)

where $\sigma_{\psi}^2(X) = \sigma^2(\psi(X)).$

Proof. Since $\psi(\cdot)$ is an increasing function, we have

$$P(X > t) = P(\psi(X) > \psi(t))$$

= $P(\psi(X) - \mu_{\psi} > \psi(t) - \mu_{\psi})$
 $\leq P(Z_{\psi}^{2} > (\psi(t) - \mu_{\psi})^{2})$
 $\leq \frac{\sigma_{\psi}^{2}(X)}{\sigma_{\psi}^{2}(X) + (\psi(t) - \mu_{\psi})^{2}}, \ \psi(t) > \mu_{\psi}.$

The required inequality is obtained by noting that $Z_{\psi} = \psi(X) - \mu_{\psi}$ has $\mathbb{E}(Z_{\psi}) = 0$ and $\mathbb{E}(Z_{\psi}^2) = \sigma_{\psi}^2(X)$, and then using Lemma 1.1. Hence, the theorem.

In particular, if we take $\psi(t) = t$, we simply have $\mu = \mathbb{E}[X]$. Then, we deduce the bound

$$\overline{F}(t) \leq \begin{cases} \frac{\sigma^2(X)}{\sigma^2(X) + (t-\mu)^2}, & t > \mu \\ 1, & t \leq \mu \end{cases}$$
(2)

A system is said to be coherent if it does not have any irrelevant components and its structurefunction is monotone. A special case of coherent systems is the k-out-of-n system, where the system fails when the k-th component failure occurs. Let T denote the lifetime of a mixed system consisting of n independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.) components with lifetimes X_1, \ldots, X_n having an absolutely continuous CDF F. Denote by $X_{1:n}, \ldots, X_{n:n}$ the ordered lifetimes corresponding to X_1, \ldots, X_n (i.e. the lifetimes of k-out-of-n systems). It is well known that the survival function of a coherent system \overline{F}_T satisfies (see, e.g., Samaniego [4])

$$\overline{F}_T(t) = P(T > t) = \sum_{i=1}^n s_i \overline{F}_{i:n}(t),$$
(3)

where $\overline{F}_{i:n}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} {n \choose j} [F(t)]^j [\overline{F}(t)]^{n-j}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$, are the survival functions of $X_{i:n}$ ordered component lifetimes. The vector of coefficients $\mathbf{s} = (s_1, \ldots, s_n)$ in (3) is called *system signature* in the literature. Notice that s_1, \ldots, s_n are nonnegative real numbers which do not depend on the common CDF F and such that $\sum_{i=1}^{n} s_i = 1$. One can see that the survival function of a coherent system is a mixture of the survival functions of the *i*-out-of-*n* systems with weights s_i . In the following theorem, we have obtained an upper bound for the reliability of coherent systems in terms of the system signature and the parent distribution function of a component lifetime.

Theorem 2.2. Let T be the lifetime of a coherent system with known signature s consisting of n *i.i.d.* component lifetimes X_1, \ldots, X_n having common CDF F(x) and PDF f(x). Then,

$$\overline{F}_{T}(t) \leq \begin{cases} \frac{(n+1)\left(\sigma^{2}(\mathbf{s}) + \mathbb{E}(\mathbf{s})\right) - (\mathbb{E}(\mathbf{s}))^{2}}{(n+1)(\sigma^{2}(\mathbf{s}) + \mathbb{E}(\mathbf{s})) - (\mathbb{E}(\mathbf{s}))^{2} + (n+2)[(n+1)F(t) - \mathbb{E}(s)]^{2}}, & t > F^{-1}\left(\frac{\mathbb{E}(s)}{n+1}\right) \\ 1, & t \leq F^{-1}\left(\frac{\mathbb{E}(s)}{n+1}\right) \end{cases}$$
(4)

where $\mathbb{E}(s)$ and $\sigma^2(s)$ denote the mean and variance of the system signature, respectively, and $F^{-1}(u) = \inf\{x; F(x) \ge u\}, \ 0 < u < 1$ is the quantile function of cdf F(x).

Proof. By setting $\psi(t) = F(t)$ so that $\phi(t) = f(t)$ and then using Theorem 2.1, we get

$$\overline{F}_{T}(t) \leq \begin{cases} \frac{\sigma^{2}(V)}{\sigma^{2}(V) + (F(t) - \mathbb{E}(V))^{2}}, & t > F^{-1}\left(\frac{\mathbb{E}(\mathbf{s})}{n+1}\right) \\ 1, & t \leq F^{-1}\left(\frac{\mathbb{E}(\mathbf{s})}{n+1}\right) \end{cases}$$
(5)

It is now easy to see that

$$(n+1)^2(n+2)\sigma^2(V) = (n+1)(\sigma^2(\mathbf{s}) + \mathbb{E}(\mathbf{s})) - (\mathbb{E}(\mathbf{s}))^2,$$

using which the required result follows.

It can be seen that the upper bound in Theorem 2.2 depends on the mean and variance of the number of components that have failed at the time of system failure and the component lifetime distribution. It is clear that the given bounds are easy to compute for any coherent system. The following example provides an illustration.



Figure 1: The bridge system with signature $\mathbf{s} = (0, 0.2, 0.6, 0.2, 0)$.

Example 2.3. Let us consider the bridge system shown in Figure 1. It is known that the signature of this system is $\mathbf{s} = (0, 0.2, 0.6, 0.2, 0)$. Let us assume that lifetimes of the component coming from the Weibull model with the CDF

$$F(t) = 1 - e^{-t^{\alpha}}, \quad t > 0, \ \alpha > 0.$$

In this case, we have $F^{-1}(0.5) = \sqrt[\alpha]{0.69314}$, and so the upper bound from Theorem 2.2 is

$$\overline{F}_T(t) \le \begin{cases} \frac{11.40}{32.40 - 42e^{-t^{\alpha}}}, & t > \sqrt[\alpha]{0.69314} \\ 1, & t \le \sqrt[\alpha]{0.69314} \end{cases}$$
(6)

Moreover, the general upper bound from (2) is

$$\overline{F}_T(t) \le \begin{cases} \frac{\sigma^2(T)}{\sigma^2(T) + (t - \mathbb{E}(T))^2}, & t > \mathbb{E}(T) \\ 1, & t \le \mathbb{E}(T) \end{cases}$$
(7)

Values of these two bounds, for various α , are plotted in Fig. 2. We observe that for all values of α , the upper bound given in (6) is suitable for the initial values however, when the time increases, the upper bound (7) is better.



Figure 2: The upper bound given in (7) bound (dashed line) and the new upper bound (dotted line) as well as the exact reliability function of a bridge system (solid line) for the case of Weibull distribution with the shape parameter α .

An immediate consequence of Theorem 2.2 is as follows.

Theorem 2.4. If $X_{k:n}$ denotes the lifetime of a k-out-of-n system consisting of n I.I.D. component lifetimes X_1, \ldots, X_n having common CDF F(x) and PDF f(x), then we have

$$\overline{F}_{k:n}(t) \leq \begin{cases} \frac{(n+1)k-k^2}{(n+1)k-k^2-(n+2)[(n+1)F(t)-k]^2}, & t > F^{-1}\left(\frac{k}{n+1}\right) \\ 1, & t \le F^{-1}\left(\frac{k}{n+1}\right) \end{cases}$$
(8)

3 Conclusion

Reliability analysis is a crucial aspect of engineering design, where the ability of a system or component to perform its intended function over time is a critical factor in ensuring safety and efficiency. In this paper, we propose a novel method for obtaining upper bounds for the reliability of a random lifetime, which offers significant advantages over existing approaches. Our method produces algebraic inequalities that are more practical and easier to estimate from data than those based on upper tail moments. The given bound provides a powerful tool for assessing the reliability of complex systems with diverse components and failure modes.

References

- Haines, A. L. and Singpurwalla, N. D. (1973) Some contributions to the stochastic characterization of wear. *Conference on Reliability and Biometry* 137, pp. 47–80.
- [2] Marshall, A.W. (2005) Classes of distributions applicable in replacement with renewal theory implications. University of California Press.
- [3] Barlow, R. E. and Proschan, F. (1975) Statistical theory of reliability and life testing: probability models. Florida State Univ Tallahassee.
- [4] Samaniego, F. J. (2007) System signatures and their applications in engineering reliability. volume 110. Springer Science and Business Media.



9th Seminar on Reliability Theory and its Applications



24-25 May 2023

Quantile based dynamic cumulative extropy

Yousefzadeh, F.¹ and Pakgohar, A.²

 1 Department of Statistics, University of Birjand, Birjand, Iran 2 Department of Statistics, Payame Noor University (PNU), Tehran, Iran

Abstract

In this paper, we propose the quantile based dynamic cumulative extropy in residual lifetime. Various characterizations are obtained based on the lifetime distributions and quantile-based reliability measures function. We introduce a new stochastic order based on the quantiles that is built on this measure. Also, some properties of the quantile based dynamic cumulative extropy is studied.

Keywords: Characterization, Quantile Function, Residual Extropy, Stochastic Orders, Survival Extropy.

1 Introduction

The extropy measure studied here to give a quantified measure of uncertainty involved in a random variable has become a widely used measure. Various areas such as actuarial sciences, survival analysis and reliability analysis have been profiting this measure through many applications. Extropy of a non-negative random variable X which is absolutely continuous and has the probability density function (pdf) $f_X(x)$ is defined by [6] as a complement dual of Shannon entropy. This is a measure of uncertainty related to the outside ([1]) and is defined as

$$J(X) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty f_X^2(x) dx = -\frac{1}{2} E(f_X(X)),$$
(1)

 $^{^{1}}$ fyousefzadeh@birjand.ac.ir

²a-pakgohar@pnu.ac.ir

where E denotes the expected value operator.

Since we can not use J(X) in the context of a random variable which has already survived for a period of time, [12] suggested the measure of residual extropy, which is defined as

$$J(X;t) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{t}^{\infty} \frac{f_X^2(x)}{\bar{F}_X^2(t)} dx,$$
(2)

in which, $f_X(x)$ and $\overline{F}_X(x)$ respectively are pdf and survival functions of the random variable X. Many interesting properties of extropy have been found by scholars. For instance, [11], [3], [14], [16] studies and etc.

In this direction, [2] and [16] explored an expression of the cumulative extropy as

$$J_s(X) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \bar{F}_X^2(x) dx.$$
 (3)

A probability distribution function can be specified in two ways; as a distribution function or as a quantile function. The quantile function of random variable X would be defined as

$$Q_X(p) = F_X^{-1}(p) = \inf\{x : F_X(x) \ge p\}, \ 0 \le p \le 1.$$
(4)

Equivalently, $F_X(Q_X(p)) = p$, that implies $f_X(Q_X(p))q_X(p) = 1$, where $f_X(Q_X(p))$ and $q_X(p) = \frac{d}{dp}Q_X(p)$ respectively denote the density quantile function and quantile density function (qdf) ([10]).

The hazard rate $h_X(x)$ or its equivalent the hazard quantile function (hqf) are the primary concepts to present the physical properties of failure patterns (see [7]) defined as

$$H_X(p) = h_X(Q_X(p)) = \frac{f_X(Q_X(p))}{\bar{F}_X(Q_X(p))} = \frac{1}{(1-p)q_X(p)}.$$
(5)

The hqf can be interpreted as the explanation of the conditional probability of a case of failure within the next small time interval if we have the survival until 100(1-u)% point of distribution. We also can determine the quantile function by the hqf as

$$Q_X(p) = \int_0^p \frac{du}{(1-u)H_X(u)}, \quad p \in (0,1).$$
(6)

Corresponding to [7] we would have mean residual quantile function (mrqf) as

$$M_X(p) = \frac{1}{1-p} \int_p^1 \left(Q_X(u) - Q_X(p) \right) du$$
(7)

$$= \frac{1}{1-p} \int_{p}^{1} \frac{du}{H_X(u)}, \quad \forall p \in (0,1).$$
(8)

Similar to [5] the mrqf also uniquely determines the quantile function by

$$Q_X(p) = \int_0^p \frac{M_X(u)}{1-u} du - M_X(p) - M_X(0), \quad p \in (0,1).$$
(9)

Equivalently

$$q_X(p) = \frac{M_X(p)}{(1-p)} - M'_X(p), \tag{10}$$

where $M'_X(p) = \frac{d}{dp}M_X(p)$.

The rest of this article is structured as follows. Section 2, we provide some properties and characterizations of the quantile-based dynamic cumulative extropy in residual lifetime (QDCEXR). Section 3, includes discussion and our conclusions.

2 Main results

The length of study time has been considered as a main variable of interest in many fields of statistical studies such as reliability, survival analysis, economic, business etc. For example see the recently study by [9]. The information measures in such cases are time-dependent, thus they are dynamic.

The concept of extropy in statistical applications is usually applied to score the forecasting distributions based on the total log scoring method. For example, under the total log scoring rule, the negative sum of the entropy and extropy equals the expected score of a forecasting distribution [2, 4]. Inspired by the dynamic cumulative entropy and considering a parallel (series) system with independent and identical components with lifetimes $X_1, ..., X_n$ with common cdf has been studied by various researchers. For example we can refer to [2, 8, 16].

In this section, we propose the dynamic cumulative extropy residual lifetime.

The dynamic cumulative version of J(X) for residual lifetime t is given by

$$J_s(X,t) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_t^\infty \frac{\bar{F}^2(x)}{\bar{F}^2(t)} dx, \quad x \ge 0.$$
(11)

Then the quantile-based dynamic cumulative residual extropy becomes

$$J_s(X,p) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_p^1 \frac{(1-u)^2}{(1-p)^2} q_X(u) du, \quad 0
(12)$$

Differentiating both sides of (12) with respect to p, we get

$$q_X(p) = -\frac{4J_s(X,p)}{1-p} + 2J'_s(X,p),$$
(13)

where $J'_s(X,p) = \frac{d}{dp} J_s(X,p)$. Then $J_s(X,p)$ uniquely determines the distribution function. In term of hqf $J_s(X,p)$ reduces to

$$J_s(X,p) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_p^1 \frac{(1-u)}{(1-p)^2} \frac{1}{H_X(u)} du,$$
(14)

Also, $J_s(X, p)$ can be expressed in term of the mrqf

$$J_s(X,p) = -\frac{1}{2}M_X(p) + \frac{1}{2(1-p)^2} \int_p^1 (1-u)M_X(u)du,$$
(15)

Theorem 2.1. The following relations are established

a)
$$J_s(X,p) = \frac{-k}{2(1-p)^2} \bar{B}(p,\gamma+1,3-(A+\gamma)),$$

b) $J_s(X,p) = \frac{-k}{2(1-p)^2} \bar{\Gamma}(p,\gamma+1,3-A).$

if and only if

a)
$$q_X(u) = ku^{\gamma}(1-u)^{-(A+\gamma)}, \quad k > 0,$$

b) $q_X(u) = k(1-u)^{-A} (-\ln(1-u))^{-\gamma}.$ (16)

where A and γ are real constants.

Proof. a) We have

$$J_s(X,p) = \frac{-k}{2(1-p)^2} \int_p^1 u^{\gamma} (1-u)^{2-(A+\gamma)} du = \frac{-k}{2(1-p)^2} \bar{B}(p,\gamma+1,3-(A+\gamma)).$$

b) We have

$$J_s(X,p) = \frac{-k}{2(1-p)^2} \int_{-\ln(1-p)}^{\infty} e^{-(3-A)z} z^{\gamma} dz$$

= $\frac{-k}{2(1-p)^2} \bar{\Gamma} \Big(-\ln(1-p), \gamma+1, 3-A \Big).$

Figure 1 gives the graphs of $J_s(X,p)$ for k = 2, A = 0, 1 and $\gamma = -2, -1, 0, 1, (1.5, 2)$ respectively. Note that $J_s(X,p)$ is non-decreasing for $\gamma < 0$, constant for $\gamma = 0$, non-increasing for $\gamma > 0$. Similarly, Figure 2 shows the graphs of $J_s(X,p)$ for k = 2, A = 0, 1 and $\gamma = -2, -1, 0, 1, 2$. It is



Figure 1: Graphs of $J_s(X,p)$ for A = 0, $\gamma = -2, -1, 0, 1, 2$ (Left panel), and A = 1, $\gamma = -2, -1, 0, 1, 1.5$ (Right panel), in Theorem 2.1 (a).

shown that $J_s(X,p)$ is non-decreasing , constant for $\gamma = 0$ and non-increasing for $\gamma < 0$, $\gamma = 0$ and $\gamma > 0$ respectively.

Remark 2.2. There are some important distribution functions within the family of distributions such as exponential ($\gamma = 0, A = \frac{a}{a+1} + 1$), Power($\gamma = \frac{1}{\beta} - 1, A = 0$), Govindarajulu ($\beta - 1, A = -1$). Similarly (16) contains several well known distributions which include Weibull distribution ($A = 1, \gamma = \frac{1}{a} - 1$), Pareto ($A > 1, \gamma = 0$) and rescaled Beta ($A < 1, \gamma = 0$).



Figure 2: Graphs of $J_s(X, p)$ for A = 0 (Left panel), and A = 1 (Right panel) and $\gamma = -2, -1, 0, 1, 2$ in Theorem 2.1 (b).

Table 1 represents the quantile function and cumulative residual extropy for some distributions.

Distribution	Q(p)	$J_s(X,p)$
Exponential	$-rac{\log(1-p)}{\lambda}$	$-\frac{1}{4\lambda}$
Pareto II	$\gamma\big((1-p)^{\frac{-1}{c}}-1\big)$	$-rac{\gamma}{2(2c-1)}(1-p)^{-rac{1}{c}}$
Rescaled Beta	$R\big(1-(1-p)^{\frac{1}{c}}\big)$	$rac{-R}{2(1+2c)}(1-p)^{rac{1}{c}}$
Generalized Pareto	$\frac{b}{a}[(1-p)^{\frac{-a}{a+1}}-1]$	$-\frac{b}{2(a+2)}(1-p)^{-\frac{a}{a+1}}$
Power	$\gamma p^{\frac{1}{\beta}}$	$\frac{-\gamma}{2(1-p)^2} \Big[\frac{2\beta^2}{(1+\beta)(2\beta+1)} - p^{\frac{1}{\beta}} \Big(1 + \frac{p^2}{2\beta+1} - \frac{2p}{1+\beta} \Big) \Big]$
Uniform	a + (b - a)p	$-rac{(b-a)(1-p)}{6}$
Davis	$\frac{cp^{\lambda_1}}{(1-p)^{\lambda_2}}$	$\frac{-c}{2(1-p)^2} \left[\lambda_1 \bar{B}(p,\lambda_1,3-\lambda_2) + \lambda_2 \bar{B}(p,1+\lambda_1,2-\lambda_2) \right]$
Skew Lambda	$\gamma p^{\lambda} - (1-p)^{\lambda}$	$\frac{-\lambda}{2(1-p)^2} \left[\gamma \bar{B}(p,\lambda,3) + \bar{B}(p,1,2+\lambda) \right]$
Weibull	$(rac{-\ln(1-p)}{\lambda})^c$	$\frac{-2c}{\lambda(1-p)^2}ar{\Gamma}(p,1+c,2)$
Govindarajulu	$\gamma ((\beta + 1)p^{\beta} - \beta p^{\beta+1})$	$-\frac{\gamma\beta(\beta+1)}{2(1-p)^2} \left[\bar{B}(p,\beta,3) - \bar{B}(p,\beta+1,3) \right]$

Table 1. Quantile function and cumulative residual extropy for some distributions

Identifying different classes of probability models in terms of monotonous behaviors of the uncertainty measures would by usually useful. Hence, we define the following non-parametric classes

based on $J_s(X, p)$.

Definition 2.3. X is said to have increasing(decreasing) quantile dynamic cumulative extropy in residual lifetime which are abbreviated as IQDCEXR (DQDCEXR) if $J_s(X, p)$ is increasing (decreasing) in p.

Now, we can find from the relation (13) that if X is IQDCEXR (DQDCEXR), then $J_s(X,p) \geq 0$ $(\leq) \frac{-q_X(p)(1-p)}{4}$. It follows that if X is IQDCEXR (DQDCEXR), then $J_s(X,p) \geq (\leq) - \frac{1}{4H_X(p)}$. Note that for the exponential distribution, $J_s(X,p) = -\frac{1}{4H_X(p)}$. Thus exponential distribution is the boundary of IQDCEXR and DQDCEXR classes.

Theorem 2.4. Let X be IQDCEXR (DQDCEXR), then $J_s(X,p) \ge (\le) - \frac{1}{4H_X(p)}$, which provide upper (lower) bounds for $J_s(X, p)$ with respect to IQDCEXR (DQDCEXR).

Proof. Differentiating $J_s(X, p)$ in (14) with respect to p we can obtain

$$J'_{s}(X,p) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{(1-p)H_{X}(p)} + \frac{2J_{s}(X,p)}{1-p}.$$

Since X is IQDCEXR (DQDCEXR) we would have $J_s(X,p) \ge (\le) - \frac{1}{4H_X(p)}$.

Theorem 2.5. $J_s(X,p) = c$ is a constant if and only if X be a random variable with exponential distribution.

Proof. Assume that $J_s(X,p) = c$. Using (13) we obtain $Q_X(p) = 4c \ln(1-p) = -\frac{\ln(1-p)}{\lambda}$, where

 $\lambda = \frac{-1}{4c}$. On the opposite side, suppose that X follows exponential distribution with quantile function $Q_X(p) = -\frac{\ln(1-p)}{\lambda}$. Now from (12) we have $J_s(X,p) = \frac{-1}{4\lambda} = c$ is a constant.

Theorem 2.6. If X is continuous random variable with $F_X(x)$ and $f_X(x)$ as the cdf and pdf respectively and with IQDCEXR property, also $\phi(.)$ is a non-negative increasing and convex function, then $\phi(X)$ is IQDCEXR.

Proof. Let $Y = \phi(X)$ with cdf and pdf $G_Y(y)$ and $g_Y(y)$ respectively. Then

$$g_Y(y) = \frac{f_X(\phi^{-1}(y))}{\phi'(\phi^{-1}(y))} = \frac{1}{\phi'(Q_X(u))q_X(u)}$$

Furthermore.

$$J_{s}(Y,p) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{p}^{1} \frac{(1-u)^{2}}{(1-p)^{2}} q_{Y}(u) du$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{p}^{1} \frac{(1-u)^{2}}{(1-p)^{2}} (\phi'(Q_{X}(u)) \pm 1) q_{X}(u) du$$

$$= J_{s}(X,p) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{p}^{1} \frac{(1-u)^{2}}{(1-p)^{2}} (1-\phi'(Q_{X}(u))) q_{X}(u) du$$

Since ϕ is a convex, $\phi'(Q_X(p)) < \phi'(Q_X(u)), \quad 0 < p < u < 1$, that yields

$$J_{s}(Y,p) < J_{s}(X,p) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left(1 - \phi'(Q_{X}(p))\right)}{(1-p)^{2}} \int_{p}^{1} (1-u)^{2} q_{X}(u) du$$

= $J_{s}(X,p) - J_{s}(X,p) \left(1 - \phi'(Q_{X}(p))\right)$
= $J_{s}(X,p) \phi'(Q_{X}(p)),$

which complete the proof.

Example 2.7. Let X has rescaled beta distribution with $Q_X(u) = R(1 - (1 - u)^{\frac{1}{c}})$ when $Y = X^{\beta}$, $\beta > 0$, with quantile function $Q_Y(u) = R^{\beta}(1 - (1 - u)^{\frac{1}{c}})^{\beta}$. therefore, using the above if X is IQDCEXR then Y is also IQDCEXR.

Theorem 2.8. Let X be a non-negative absolutely continuous random variable with $J_s(X,p) = c.M_X(p)$. Then

$$Q_X(p) = k \frac{c}{2c+0.5} \left(1 - (1-p)^{\frac{-c}{2c+0.5}} \right)$$

Proof. From (15) we would have

$$M'_X(p) = M_X(p) \frac{2c + 0.5}{(1-p)(c+.5)}$$

which on simplification resolve to $M_X(p) = k(1-p)^{-\frac{2c+0.5}{c+.5}}$ and substituting it in (9), we obtain the result.

Based on Theorem 2.8, we show that the power function distribution can be characterized using $J_s(X, p)$.

Remark 2.9. Let X be a non-negative continuous random variable with the quantile function Q(.)and mean residual quantile function M(.). Then

$$J_s(X, p) = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\beta + 1}{2\beta + 1} M_X(p),$$

if and only if X has power function distribution.

Theorem 2.10. Let X be a non-negative continuous random variable such that $J_s(X,p) = -\frac{c(p)}{2}M_X(p)$ then

$$M_X(p) = \frac{e^{\int_0^p \frac{du}{(1-u)\left(c(u)-1\right)}}}{(1-p)^2\left(c(p)-1\right)}.$$
(17)

Proof. Assuming the condition $J_s(X,p) = -\frac{c(p)}{2}M_X(p)$ and taking the definition (12) yields

$$\int_{p}^{1} \frac{(1-u)^{2}}{(1-p)^{2}} q(u) du = c(p) M_{X}(p).$$
(18)

Differentiating with respect to p we obtain

$$(1-p)^{2}q(p) = 2(1-p)c(p)M_{X}(p) - c'(p)M_{X}(p)(1-p)^{2} - (1-p)^{2}c(p)M_{X}'(p).$$
(19)

So from (6) we can write

$$M_X(p)\big(2c(p) - 1 - (1-p)c'(p)\big) = M'_X(p)(1-p)\big(c(p) - 1\big).$$
⁽²⁰⁾

On solving the first order differential equation in $M_X(p)$ we get (17).

Generally, various stochastic orders could be implemented for comparison of two random variables. We now consider the hazard quantile function order to compare two random variables based on $J_s(X,p)$.

Definition 2.11. X is said to be smaller than Y in QDCEXR ($X \stackrel{QDCEXR}{\leq} Y$) if $J_s(X, p) \leq J_s(Y, p), \forall p \in (0, 1).$

Theorem 2.12. Let $X \stackrel{HQ}{\leq} Y$, then $X \stackrel{QDCEXR}{\geq} Y$.

Proof. Assuming $X \stackrel{HQ}{\leq} Y$ implies $(1-p)q_X(p) \leq (1-p)q_Y(p)$. So, in glimpse, from (12) it yields $J_s(X,p) \geq J_s(Y,p)$.

Theorem 2.13. Let X and Y be two random variables such that $X \stackrel{QDCEXR}{\leq} Y$. Then for a non-negative convex function $\phi(.), \phi(X) \stackrel{QDCEXR}{\geq} \phi(Y)$.

Proof. It is enough to show that

$$\int_{p}^{1} \frac{(1-u)^{2} \phi'(Q_{X}(u)) q_{X}(u)}{(1-p)^{2}} du \leq \int_{p}^{1} \frac{(1-u)^{2} \phi'(Q_{Y}(u)) q_{Y}(u)}{(1-p)^{2}} du$$

Since $X \stackrel{QDCEXR}{\leq} Y$ we have $J_s(X, p) \leq J_s(Y, p)$, which is equivalent to

$$\int_{p}^{1} (1-u)^{2} q_{X}(u) du \ge \int_{p}^{1} (1-u)^{2} q_{Y}(u) du$$

Thus the function is increasing in $p, q_X(p) \leq q_Y(p)$. Since ϕ is convex function: $\phi'(Q_X(u)) \leq \phi'(Q_Y(u))$. Hence we would have $\phi(X) \stackrel{QDCEXR}{\geq} \phi(Y)$.

We express some of the relationships in the following theorems. Note that $\stackrel{Disp}{\leq} \stackrel{HR}{\leq} \stackrel{St}{\leq}$ and $\stackrel{St}{\leq}$ denote the dispersive, the hazard rate and the usual stochastic orders respectively. For compare comprehensive discussion on various consents of stochastic ordering based on reliability measures, see [13].

Theorem 2.14. If $X \stackrel{MQ}{\leq} Y$ then $X \stackrel{QDCEXR}{\geq} Y$.

Proof. It is obvious that, $X \stackrel{MQ}{\leq} Y$, thus $X \stackrel{HQ}{\leq} Y$, So Theorem 2.12 completes the proof. \Box

Lemma 2.15. For two continuous non-negative random variable X and Y,

- $X \stackrel{Disp}{\leq} Y \Leftrightarrow X \stackrel{HQ}{\leq} Y$
- If X or Y is decreasing (increasing) hazard rate, then $X \stackrel{HR}{\leq} Y \Rightarrow (\Leftarrow) X \stackrel{HQ}{\leq} Y$

• If X and Y have the same lower end of support and if $\frac{Q_Y(p)}{Q_X(p)}$ is increasing in $p \in (0,1)$ then $X \stackrel{St}{\leq} Y \Rightarrow X \stackrel{HQ}{\leq} Y$

Theorem 2.16. Let X and Y be two non-negative random variables having continuous quantile density function $q_X(p)$ and $q_Y(p)$ and quantile functions $Q_X(p)$ and $Q_Y(p)$ respectively. then

- If $X \stackrel{Disp}{\leq} Y$, then $X \stackrel{QDCEXR}{\geq} Y$.
- If X or Y is DHR, then if $X \stackrel{HR}{\leq} Y$, then $X \stackrel{QDCEXR}{\geq} Y$.
- If X and Y have the same lower end of the support and if $\frac{Q_Y(p)}{Q_X(p)}$ is increasing in $p \in (0,1)$, then if $X \stackrel{St}{\leq} Y$, yields $X \stackrel{QDCEXR}{\geq} Y$.

Proof. Using Lemma 2.15 and Theorem 2.12 the proof is complete.

3 Conclusion

This study has introduced quantile-based in cumulative residual extropy. It is shown that the quantile-based cumulative extropy in residual lifetime determine the distribution through an explicit expression in a unique way. We also investigated some characteristics and properties of these quantile-based measures in the context of the important the quantile-based survival functions such as hazard and mean residual functions. Also some characterizes on stochastic orders included the quantile form of usual, hazard rate and dispersion rate orders, besides, proposed some quantile-based orders on residual quantile cumulative extropy have studied.

References

- Buono, F., and Longobardi, M. (2020). A dual measure of uncertainty: The deng extropy. *Entropy*, 22(5), 582.
- [2] Jahanshahi, S. M. A., Zarei, H., and Khammar, A. H. (2020). On cumulative residual extropy. Probability in the Engineering and Informational Sciences, 34(4), 605-625.
- [3] Jose, J., and Sathar, E. A. (2019). Residual extropy of k-record values. Statistics and Probability Letters, 146, 1-6.
- [4] Kayal, S. (2021). Failure extropy, dynamic failure extropy and their weighted versions. Stochastics and Quality Control, 36(1), 59-71.
- [5] Khammar, A. H., and Jahanshahi, S. M. A. (2018). Quantile based Tsallis entropy in residual lifetime. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its applications*, **492**, 994-1006.
- [6] Lad, F., Sanfilippo, G. and Agro, G. (2015). Extropy: Complementary dual of entropy, Stat. Sci. 30, 40-58.
- [7] Nair, N. U., and Sankaran, P. G. (2009). Quantile-based reliability analysis. Communications in Statistics and Theory and Methods, 38(2), 222-232.
- [8] Nair, R. D., and Sathar, E. A. (2020). On dynamic failure extropy. Journal of the Indian Society for Probability and Statistics, 21(2), 287-313.

- [9] Nair, R. D., and Sathar, E. A. (2022). A Study on Some Properties of Dynamic Survival Extropy and Its Relation to Economic Measures. *Stochastics and Quality Control.*
- [10] Parzen, E. (1979). Nonparametric statistical modelling (with comments). Jornal of American Statist. Assoc, 74, 105-131.
- [11] Qiu, G. (2017). The extropy of order statistics and record values. Statistics and Probability Letters, 120, 52-60.
- [12] Qiu, G., and Jia, K. (2018). The residual extropy of order statistics. Statistics and Probability Letters, 133, 15-22.
- [13] Shaked, M., and Shanthikumar, J. G. (Eds.). (2007). Stochastic orders. New York, NY: Springer New York.
- [14] Sathar, E. A., and Jose, J. (2020). Extropy based on records for random variables representing residual life. *Communications in Statistics-Simulation and Computation*, 1-15.
- [15] Sathar, E. A., and Jose, J. (2020). Past Extropy of K-Records. Stochastics and Quality Control, 35(1), 25-38.
- [16] Sathar, E. A., and Nair R, D. (2021). On dynamic survival extropy. Communications in Statistics-Theory and Methods, 50(6), 1295-1313.



An optimal selection problem in a k-out-of-n system with dependent components

Zare, Z.¹ Zarezadeh, S.² and Kharati-Kopaei, M.²

^{1,2,3} Department of Statistics, School of Science, Shiraz University, Shiraz, Iran

Abstract

One of the methods to improve the reliability of a system is redundancy allocation. In this paper, we aim to examine the redundancy allocation in a k-out-of-n system with dependent and heterogeneous components. Some examples are provided to illustrate the optimal allocation based on criteria of the usual stochastic order and the mean residual lifetime of the system.

Keywords: Reliability, Active redundancy, Copula function.

1 Introduction

The redundancy problem is one of the most important issues in reliability engineering to increase the reliability of systems. There are two types of redundancy: active, and cold-standby redundancy. In the active mode, the redundant component works with other components of the system while in the cold standby, the spare starts working as soon as the corresponding component fails. It is important to indicate the spares are allocated to which components of the system such that system

¹zohrezare44@yahoo.com

 $^{^2}$ s.zarezadeh@shirazu.ac.ir

²kharati@susc.ac.ir

reliability is maximized. Many researchers have studied the redundancy allocation problem (RAP) for systems with independent components; see e.g., [3, 10, 11, 8]. Boland et al. [3] showed that based on stochastic ordering for a k-out-of-n system having independent components, a redundant component should be allocated to the weakest component. Ding and Li [5] explored the allocation problem of active redundancies to a k-out-of-n system with i.i.d. components based on the hazard rate order. In [1], the RAP in a k-out-of-n system was considered under the assumption that both types of active and standby redundant components are used in the system. Zhang [13] explored, by using stochastic orders, the optimal allocation of active redundancies to a weighted k-out-of-n system with independent components.

In the aforementioned works, the lifetimes of system components are assumed to be independent. There are a few studies on the RAP of systems with dependent components. In [6], the redundancy allocation was studied for the series systems with dependent component lifetimes and one active (or, cold standby) redundant component. This work was extended to the case where two spares are applied; see, [7]. For more studies, one can refer to [12, 4, 2]. In this paper, we investigate the problem of allocation of one active redundant component for a k-out-of-n system having dependent components. The problem is also examined for two redundant components. The proofs of theorems are omitted because of restrictions in page numbers.

2 Main results

Consider a k-out-of-n system with dependent components. It is assumed that there is one spare component for the system. The lifetimes of components and spare can be dependent and follow arbitrary distribution functions (DFs). Let X_1, \ldots, X_n denote the lifetimes of components with DFs F_1, \ldots, F_n . Then, the total of active components at time t is $\mathcal{B}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^n I(X_i > t)$, and the lifetime of the system is defined as

$$T := \inf\{t : \mathcal{B}(t) < k\}.$$

Then, the reliability function of the system is obtained by

$$P(T > t) = P(\mathcal{B}(t) \ge k).$$

Under these conditions, we want to explore that the active spare component must be allocated to what component to optimize reliability. Before that, we present the definition of usual stochastic order [9].

Definition 2.1. For two non-negative random variables (r.v.s) X and Y with survival functions \bar{F}_X and \bar{F}_Y , X is said to be smaller than Y in the usual stochastic order, denoted by $X \leq_{st} Y$, if $\bar{F}_X(t) \leq \bar{F}_Y(t)$ for all $t \geq 0$.

Let Y denote the lifetime of active redundant component with DF G. Suppose that T_i , and T_j denote the system lifetimes if the redundant component is allocated to the component i and j, respectively. The considered criterion is that if $T_i \geq_{st} T_j$, then the component i is preferred to the component j for the redundant component allocation.

Theorem 2.2. Suppose that Y, X_1, \ldots, X_n are dependent r.v.s. Then, $T_i \geq_{st} T_j$ if and only if for all $t \geq 0$

$$\alpha_i(t) \le \alpha_j(t),\tag{1}$$

where

in

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_i(t) &= P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k - 2, X_i > t, Y > t) - P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k - 1, X_i > t, Y > t), \\ \alpha_j(t) &= P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k - 2, X_j > t, Y > t) - P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k - 1, X_j > t, Y > t), \end{aligned}$$
which $\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) &= \sum_{\substack{\ell=1\\ \ell \notin \{i,j\}}}^n I(X_\ell > t).$

In the following, we present an example for applying Theorem 2.2. First, it is reminded that $\tilde{H}: [0,1]^d \to [0,1]$ is a *d*-dimensional copula if it is a joint DF of a *d*-dimensional random vector with uniform marginal distributions. If *H* denotes the joint DF of r.v.s X_1, \ldots, X_d with marginal DFs F_1, \ldots, F_d , respectively, based on the copula function \tilde{H} , we can write

$$H(x_1,\ldots,x_d)=H(F_1(x_1),\ldots,F_d(x_d)).$$

Example 2.3. Consider a 2-out-of-3 system. Assume that the joint DF of (X_1, X_2, X_3, Y) is given, based on the Clayton copula function, as follows

$$H(x_1, x_2, x_3, y) = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} F_i^{-\theta}(x_i) + G^{-\theta}(y) - 3\right)^{-1/\theta},$$

where $y \ge 0, x_i \ge 0, i = 1, ..., 3$ and $\theta = 0.5$. Suppose that

$$F_1(t) = 1 - \exp(-t), \quad F_2(t) = 1 - (1+t)^{-1/3}, \quad F_3(t) = 1 - (1+t)^{-1},$$

 $G(t) = 1 - \exp(-t^{0.5}).$

The marginal DFs of X_1, X_2, X_3 and Y are plotted in Figure 1. It shows that $X_1 \leq_{st} X_3 \leq_{st} X_2$ and Figure 2 shows that when the spare is allocated to the weakest component, the system reliability is in the optimal situation.



Figure 1: The plot of marginal DFs of main and redundant components.



Figure 2: The plot of reliability functions of T_i , i = 1, 2, 3.

It is remarkable that in relation (1) the dependency between X_i and X_j has no role. The following proposition achieves a simplification of the condition in Theorem 2.2 for the case when the spare lifetime is independent of components lifetime.

Proposition 2.4. Suppose that the lifetime of spare Y is independent of the lifetimes of main components of system. Then $T_i \geq_{st} T_j$ if and only if for all $t \geq 0$,

$$\alpha_i^*(t) \le \alpha_j^*(t),\tag{2}$$

where

$$\alpha_i^*(t) = P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k - 2, X_i > t) - P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k - 1, X_i > t),$$

$$\alpha_j^*(t) = P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k - 2, X_j > t) - P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k - 1, X_j > t).$$

The mean residual lifetime (MRL) is a well-known function in the reliability context. The MRL function quantifies the expected remaining life of system when we know it has survived to a certain time point x. Then, for a lifetime variable X with finite expectation, the MRL at time x is defined as $m_X(x) := E(X - x|X > x)$. It is obvious that $m_X(0)$ is equal to the mean of X. For two non-negative r.v.s X, and Y, X is said to be less than Y in MRL concept (denoted by $X \leq_{mrl} Y$) if and only if $m_X(x) \leq m_Y(x)$ for all $x \geq 0$. It should be noted neither of the orders \leq_{st} and \leq_{mrl} implies the other; counterexamples can be found in the literature [9].

Based on the concept of MRL, it seems that the MRL can be a suitable concept to indicate the optimal selection in RAP. Thus, we derived an algorithm for the problem gotten the amounts of MRL of a k-out-of-n system under the described conditions of this paper. This algorithm is not given in the paper because of restrictions in the page number. In the following, we explore this problem as an example.

Example 2.5. Consider a 3-out-of-4 system. Let the marginal DFs of X_1, \ldots, X_4 and Y be $F_1(t) = 1 - \exp(-t^{2/3}), F_2(t) = 1 - \exp(-t^{1/2}), F_3(t) = 1 - (1 + t)^{-1}, F_4(t) = 1 - \exp(-t^3)$ and $G(t) = 1 - \exp(-t^{1/5})$, respectively. In Table 1, using simulation, we compute the MRL of T_i , $i = 1, \ldots, 4$ with age x = 0.8487657 when Gumbel and Frank copula functions are considered for

the joint DF of (X_1, \ldots, X_4, Y) . Table 1 shows that if the joint DF of (X_1, \ldots, X_4, Y) is represented by Gumbel copula function with parameter $\alpha = 2.5$, as

$$H(x_1, \dots, x_4, y) = \exp\{-\left[\sum_{i=1}^4 (-\ln F_i(x_i))^{\alpha} + (-\ln G(y))^{\alpha}\right]\}^{1/\alpha}$$

then the MRL of T_4 is equal to 3.41 and is maximal.

Table	1.	The	maximum	value o	of MRLs	of T_i ,	i =	$1,\ldots$,4 in	a i	3-out-of-4	system	at	time
					<i>x</i> =	= 0.848	3765	7.						

	Gumbel copula			Frank copula				
α	Optimal lifetime	MRL	β	Optimal lifetime	MRL			
1.5	T_4	2.80	0.5	T_4	0.97			
2.0	T_4	3.24	1.0	T_4	1.14			
2.5	T_4	3.41	1.5	T_4	1.31			

In what follows, we investigate the problem in the situation where two active redundant components with lifetimes Y_1 and Y_2 (with DFs G_1 and G_2 , respectively) are allocated to a k-out-of-n system with dependent components. The decision is based on the case where the reliability function is more in the sense of stochastic order [9].

Theorem 2.6. Suppose that $Y_1, Y_2, X_1, \ldots, X_n$ are dependent r.v.s. Further, let $T_{i,j}$ $(T_{j,i})$ be the lifetime of system when the redundant component with lifetime Y_1 is allocated to the component i (j) and the other redundant component is allocated to the component j (i). Then $T_{i,j} \geq_{st} T_{j,i}$ if and only if for all $t \geq 0$

$$\beta_i(t) \ge \beta_j(t),\tag{3}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \beta_i(t) &= P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k-2, X_i > t, Y_2 > t) + P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k-1, X_i > t, Y_1 > t) \\ &- P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k-1, X_i > t, Y_2 > t) - P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k-2, X_i > t, Y_1 > t), \\ \beta_j(t) &= P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k-2, X_j > t, Y_2 > t) + P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k-1, X_j > t, Y_1 > t) \\ &- P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k-1, X_j > t, Y_2 > t) - P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k-2, X_j > t, Y_1 > t). \end{aligned}$$

Example 2.7. Consider a 2-out-of-3 system. Suppose that the joint DF of $(X_1, X_2, X_3, Y_1, Y_2)$ is given, based on the Gumbel copula function with parameter $\alpha = 1.2$, as

$$H(x_1, x_2, x_3, y_1, y_2) = \exp\{-\left[\sum_{i=1}^3 (-\ln F_i(x_i))^{\alpha} + \sum_{j=1}^2 (-\ln G_j(y_j))^{\alpha}\right]\}^{1/\alpha}.$$

Further assume that $F_1(t) = \Phi((\ln(t))/2)$, where Φ is the DF of standard normal distribution, $F_2(t) = 1 - \exp(-3t)$, $F_3(t) = 1 - (1+t)^{-1/2}$, $G_1(t) = 1 - (1+t)^{-1/3}$ and $G_2(t) = \Phi((\ln(t))/\sqrt{5})$. Figure 3 represents the plots of marginal DFs of the X_1, X_2, X_3, Y_1 and Y_2 . In Figure 3 it is clear that $X_2 \leq_{st} X_1, X_2 \leq_{st} X_3$ and $Y_2 \leq_{st} Y_1$. The reliability functions of $T_{i,j}$, $i, j = 1, \ldots, 3$, $i \neq j$ are plotted in Figure 4. It is concluded that the system reliability is in the optimal state if the stronger spare is allocated to the weakest component and weaker spare is allocated to the component with lifetime X_1 .

From Theorem 2.6, the following proposition is concluded.



Figure 3: The plot of marginal DFs of main and redundant components.



Figure 4: The plot of reliability functions of $T_{i,j}$, i = 1, 2, 3, j = 1, 2.

Proposition 2.8. Suppose that $Y_1 \ge_{st} Y_2$ and (Y_1, Y_2) are independent of the main components of a k-out-of-n system. Then $T_{i,j} \ge_{st} T_{j,i}$ if and only if, for all $t \ge 0$,

$$\beta_i^*(t) \ge \beta_i^*(t),\tag{4}$$

where

$$\beta_i^*(t) = P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k - 1, X_i > t) - P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k - 2, X_i > t),$$

$$\beta_j^*(t) = P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k - 1, X_j > t) - P(\mathcal{B}^{-(i,j)}(t) \ge k - 2, X_j > t).$$

Using the simulation method, by considering the MRL criterion we present an example that illustrates the optimal allocation of two spares in a k-out-of-n system.

Example 2.9. Suppose that in a 3-out-of-4 system with two spares, the marginal DFs of components are

$$F_1(t) = 1 - \exp(-t), \ F_2(t) = 1 - \exp(-t^{0.5}),$$

$$F_3(t) = 1 - (1+t)^{-1}, \ F_4(t) = 1 - \exp(-t^3),$$

 $G_1(t) = 1 - \exp(-t^{1/5}), \ G_2(t) = 1 - (1+t)^{-1},$

respectively. In Table 2 we calculated the MRL of $T_{i,j}$, i, j = 1, ..., 4, $i \neq j$ at time x = 0.9395076 for different copula functions with different parameters. For example Table 2.9 shows that when the joint DF of $(X_1, ..., X_4, Y_1, Y_2)$ is given by Frank copula function with parameter $\beta = 1.5$, as

$$H(x_1, \dots, x_4, y_1, y_2) = -\frac{1}{\beta} \log(1 + \frac{\prod_{i=1}^4 (\exp(-\beta F_i(x_i)) - 1) \prod_{j=1}^2 (\exp(-\beta G_j(y_j)) - 1)}{\exp(-\beta) - 1}),$$

the MRL of $T_{1,4}$ is maximum with amount of 1.81. This means that if the spares with lifetime Y_1 and Y_2 are allocated to the components with lifetime X_1 and X_4 , respectively, then the MRL of system is maximal.

	Gumbel copula			Frank copula				
α	Optimal lifetime	MRL	β	Optimal lifetime	MRL			
1.5	$T_{1,4}$	7.95	0.5	$T_{1,4}$	1.29			
2.0	$T_{1,4}$	14.08	1.0	$T_{1,4}$	1.52			
2.5	$T_{1,4}$	13.56	1.5	$T_{1,4}$	1.81			

Table 2. The MRLs of $T_{i,j}$, $i, j = 1, \dots, 4$, $i \neq j$ in a 3-out-of-4 system at x = 0.9395076.

References

- Aghaei, M. and Hamadani, A.Z. and Ardakan, M.A. (2017), Redundancy allocation problem for k-out-of-n systems with a choice of redundancy strategies. *Journal of Industrial Engineering International*, 13(1), 81-92.
- [2] Belzunce, F. Martinez-Puertas, H. and Ruiz, J.M.(2013), On allocation of redundant components for systems with dependent components. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 230(3), 573-580.
- [3] Boland, P.J. and El-Neweihi, E. and Proschan, F. (1992), Stochastic order for redundancy allocations in series and parallel systems. Advances in Applied Probability, 24(1), 161-171.
- [4] da Costa Bueno, V.(2005), Minimal standby redundancy allocation in a k-out-of-n: F system of dependent components. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 165(3), 786-793.
- [5] Ding, W. and Li, X.(2012), The optimal allocation of active redundancies to k-out-of-n systems with respect to hazard rate ordering. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference*, 142(7), 1878-1887.
- [6] Jeddi, H. and Doostparast, M.(2016), Optimal redundancy allocation problems in engineering systems with dependent component lifetimes. *Applied Stochastic Models in Business and Industry*, **32**(2), 199-208.
- [7] Jeddi, H. and Doostparast, M.(2020), Allocation of redundancies in systems: a general dependency-base framework. Annals of Operations Research, 1-15.
- [8] Misra, N. and Dhariyal, I.D. and Gupta, N.(2009), Optimal allocation of active spares in series systems and comparison of component and system redundancies. *Journal of Applied Probability*, 46(1), 19-34.

- [9] Shaked, M. and Shanthikumar, J.G. (2007), Stochastic orders, Springer Science & Business Media.
- [10] Singh, H. and Misra, N.(1994), On redundancy allocations in systems. Journal of Applied Probability, 31(4), 1004-1014.
- [11] Singh, H. and Singh, R.S.(1997), Optimal allocation of resources to nodes of series systems with respect to failure-rate ordering. *Naval Research Logistics (NRL)*, **44**(1), 147-152.
- [12] You, Y. and Fang, R. and Li, X.(2016), Allocating active redundancies to k-out-of-n reliability systems with permutation monotone component lifetimes. *Applied Stochastic Models in Business and Industry*, **32**(5), 607-620.
- [13] Zhang, Y.(2018), Optimal allocation of active redundancies in weighted k-out-of-n systems. Statistics & Probability Letters, 135, 110-117.